HELPING THE WORLD GROW
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2013

OUR BUSINESS IS DRIVEN BY
THE WORLD’S INCREASING NEED
FOR FOOD. OUR OBJECTIVE
IS SIMPLE: TO HELP THE
WORLD’S FARMERS IMPROVE
CROP YIELD AND QUALITY.
EuroChem is a top ten fertilizer producer
globally, with a strong track record and a clear
strategy. Our unique vertically-integrated
business model encompasses raw materials,
production, logistics and distribution
assets. It provides us with the ability
to control costs, ensure product
quality and deliver sustainable
value in the long term.

The last twelve months have proved
challenging to our industry. However,
our cost competitiveness and global
presence gave us the flexibility to pursue
our strategic investments and expand our
leadership position across key markets.
We believe this puts us in a strong
position to reach our goal of becoming
a top five global fertilizer producer.
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FOCUSING ON OUR KPIs
TO MEASURE PERFORMANCE
We have established a clear set of financial
and non-financial performance indicators
to evaluate our performance, as well as
to assess our prospects in the longer-term.

OBJECTIVE
To be a top five global player
by production, sales
and profitability.

2013 HIGHLIGHTS
Despite a volatile year, we delivered a strong set of results for 2013. These results reflect our resilience
and the strength of our business model, and among the highlights are:

$5.6bn

+20MMT

+6%

+8%

US$ total revenues

increase in revenues

22,310

employees in Russia and internationally
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amounts of products sold

increase in sales volumes for nitrogen
and phosphate products

1.2bn

RUB expenditure relating to
environmental initiatives

STRATEGIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISKS
Our KPIs are continuously
reviewed in the context of
our corporate objectives,
and the risks that relate
to them.
Find out more about our risks and
uncertainties on pages 55-59

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Sales (RUBm)

Net profit (RUBm)
166,478

176,937

32,031

Environmental protection expenditure (RUBm)
1,302

32,569

1,163

1,068

131,298

12,256

2011

2012

2013

Gross margin (%)

2011

2012

Net debt/EBITDA ratio (x)
2.07

52
41

2011

2012

1.53

36

1.35

2013

2011

EBITDA (RUBm)
49,656

2013

2012

2013

Total capex (RUBbn)

2012

2013

Atmospheric emissions
(kg per year per tonne of production)
1.09

1.04

1.04

2011

2012

2013

Energy consumption (kWh per tonne of production)
32.60

49,168
28.53

42,961

2011

133

129

125

2011

2012

2013

23.81

2011

2012

2013

EBITDA margin (%)

2011

2012

2013

Potash capex (RUBbn)

38

Lost-time injuries (employee)
13.60
12.35

30

42

44
38

10.56
24

2011

2012

2013

2011

2012

2013

21.3

22.5

22.3

2011

2012

2013

Total headcount (’000)
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THE ISSUES THAT MATTER

THE CHALLENGES
AND OPPORTUNITIES
OF FOOD SECURITY
Feeding the world’s growing population and improving
the nutritional quality of diets are long-term challenges,
complicated by the increasing frequency and severity of
weather shocks in key agricultural areas. With a limited
amount of arable land available for farming, the need
to ensure that soils retain their optimal nutrient balance
has never been so crucial, and fertilizers are an important
part of the solution.

200,000

POPULATION GROWTH

ARABLE LAND PER CAPITA

Number of people that join
the global demand for food
each day

Every day around 200,000 people are added
to the global demand for food.

As the demand for food rises due to global
population increase, the amount of land
available for cultivation is decreasing due to
continuing urbanisation and industrial growth.
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Arable land per capita vs population
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Since 1960 the global population has increased
by around 130%, whereas cultivated land has
increased by just 10%. Thus the acre of land that
fed two people in 1960 must now feed almost five
people; fertilizers help to make that possible.

10

2000

+185%

World population growth (bn)

1975

increase in farmland productivity
needed by 2020

1950

+15%

United Nations estimates indicate that global
agricultural productivity needs to rise by at least
15% by 2020 to maintain global food consumption
per capita at today’s levels. The supply of high
quality fertilizers will therefore be crucial to helping
to sustain productivity.
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Fertilizer supply is strongly affected by demand from emerging economies, which are typically
faster growing and highly populated.

The increase in material wealth – particularly in
emerging markets – has not only increased food
consumption but also created greater demand for
protein-rich foods such as red meat, poultry and
dairy products, which are more resource-intensive
to produce.

Between 2001 and 2012, the per capita income of the BRIC countries (Brazil, Russia, India and China)
grew by approximately 185%. Increases in prosperity, changes of diet and larger populations continue to have
a significant, longer-term impact on demand for fertilizers.

Kilocalories per capita/day

GNI per capita growth dynamic (%)

Per capita meat consumption (PPP dollars)
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SOIL FERTILITY

RENEWABLE FUELS

With a lower proportion of arable land available
to meet the demand for food, output needs
to increase significantly.

In addition to producing food, farms are
becoming an increasingly important source
of renewable fuels.

It is estimated that farmland productivity needs
to increase by at least 15% over the next six years
to ensure that demand does not overtake supply,
resulting in food shortages and a sharp rise
in costs.

Between 1980 and 2012 the share of US corn used
to produce fuel ethanol rose from 0.3% to over
24% – and the 107 million tonnes of corn used by
US ethanol distilleries in 2009 represented enough
to feed 330 million people for one year. The rapid
increase in biofuel production is therefore an
important driver for fertilizer demand.
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OUR ROLE
EuroChem provides the
world’s farmers with the
means to address the
challenge of continuously
growing demand combined
with a relatively diminishing
resource base. We do this
through unique products
that help increase plant
yields by providing the
quality nutrients needed
for healthy growth in
the right balance and
at the right time.
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WHAT ARE FERTILIZERS?

AN ESSENTIAL
RESOURCE TO MEET
GLOBAL FOOD DEMAND
Fertilizers supply nutrients needed for good
crop quality and yield. Fertilizer production
entails gathering raw materials from nature,
purifying them to increase their concentration,
converting them into plant-available forms
and often combining them into products
containing more than one nutrient.

Plants need sun, water and nutrients to grow.
The three principal nutrients are nitrogen (N),
phosphate (P) and potassium (K). If one is
lacking, plant growth is limited and crop yields
are reduced.
Fertilizers are essential to deliver the nutrients
crops require in the right amounts at the right
time. The addition of fertilizers to crops can
result in the doubling or even tripling of yields.
Yield improvements from correct fertilizer
application have been demonstrated
frequently – by individual farmers, large
agricultural companies and the UN Food
and Agriculture Organisation.
Each individual nutrient, whether required in
large or small amounts, plays a specific role
in plant growth and food production. One
nutrient cannot be substituted for another.

Primary nutrients

N

P

K

Secondary nutrients

Ca

Mg

S

Micro nutrients

B

Cl
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Mn

Fe

Zn

Cu

Mo

Nl

Se

Na
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OUR PRODUCTS
N

NITROGEN

Absorbed from the soil in the form of nitrates
or ammonium, nitrogen is the key component
of plant growth. As the essential constituent of
proteins, it features in all key stages of plant
development, protein and yield formation.
It is also a component of chlorophyll:
essential for optimum crop size.

EuroChem produces nitrogen mineral fertilizers,
including urea, ammonia, ammonium nitrate (AN),
urea ammonium nitrate (UAN), calcium ammonium
nitrate (CAN) and complex fertilizers (NPK). We
also produce phosphate mineral fertilizers, including
monoammonium phosphate (MAP), diammonium
phosphate (DAP), nitrate phosphate (NP) and feed
phosphates, as well as P2O5 rich magnetite-apatite
ore. We are developing two major greenfield potash
projects in Russia.
For more about our products see
www.eurochem.ru/what-we-do/products

IMPROVES THE GROWTH
AND YIELD OF CROPS
P

PHOSPHATE

Phosphorous is essential for root development
and cell division; it also accelerates maturity.
It plays a key role in energy transfer and is
essential for photosynthesis. Most natural and
agricultural soils are deficient in phosphorus.
When there are problems with phosphorous
fixation, this also limits its availability.

SPEEDS UP CROP MATURITY
AND IMPROVES QUALITY
K

POTASSIUM

Potassium activates more than 60
enzymes (substances that play a key role
in carbohydrate and protein synthesis).
It improves a plant’s water regime and
increases tolerance to disease, drought,
frost and salinity. It also strengthens stems
and roots whilst adding flavour, texture
and colour to food crops.

+27%
global increase in nitrogen (N)
fertilizer use over the
last ten years

+17%
global increase in phosphate (P2O5 )
fertilizer use over the
last ten years

OUR ROLE
EuroChem’s focus is on helping customers improve
their crop yields rather than simply selling products.
We provide advisory services to local agricultural
producers and promote the efficient use of
fertilizers to help increase yields.

+16%
global increase in potash (K 2O)
fertilizer use over the
last ten years

Our distribution centres also offer third-party
seed and crop protection products as well as
soil analysis services.

Average nutrient content (% of weight)

Ammonia
Urea
Ammonium nitrate (AN)
CAN
Ammonium sulphate (AS)
UAN
MAP
DAP
NP 20-20
NP 14-34
NP 16-20
SP
Potash (MOP)
Potash (SOP)
NK
NPK 16-16-16

N

Primary
P 2O 5

K 2O

S

Secondary
Mg

82%
46.2%
34±1%
27±1%
21%
32%
12±1%
18%
20±1%
14±0.5%
16.5%
6±1%
–
–
13%
16%

–
–
–
–
–
–
52±1%
46%
20±1%
34±1%
20%
26±1%
–
–
–
16%

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
60-62%
50%
44%
16%

–
–
–
–
24%
–
–
–
8%
8%
14%
8-10%
–
18%
–
–

–
–
–
1.2%
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
>0.5%
0.1%
1%
–
–

Ca

–
–
–
4%
–
–
–
–
–
–
9-12%
0.1%
0.7%
0.6%
–

HELPS FIGHT CROP DISEASE
AND IMPROVES QUALITY
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EUROCHEM AT A GLANCE

We are one of the largest
agrochemical companies
in the world. Our business is
underpinned by the unrelenting
need to produce and deliver
the primary nutrients needed
to help the world grow.
Our main activities are the production of nitrogen
and phosphate fertilizers, to which we soon plan
to add potash. We are investing in deepening our
vertical integration while expanding our global reach
to help us achieve our vision.
We measure our success by our ability to create
best in class products to help our customers
improve crop yields.
Our four reporting segments* are Nitrogen,
Phosphates, Potash, and Distribution, which we
use to measure and communicate our results
and performance.

REVENUE
RUBm

PHOSPHATES

Nitrogen is a key constituent of the
proteins essential for plant growth.
Our nitrogen assets are at the core of
EuroChem, with close to half of our revenues
derived from nitrogen-based fertilizers.

Phosphates help increase the strength of
the root system of plants and improve their
drought resistance.

Our nitrogen facilities in Russia and Belgium
currently have a combined annual production
capacity of close to ten million tonnes per
year. We also produce gas condensate and
natural gas, which is the main raw material for
the production of ammonia and subsequent
production of nitrogen-based fertilizers.
Furthermore, the sale of gas condensate
to third parties allows us to offset a portion
of our natural gas costs.

>HIGHLIGHTS
2013

2012

2011

176,937

166,478

131,298

Revenue by region

2013

2012

2011

Europe
Russia
Asia
North America
Latin America
CIS
Africa
Australasia

32%
19%
18%
10%
9%
8%
3%
1%

27%
21%
16%
11%
14%
8%
2%
1%

14%
24%
23%
8%
15%
12%
3%
1%

Revenue

NITROGEN

Our phosphates segment encompasses the
production and sale of phosphate mineral
fertilizers and feed phosphates, as well as
the extraction and subsequent sale of iron
ore concentrate and baddeleyite concentrate,
co-products of phosphate rock raw material
mining operations. As well as providing a
considerable credit to apatite mining costs,
these co-products help mitigate the volatility
in fertilizer pricing.

>HIGHLIGHTS

• Number one producer by size and
market share in Russia
• Up to 25% self-sufficient in natural gas
for ammonia production secured by
Severneft Urengoy
• Global reach across key markets
with EuroChem Agro sales network
(ex-KSN Nitrogen)
• Deeply entrenched position in Western
Europe via EuroChem Antwerpen
(ex-BASF Antwerp fertilizer assets)
• Russia’s only producer of acetic acid,
granulated urea and melamine.

• Own phosphate rock, up to 75%
self-sufficiency
• Benefits of iron ore and baddeleyite
as a co-products of apatite mining
at Kovdorskiy GOK. The co-products
together generated 38% and 74%
of phosphate segment revenues
and EBITDA, respectively in 2013
• Start of drilling and blasting in
Kazakhstan in October 2013.

+ 10.5bn
RUB increase in revenue

49% ofsalesexternal

* Note: EuroChem Agro results are included in the Nitrogen
segment. The Distribution segment only represents sales
carried out by our CIS distribution network.
1 Revenues include sales to other segments.
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31% of external sales

RUB 100.1bn

RUB 58.3bn

Revenue1

Revenue1

RUB 26.2bn

RUB 14.0bn

EBITDA (61% of total)

EBITDA (32% of total)

26%

24%

EBITDA Margin

EBITDA Margin

For more about our Nitrogen
segment see pages 24-27

For more about our Phosphates segment
see pages 28-31

STRATEGIC REPORT

POTASH

GOVERNANCE

DISTRIBUTION

Along with nitrogen and phosphate,
potash is one of the three key plant
nutrients. It helps improve the nutrient
value, taste, texture, and crop
disease resistance.
Development of greenfield potash projects
in Russia’s two largest deposits, the
Gremyachinskoe deposit in the Volgograd
region (EuroChem-VolgaKaliy) and the
Verkhnekamskoe deposit (Usolskiy Potash)
in the Perm region. Once on stream, the
two mining and processing sites will have
a combined annual output of eight million
tonnes of KCl.

>HIGHLIGHTS

Retail sales of own and purchased
fertilizers, seeds, crop protection services
and other activities via our distribution
network in the CIS.
Distribution is an important part of
EuroChem’s sustainable growth strategy.
Not only does our own distribution help us
enhance value all the way to the end
consumer, it gives us a strong foothold in
Russia, one of the world’s fastest growing
large agricultural markets, while providing
important revenue in the same currency as
the majority of our operating costs.

>HIGHLIGHTS

• Future top five potash producer globally
in terms of annual capacity
• Most advanced greenfield projects
in the world
• Cost of production expected to be
among lowest globally
• Cage shaft sinking completed at
Usolskiy in October 2013.

• 26 distribution centres across Russia
and Ukraine and a representative office
in Belarus
• Building relationships through tailored
advisory services to help customers
increase yields through advanced
plant nutrition
• Offering crop protection services,
seeds, and soil analysis and field
mapping services.

>PROJECT COMPLETION STATUS*

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STRATEGIC ADVANTAGES
Leveraging our strategic advantages
• Vertically integrated and cost-efficient
production chain
• Full set of logistics to secure constant
global supply
• Diversified offering with both commodity
and specialty products
• Strong international sales footprint across
key markets
• Balanced exposure between developed
and emerging markets
• Deep market knowledge through extensive
distribution channels
• Asset base well positioned to support
robust cash flow generation across the
business cycle
• Commitment to maintain prudent
financial policy
• Environmental and social accountability
• International corporate governance model
• Most advanced potash greenfield potash
projects globally

FACT
In addition to storage,
transhipment and port facilities
and vessels, our logistics arm
includes some 7,000 rail stock
units as well as our in-house rail
depot and maintenance teams.

Volgakaliy

28%
Usolskiy

19%
* Based on capital expenditure incurred as at
31 December 2013, including both phases of
the projects.

2013
ca.10% ofglobal
capacity

10% of external sales

8 MMT

RUB 17.0bn

of planned annual potash capacity

Revenue1

912 MMT

RUB 0.7bn

of proven and probable reserves (JORC)

EBITDA (2% of total)
%

RUB 57bn

4

in total cumulative investments

EBITDA Margin

For a more detailed overview of our
potash projects, please see pages 32-35

For more information on our Distribution
segment, please see page 36

For more about our strategy see
pages 14-15
For more about our performance see
our financial review on pages 42-51
For more about our products visit
our website at www.eurochem.ru/
what-we-do-products
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PEER ANALYSIS

A MAJOR PLAYER
ACROSS KEY MARKETS
In 2013, compared to fertilizer companies which publicly report their financial
information, EuroChem ranked sixth by operating cash flow and revenues
and eighth in terms of EBITDA. Our strong position amongst our global peers
is underpinned by our unique vertically integrated business model, with access
to low-cost raw materials and ongoing investments in efficiency. Our ability
to generate strong cash flow from our nitrogen and phosphate operations
has allowed us to make significant investments in the third primary nutrient,
potash. We ranked fourth in our industry globally in terms of capital
expenditure as we invested over US$ 1bn in capex in 2013.

PRODUCTION IN NUTRIENT CONTENT (MMT pa)
2008

2013

2018

Ten year
CAGR

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
Total EuroChem*

2.0
0.8
0.1
2.9

2.7
1.0
0.2
4.0

2.8
1.2
1.0
5.0

3.3%
4.2%
27.9%
5.5%

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
Total World**
EuroChem
Market Share

98.5
34.1
24.4
157.0

109.1
40.9
28.6
178.6

118.4
45.0
39.9
203.4

1.9%
2.8%
5.1%
2.6%

1.9%

2.2%

2.4%

2013 SALES IN MMT OF NUTRIENT
Europe

Total
market

EuroChem*

EuroChem’s
share

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
Total: N, P, K

10.97
2.61
2.93
16.51

0.78
0.49
0.01
1.28

7.11%
18.89%
0.28%
7.76%

2.86
0.68
0.95

0.28
0.08
0.00

9.79%
11.65%
0.52%

1.54
0.56
0.31

0.42
0.10
0.01

27.10%
18.36%
2.35%

4.40
1.24
1.26
6.90

0.70
0.18
0.01
0.89

15.84%
14.70%
0.97%
12.91%

CIS ex-Russia

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
Russia

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
CIS

Nitrogen (N)
Phosphates (P2O5)
Potash (K 2O)
Total: N, P, K
Source: Company data, CRU, Fertecon, IFA.
* Without feed phosphates.

Source: Company data, CRU, Fertecon, IFA.
* Without LDAN, feed phosphates and EuroChem’s phosphate project in Kazakhstan.
** Production of fertilizers used in agriculture.

2013 INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENTS
JANUARY 2013
■ POTASH
• The H1 2013 Chinese potash contract settles at US$ 400
(CFR) per tonne.

FEBRUARY 2013
■ NITROGEN
• Reflecting the new natural gas reality, PotashCorp restarts
ammonia production in Louisiana which had been idle since
2003 on account of high natural gas prices.
■ POTASH
• Vale announces the suspension of its 4.4 MMT pa Rio
Colorado potash project in Argentina.

MARCH 2013

APRIL 2013

JUNE 2013

■ ■ ■ NITROGEN/PHOSPHATES/POTASH
• The Indian Government cuts subsidies for producers and
importers of mineral fertilizers for the 2013/2014 agricultural
year by 13%, 14%, and 24% for nitrogen, phosphates and
potash, respectively.

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• Borealis acquires TOTAL’s majority interest in Belgium’s
Rosier. On the same day, the Austrian company announces
the completion of its acquisition of GPN, France’s largest
nitrogen fertilizer manufacturer.

• K+S revises CAPEX forecast for the Legacy potash project
(Canada) from CAD 3.25bn to 4.10bn. Start of production is
planned for 2016, with 2 MMT pa of KCl capacity by 2018.

• Petrobras closes the acquisition of Vale’s nitrogen complex
in Araucaria (Brazil). The facility can produce 0.5 MMT pa
of ammonia and 0.7 MMT pa of urea.

MAY 2013
■ NITROGEN
• CF Industries closes on the acquisition of all of the
outstanding interests it did not already own in Canadian
Fertilizers Limited (CFL), owner of the largest nitrogen
fertilizer complex in Canada.

■ NITROGEN
• Yara postpones its planned urea capacity increase at
Belle Plaine (Canada).
• Agrium suspends engineering work on a new US$ 3bn,
1.8 MMT pa urea plant in the US Midwest and shelves
a US$ 150m expansion project at its Redwater facility
in Canada.

JULY 2013
■ PHOSPHATES
• Ma’aden, SABIC, and Mosaic move ahead with the US$ 7bn
Wa’ad Al-Shammal project in Saudi Arabia. Mosaic will
own 25% of the project and have the rights to distribute a
corresponding share of production. Startup is planned for 2016.
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■ POTASH
• The Uralkali Board of Directors announces that, effective
immediately, the company will no longer be a member of
the Belarusian Potash Company (BPC).

STRATEGIC REPORT
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4th

27%

6th

globally in capex with a focus
on potash

market share in
Russian nitrogen market

in terms of revenues
and operating cash flow

Selected ranking by nutrient capacity (MMT pa)
14.2

PotashCorp

13.5

Mosaic
EUROCHEM1

8.6
7.8

Uralkali

7.3

Yara
6.0

Belaruskali
4.9

OCP

PotashCorp2
Yara2

4.3

3.5

Sinochem/Sinopec
China National Petroleum
Corporation/PetroChina
SABIC/SAFCO

3.4

ICL2
EUROCHEM2

999

Acron3

3.0

Yara2

1,914

Uralkali4

1,127

Uralchem3

2,233
2,035

1,776
1,455
1,349

K+S3

667

PhosAgro3

610

Uralchem3
Acron3

515

Revenue (US$m)

1,246
871
750
581

CAPEX (US$m)

2.9

IFFCO
PhosAgro

2.9

Agrium2

2.9

Yara2

UralChem

2.6

Mosaic2

TogliattiAzot

2.6

PotashCorp2

Acron

1,467
1,135

1,119

K+S3

2,781

Agrium2

ICL2

PhosAgro3

3,031

CF2

Mosaic2

4.7

3.6

PotashCorp2

Mosaic2

1,610

CF2

4.6

Group DF/Ostchem

1,764

Uralkali4

ICL
K+S

2,748

Agrium2

Agrium

EUROCHEM

3,212

EUROCHEM2

6.6

CF Industries

EBITDA (US$m)

Cash from operations (US$m)

15,976
14,415
9,132
7,305
6,272

ICL2

1.4

EUROCHEM2

■ Ammonia (N) ■ Phosphoric Acid (P 0 ) ■ K O MOP, SOP, Other
2 5

2

5,556
5,475

CF2

4,667

K+S3
1 Post

completion of both potash projects, excluding all other
investment initiatives.
2 Twelve months ended 31 December 2013.
3 Twelve months ended 30 September 2013.
4 Twelve months ended 30 June 2013.
Sources: Company reports, public filings, Bloomberg.

AUGUST 2013
MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• Yara purchases Bunge assets in Brazil for a total
consideration of US$ 750m.
■ NITROGEN
• Start of operations at Sofert (Algeria) and Fertil-2 (UAE).
■ POTASH
• BHP Billiton announces it will invest an additional
CAD 2.6bn in the Jansen potash project, but that the
development of the mine will be conducted at a slower
pace than previously planned.

SEPTEMBER 2013
MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• CIC (China) discloses a 12.5% ownership in Uralkali after
the conversion of the company’s convertible bonds into
ordinary shares.
■ POTASH
• Qinghai Salt Lake (China) launches a 1 MMT pa potash mine
(57-60% K 2O).

Agrium2

Mosaic2

835

ICL2

827

CF2

3,412

PhosAgro3
Acron3

Uralchem3

2,385

Uralkali4

Acron3

2,204

Uralchem3

NOVEMBER 2013
MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• PotashCorp announces plans to cut 18% of its workforce due
to unfavourable market conditions. Most of the cuts are in its
potash and phosphate units.

824

Yara2

3,330

■ PHOSPHATES
• The Phosphate Chemicals Export Association (PHOSCHEM)
announces it has disbanded.

1,528
1,023

K+S3

Uralkali4

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• CF Industries sells its phosphate business to Mosaic for
US$ 1.4bn and completes an ammonia supply contract
to Mosaic.

1,624

EUROCHEM2

PhosAgro3

OCTOBER 2013

1,795

PotashCorp2

749
528
441
409
205

DECEMBER 2013
MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
• ONEXIM Group and Uralchem respectively acquire
21.75% and 20% in Uralkali.
CHINESE FERTILIZER EXPORT POLICY
• The Government of China sets export tariffs for 2014:
– UREA: for July to October: RMB 40/MT – for the
rest of the year: unit price+15%+RMB 40/MT.
– DAP, MAP: from 16 May to 15 October:
RMB 50/MT – for the rest of the year:
unit price+15%+RMB 50/MT.

JANUARY 2014
■ POTASH
• BHP Billiton announces that the excavation of
Jansen’s production and service shafts has been
halted to review the progress made to date.

• Difficult potash trading forces Belaruskali to shut down
production at two of its four mines.
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OUR OPERATIONS

GLOBAL
PRESENCE FOR
GLOBAL DEMAND
We have a strong international presence across key
markets with direct distribution in Russia and the CIS,
Europe, the USA, Mexico and South East Asia, providing
us with a sales force in 15 countries and over 1,000
customers around the world.

17
23

>1,000

>100

Customers around the world

Countries consume
EuroChem products

18

NITROGEN

PHOSPHATES

POTASH

1 Novomoskovskiy Azot

5 Kovdorskiy GOK

10 EuroChem-VolgaKaliy

2 Nevinnomysskiy Azot

6 Phosphorit

11 EuroChem-Usolskiy Potash Complex

3 EuroChem Antwerpen

7 Lifosa

4 Severneft-Urengoy

8 EuroChem-BMU
9 EuroChem Fertilizers (Kaz)

Find out more about our
Nitrogen segment pages 24-27
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Find out more about our
Phosphates segment pages 28-31

Find out more about our
Potash segment pages 32-35

STRATEGIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Russia

Ukraine

5

13

AGRICULTURAL CENTRES
IN RUSSIA AND UKRAINE

4

15
6
14

11

7
1
3

19

10

8

24 16

12
21

20

2
9

22

25
27

26

PORT TERMINALS

SALES OFFICES
EUROCHEM AGRO

12 Tuapse
13 Murmansk
14 Sillamae
15 Ust-Luga*

*under construction

Find out more about our
Port terminals page 33

16 Zug, Switzerland
17 Tampa, USA
18 São Paulo, Brazil

19 Germany

24 France

20 Spain

25 Turkey

21 Italy

26 Singapore

22 Greece

27 China

23 Mexico

Find out more about our offices
www.eurochemagro.com
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CREATING VALUE

LEVERAGING OUR
STRATEGIC ADVANTAGES
TO ACHIEVE OUR VISION
We are proud of our track record of delivering value
to our wide-ranging stakeholders. The implementation
of a consistent strategy is at the heart of our ability to
sustain this value generation, and we remain committed
to our disciplined approach and corporate principles.

VISION
To be a top five global
fertilizer player, by
production, size
and profitability.
> To achieve this we are focusing
on combining our organic growth
potential with a disciplined approach
to investment activity and leveraging
our unique strategic advantages.

MISSION

VALUES

To make a significant
contribution to driving
progress in global agriculture.

Our business is founded
on four key values:

Our mission is to help
the world grow the food,
feed, fibre, and fuel
needed to sustain our
growing population.
We are focused on addressing the issues
that matter:
> Population growth
> Available land
> Changing diets
> Soil fertility
> Alternative fuels

14 EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013

>Integrity
>Openness
>Trust
>Respect
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Our goal is to continue
building on the growth that
we have achieved over the
past decade. We will
succeed by consistently
following our proven
strategy, and developing as
a responsible business.

VERTICAL INTEGRATION

STRATEGY

RISK MANAGEMENT

Capturing margin and
control throughout the
entire value chain.

Our strategy is to become
a top five global fertilizer
player by production, sales
and profitability.

>
>
>
>

Our access to lower-cost raw materials
and our investment in production capacity
and efficiency underpin our global
competitiveness. We also have our own
repair centres, distribution network, rolling
stock and rail depots as well as port facilities,
transhipment terminals and vessels.
> Raw materials
> Production
> Supply chain
> Global reach
> Responsibility
We derive value and generate sustainable
long-term growth via our vertically integrated
business model.

Find out more about our
business model pages 16-17

We aim to achieve our vision by growing faster
than the market through investment in growth
and M&A while increasing our cost advantage
through further vertical integration and
investment in efficiency improvements.

Our strategic targets:
> Cost leadership
> Broad value-added
product range
> Proximity to customers

Operational risks
Financial risks
Strategic risks
Reputational risks
Find out more about our
risks pages 55-59

GOVERNANCE

We are developing a strong track
record in effective governance,
and remain committed to the
principles of the new corporate
governance code.
Find out more about our
governance pages 60-76
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BUSINESS MODEL

VERTICALLY
INTEGRATED TO
MAXIMISE COST
EFFICIENCIES

LOW COST PRODUCER
Our access to lower-cost raw
materials and our investment
in production capacity and
efficiency underpin our
global competitiveness.

By increasing the control we have throughout our
vertically integrated business we reduce inefficiencies,
capture margins, and ensure the sustainability
of our business.
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RAW MATERIALS

GOVERNANCE

Our upstream hydrocarbons and mining operations
form the backbone of our business model.
This access to lower-cost raw materials enhances
and consolidates our global competitiveness.
Natural gas
Natural gas is the primary raw material used to produce
ammonia, the main building block for nitrogen-based fertilizers.
Our oil and gas operations are designed to boost our ammonia
gas efficiency and strengthen our cost advantages. Our
production capacity currently meets up to 25% of our
total annual gas needs.

PRODUCTION

EuroChem produces and sells more than 100
unique products, and our diversified product mix
provides us with a competitive advantage in both
domestic and international markets, while our
significant sales flexibility allows us to quickly adapt
to customer demand and economic conditions.
Nitrogen fertilizers
Our nitrogen fertilizer facilities have an annual production
capacity of approximately 9.7 million tonnes. We also produce
gas condensate and natural gas, the main raw material for
the production of ammonia. The sale of gas condensate to
third-parties allows us to offset some of our natural gas costs.

GLOBAL REACH

SUPPLY CHAIN

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Phosphate rock
We mine magnetite-apatite ore, which is high quality
phosphate rock, from our open-pit mining operations at
Kovdorskiy GOK. From there, we extract apatite concentrate
from the ore for use as a raw material to produce
phosphate-based fertilizers. We also extract baddeleyite
concentrate and produce iron ore concentrate which are sold
externally as co-products of apatite mining.

Potash
We are in the process of developing potash deposits which will
make us one of only four fertilizer producers in the world with
a significant presence in all three primary nutrient segments.

Phosphate fertilizers
We operate facilities producing 2.4 million tonnes of phosphate
mineral fertilizers and feed products, and 2.7 million tonnes of
apatite concentrate. We also have an annual production capacity
of approximately 5.7 million tonnes of iron ore concentrate and
9,000 tonnes of baddeleyite concentrate.

Other products
We also produce animal feed phosphates, melamine and organic
synthesis products. We are the world’s only producer of
baddeleyite concentrate and the only Russian producer
of melamine and merchant-grade synthetic acetic acid.

Our powerful global distribution network provides
us with the flexibility to channel volumes to the
markets offering the highest netbacks. In addition
to our trading arms in the US, Switzerland and
Brazil, EuroChem Agro has a focus on major
customers in agriculture and special crops such as
fruits, vegetables and wine-grapes. We also have
storage facilities in Russia, the CIS, Europe, North
America and Mexico allowing us to store product
so as to maximise sales in times of high demand.

EuroChem Agro

Logistics

Rail

Crucial to the flow of raw materials and finished goods,
our well engineered and flexible logistics infrastructure
underpins both our vertically integrated business model
and our global competitiveness. As part of our logistics
infrastructure we operate wholly-owned transhipment
terminals and ports.

Our rolling stock is comprised of approximately 7,000 rail cars
and 45 locomotives. To limit outsourcing and further control
costs, we operate dedicated rail service and repair centres
offering full servicing support to our rolling operations.

EuroChem Agro’s distribution assets are located in Germany,
Spain, Italy, Greece, Mexico, France, Turkey, Singapore and
China and sell to wholesalers, distributors and cooperatives
in their respective countries as well as in Northern, Central
and Eastern Europe, South East Asia and the Americas.

Distribution
We have built a network of distribution centres in Russia,
Ukraine and Belarus, and take an advisory approach in building
relationships with farmers to help increase crop yields, rather
than simply advocating higher fertilizer consumption.

Customers
We market our products to a wide range of domestic and
international customers. We believe that a diversified offering
with both commodity and specialty products is fundamental
to our future success.

CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

We fully recognise that our commitments to
good governance, economic performance,
social responsibility and environmental
accountability are seamlessly related and
constitute the key pillars of generating
sustainable shareholder returns.

Our long-term growth strategy is based around
sustaining and developing our unique business model,
and whilst economic success is a key measure, we
recognise that our commitment to our employees, safety,
environmental stewardship and community engagement
is of equal importance.
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FOCUS ON
GOVERNANCE

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

See pages 60-77 for more information.

EuroChem is unique. It not only stands out as a
privately-held company among its globally listed
peers, but also by its level of strategic investments.
Over the years, our balanced and prudent approach
to financial management has allowed us to
implement our growth strategy, reflecting our
long-term commitment to helping feed the
world’s growing population.

GROUP INTEGRATION
As underscored by our 2013 results, the integration
of EuroChem Antwerpen and EuroChem Agro
has been a visible success. While we have further
broadened our product mix and strengthened our
position in key markets, the additional market
knowledge and cross cultural talent which
we have gained from these acquisitions are
invaluable assets.

BUSINESS MODEL

We have continued to build a
business that has clear strategic
principles underpinned by our
commitment to sound business
and governance practices.
ANDREY MELNICHENKO
Chairman
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Since our founding in 2001, we have developed
the company in response to the increasing global
demand for food, feed, fibre and fuel. To help
us meet these challenges we have built a unique
production and distribution network spanning both
developed and emerging markets. One of our key
strengths lies in our vertically integrated business
model which encompasses the whole value chain,
from raw material extraction, to production and
logistics functions. This provides us with a stable
and resilient low-cost operating base which allows
us to generate robust cash flows to fulfil our
strategic vision.

POTASH
Developing Potash operations is a key part of
our growth strategy to become one of the world’s
top-five fertilizer companies. We made remarkable
progress in 2013 and enter 2014 simultaneously
working on five potash shafts. At Usolskiy an
important milestone was passed as we completed
the sinking of our first shaft, while at VolgaKaliy we
overcame earlier setbacks and resumed sinking at
all Phase 1 shafts and prepared the Phase 2 skip
shaft for sinking. At both sites, such significant
progress would not have been possible were it not
for the commitment and depth of experience of our
potash and mining teams and the support of more
than 22,000 dedicated employees. Building a
potash mine is a long-term, capital intensive
project. While many are re-evaluating their potash
aspirations, we have established an excellent
position with the world’s two most advanced
greenfield potash projects.

GOVERNANCE
As Chairman of the Board I am responsible for
ensuring that our investments are strategically
sound and capable of providing adequate financial
returns. As such the Board and I have set out to
instate corporate governance practices which
secure EuroChem’s growth and success while
maintaining and promoting transparency,
accountability, and responsibility to deliver value
in the long term across its stakeholder base.
We aim to attract and retain high calibre individuals
to the Board whose complementary skills and
experience will secure the continuing growth of
the Company. During the year, there were a number
of changes at Board level. After six years on the
Board, Keith Jackson stepped down in June.
His contribution was integral to defining
EuroChem’s strategic development and steering
its course throughout these challenging times.
In December we welcomed Garth Moore and
Alexander Landia to the Board. Alexander was
special advisor to the Board during 2013 and has
already contributed to our strategic path, while
Garth’s considerable experience in potash further
anchors our ambitious growth plans.

STRATEGIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With its unique business model and competitive strengths,
EuroChem is well positioned to deliver strong value for all
its stakeholders in the years to come.

A SUSTAINABLE APPROACH

OUTLOOK

Our aim is to build and grow a business that
is sustainable in the long term; consequently
our approach to sustainability is fully aligned
with the strategic interests of our business.
Economic sustainability and social and environmental
responsibilities comprise our ‘triple bottom line’
– and play a central role in the way we run
our business.

Our principal objective is to achieve a place
among the top five global fertilizer manufacturers
in terms of output and profits, as well as upholding
the highest possible value for our stakeholders.
To achieve these goals, EuroChem must develop
at a pace faster than that of the market, ensure
a high, stable level of profitability, and expand its
geographical presence. Looking back at how far we
have come gives me great confidence in tomorrow.
We have already built one of the world’s leading
agrochemical companies and our investment
initiatives of the next few years will have a profound
and lasting impact on our financial profile and
resonate across our stakeholder base. I now look
at EuroChem and see a truly global company, well
positioned for future growth and ready to capture
further opportunities.

Our longstanding commitment to the environment
remains as strong as ever. Despite our increased
production levels, we continue to reduce our impact
on the environment, aligning our policies with
global standards. EuroChem’s business is now of
a size and scale that enables us to make a tangible
positive difference in the regions where we operate.
While the fundamental driver of our business is
the continued global need for food, our long term
success will be built on our ability to create best
in class products and deliver them to our customers
in the most efficient and effective way.

ANDREY MELNICHENKO
Chairman

As a growing global business we depend on a
constant intake of highly skilled employees, and
we work hard to attract the right levels of local
talent, while enhancing the mobility of our
employees through cross-divisional moves.
2013 also saw us expand the scale and scope
of our training and development programmes,
and we continued to promote closer cooperation
with universities.

OUR VALUES
>Integrity
>Openness
>Trust
>Respect

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 19

PROGRESS ON POTASH

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

On balance, and in light of the volatile market
backdrop, 2013 was a good year for us. Despite the
growth in fertilizer demand falling short of market
expectations, we continued to challenge ourselves
to increase volumes and gain market share and
were able to deliver another strong set of results.
We took action to further consolidate our position
in key markets and our expanding offering of both
commodity and specialty products, combined with
the growing strength and depth of our vertically
integrated model, provided us with the flexibility
to unlock value throughout our business.

RESULTS AND OPERATIONS

Despite the year’s volatile market
backdrop, we have demonstrated
our resilience by delivering
another strong set of results.
DMITRY STREZHNEV
Chief Executive Officer

Our extended asset base helped us mitigate
the year’s more challenging market conditions
and drove our full year revenues 6% higher to
RUB 176.9bn (US$ 5.6bn). While slightly down,
our EBITDA for the year nonetheless amounted
to a satisfactory RUB 43.0bn (US$ 1.3bn).
This was realised on the back of a 788,000 tonne
increase in annual nitrogen and phosphates sales
volumes which lifted our total for the year to a
record 10.6 million tonnes. Mining raw material
sales volumes, which include iron ore and
baddeleyite, added over half a million tonnes and
grew to 5.9 million tonnes as compared to 2012.

See pages 32-35 for more information.

In potash, while market participants focused on
short-term disruptions, we reiterated our long-term
commitment and continued work at both our
greenfield projects. In October a significant
milestone was reached as we completed cage shaft
sinking operations at our Usolskiy Potash project in
Russia’s Verkhnekamskoe deposit. Further west,
at our VolgaKaliy potash project, our team resumed
sinking on skip shaft 1 and had reached a depth
of -630 metres as of 5 March 2014, at which
time sinking efforts were close to starting at skip
shaft 2. As for the site’s cage shaft, we overcame
the setbacks brought on by our original contractor,
and had progressed to -178 metres as of early
March 2014. Above the shafts, we made good
progress on the construction of the main process
beneficiation building, warehousing facilities, and
loading and shipping facilities. As others re-evaluate
the feasibility of their potash plans, I am very
pleased to see EuroChem moving ahead with the
most advanced greenfield potash projects globally,
on deposits that will make it among the world’s
lowest cost producers.
In phosphates, I am pleased to report that our
phosphate rock mining project in Kazakhstan
officially commenced in October 2013. With
drilling and blasting underway, we expect the first
product from these new operations to integrate
our production chain in 2014, moving us closer
towards self-sufficiency in this resource base.

Our Management Board
answers some of the
year’s most frequently
asked questions on
pages 22-23.
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As highlighted by our results, our unique asset base is well positioned
to drive and support robust cash flow generation across the business
cycle. The ensuing value creation is set to be boosted by our targeted
strategic initiatives, such as in potash, nitrogen and phosphates, which
will serve to further entrench our resilience.
With the Americas accounting for almost a quarter
of our nitrogen sales in 2013, and the evolution
of natural gas dynamics in the United States,
a logical step for us is to establish production
operations closer to our customers. With this in
mind, in July we announced plans for a potential
ammonia and urea production plant in Louisiana
to manufacture and distribute fertilizer products
in the US and other markets. To the east, we also
announced our intention to form a joint venture
with a China-based specialty fertilizer producer.
Expanding our presence in China, one of the
world’s most dynamic agricultural markets, is
a strategically important step for EuroChem.

OUTLOOK
While the short-term outlook is not without its
challenges, sector fundamentals and the long-term
global food security agenda are clear as ever.
As such, EuroChem continues moving forward
with its strategy as highlighted by the most recent
milestones achieved at our VolgaKaliy and Usolskiy
projects. Our latest results have shown that our
unique asset base is well positioned to drive and
support robust cash flow generation across the
business cycle. The ensuing value creation is set
to be boosted by our targeted strategic initiatives
which will serve to further entrench our resilience
and enhance our ability to support the farmers
increase agricultural yields and help the world grow.

2013 KEY FIGURES

$5.6bn

+6%

$1.3bn

$1.0bn

US$ in revenues

US$ EBITDA

22,310

highly talented and dedicated individuals

increase in revenues

US$ CAPEX

1.2bn

RUB investment in environmental
protection initiatives

DMITRY STREZHNEV
Chief Executive Officer
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Q&A WITH THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Our Management
Board answers
a range of questions
that are frequently
asked by investors,
employees,
partners and
other stakeholders.
Q. How has EuroChem’s
strategy evolved since you
became CEO? What are
the priorities over the next
five years?

Q. EuroChem’s debt levels
and leverage ratio have
moved up over the past year –
has this impacted your
investment programme?

DMITRY STREZHNEV
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ANDREY ILYIN
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Our initial strategy was rather simple
– use our cash flow to overhaul
equipment and improve the efficiency
of our production units. Phase two
involved the expansion of our product
range to provide us with added
stability and resilience throughout
the business cycle. This included the
launch of granular urea and melamine
units and marked the beginning of
our path to potash. With encouraging
progress at our two potash projects
and following the successful
integration of newly acquired assets,
the time has come to look even
further ahead. Accordingly our
strategic horizon has grown from
five to eight years. Over this period, we
will continue working hard to further
minimize our environmental footprint
across our business. Our potash
projects are the major catalysts of
our next growth phase and we remain
deeply aware of the importance of
retaining and attracting key talent.
We are driven by growth and it
has positioned us to capture the
next emerging opportunities in
our industry.
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The cyclicality of the fertilizer sector,
and its effects on cash flows, requires
us to manage debt levels prudently.
This necessity is further boosted by
our ambitious investment program.
We are now in our peak potash capex
years and are potentially starting
work on other large-scale projects,
including an ammonia plant in Russia.
We currently forecast total potential
capex of around US$ 3.5bn over the
next three years. EuroChem generates
strong operating cash flows and we
expect these to cover the bulk of
our investment requirements. Our
maintenance capex requirements are
quite modest and account for 15%
of our expected spending over the
next three years. That said, while we
don’t envisage delaying our potash
plans, some minor projects could
always be postponed should we feel
the need to reduce debt. Our policy
has been to maintain a net debt/
12-month rolling EBITDA ratio of
between 1.5x and 2.0x across the
cycle. And while the market volatility
may make it challenging to attain
at times, this ratio should not
exceed 2.5x.

Q. Have the recent changes
in the potash landscape
altered EuroChem’s
development plans?
CLARK DILLON BAILEY
MINING DIRECTOR

Despite the market taking a breather,
we ran various scenarios, and given
our timeframe, we remain very
confident in our potash projects and
view the timing of our entry as
potentially ideal. Sensitivity analyses
have confirmed EuroChem remains
on firm ground to continue. At either
one of our sites, once fully operational
our cash costs to produce are on
the lower end, allowing us to move
our products into the market with
considerable flexibility. We currently
expect first raw ore and production
to start in 2017 and recognize that
EuroChem will absorb most of its
initial output to meet the requirements
of internal potassium-based fertilizer
production. We are aware and
anticipate our operations to require
two to three years of ramping-up
before reaching their designated
capacity, making our market entry
very gradual and soft.

STRATEGIC REPORT

Q. How competitive are
EuroChem’s ammonia
production facilities?
ALEXANDER TUGOLUKOV
MINERAL FERTILIZER
DIRECTOR

GOVERNANCE

Q. EuroChem completed the
overhaul of its production units
and launched new capacity.
Where is it now with regards
to Health, Safety and
Environment functions?

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Q. What are the major
themes emerging in the
fertilizer industry?

Q. With more than eight million
tonnes of annual production
after ramp-up, do you expect
any logistical constraints once
EuroChem potash production
comes on stream?

VALERY ROGALSKIY
SALES DIRECTOR

IGOR NECHAEV
LOGISTICS DIRECTOR

IGOR SCHELKUNOV
ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR

The key input for ammonia is natural
gas and while it is fairly abundant in
the world, its price and proximity to
fertilizer markets varies considerably.
Fortunately for EuroChem, our
ammonia assets are located in
Russia, which is blessed with natural
gas. Despite certain price increases,
our cost per mmBtu of gas remains
among the lowest in the world. As for
distance to market, Russia happens
to be the fastest growing large
agriculture market in the world.
On the export side, our ammonia
facilities are strategically located in
Western Russia and benefit from
our own logistics chain which unlocks
inefficiencies and bottlenecks on both
the raw material and finished product
streams. Additionally, our partial
upstream integration into natural gas
has strengthened our position on the
cost curve. As well, we look to further
improve our competitiveness with
the launch of up to 1.0 MMT of
new state-of-the-art ammonia
capacity in Russia by 2017. This
will not only improve our gas to
ammonia consumption ratio but
also bring us to full self-sufficiency
in ammonia production.

The name of the game remains
proximity. How close you are to raw
materials and markets have always
been and will continue to define
competitiveness in the fertilizer
space. But we are also seeing
gradual changes in application
patterns. In both developed and
emerging markets we have been
seeing good demand growth for
specialised fertilizer products. So
while favourable geographical
positioning is imperative, your ability
to specifically match your customers’
field and crop requirements is an
added dimension to the notion of
proximity and increasing crucial
to sustain market share. We see
EuroChem’s ability to tailor products
to specific crops and soil conditions
We also launched a company-wide
as both cost effective for our
project aimed at strengthening our
customers and better for the
HSE culture and systems. It is the
environment as it provides optimal
result of a detailed baseline review
nutrition with minimal application.
of our health and safety performance We provide the nutrients needed
conducted by DuPont Sustainability
for healthy plant growth in the right
Solutions in 2012, and is being piloted balance and at the right time.
at Novomoskovskiy Azot, one of our
largest operations, throughout 2014.
The project draws on recognized HSE
best practices and focuses upon HSE
leadership and operational excellence,
over and above compliance with
statutory requirements. The outcomes
from this pilot programme will be fed
into all our operations from 2015.
EuroChem has made the strategic
decision to become an HSE exemplar
by 2018. In 2013 the Board approved
our new HSE Policy and Framework
which underpin our commitment to
HSE leadership and the continuous
improvement of our performance.
These apply to all of EuroChem’s
production plants and are monitored
by the Board of Directors and the
Executive Board. Also in 2013
we established a dedicated HSE
Department. Based in Moscow,
it heads up and integrates the work
of more than 120 HSE professionals
who ensure the effective and
consistent execution of the HSE
Policy and Framework across the
Group’s assets.

A first consideration is that any new
capacity comes online gradually
and mining operations the size of
VolgaKaliy or Usolskiy will typically
require two years to reach their
nameplate annual production
capacity. We have constructed trunk
lines and stations at both of our sites.
At our Usolskiy facility in the Perm
region, the majority of the Perm-Ust
Luga (Baltic) line is not an issue as it
is comprised of multiple routes which
together account for approximately
half of the country’s rail capacity.
The current capacity on that line
is around 35-37 million tonnes
per year and Russian Railways have
announced that this will be raised to
57 million tonnes by 2015, which is
well ahead of the first shipments by
Usolskiy in 2017.
As for VolgaKaliy, with less than
500km to port and our NPK facilities,
the transportation issue is not as
complex. The capacity in the area
is quite enough to accommodate
shipments of potash from VolgaKaliy.
As well, whether at our Baltic Sea or
Black Sea terminals, we plan to have
sufficient storage capacity to ensure
good railcar turnaround times.
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SEGMENT REVIEW
NITROGEN

KEY MARKET DEVELOPMENTS AND DRIVERS
• According to the International Fertilizer Association • Currency devaluations in several large
• Higher-cost producers in Eastern Europe,
(IFA), global nitrogen fertilizer sales increased
fertilizer-importing countries (Brazil, India,
such as Group DF in Ukraine, had to shut
1.1%, from 107.9 MMT nutrient tonnes (N)
and Indonesia) significantly reduced purchasing
down production as market prices moved
in 2012 to an estimated 109.1 MMT (N).
power for both fertilizer and agricultural products.
below their production cost from early autumn.
Of note, the consumption of nitrogen fertilizers in
Average prices for prilled urea, the most widely
In October 2013, following a month-long
Asia, which accounts for close to 60% of global
used nitrogen fertilizer globally, decreased
shut-down, Gazprom offered a US$ 100/tcm
volumes, increased 0.4% to 63.6 MMT (N);
16% and finished the year with an average
rebate to Group DF. The new price of
of US$ 341/t FOB Black Sea;
US$ 260/tcm considerably improved the global
competitiveness of Ukrainian nitrogen producers;
Fertilizer consumption (KMT nutrients)
• In 2013 global ammonia capacity, which is
178,590
176,573
177,679
the basic raw material used in the production
• The global nitrogen market is expected to grow
28,586
28,372
28,382
of nitrogen fertilizers, increased 3% or by
by up to 2% per annum over the next few years.
40,928
40,869
41,355
an incremental 7 MMT year-on-year, lifting
109,076
107,332
107,942
global NH3 capacity to 211 MMT;

2011

2012

Nitrogen (N)

Phosphate (P2O5)

• China remained the world’s largest fertilizer
exporter, helped by a more favourable export
tax structure. The export duty for domestic urea
was cut back from 7% in 2012 to 2% in 2013.
For the year, China exported 8.3 MMT of
urea, a 19% increase as compared to the
previous year;

2013
Potash (K2O)

Despite the year starting with unfavourable weather
across Europe and North America, strong harvests
across the globe reduced pressure on global
food stocks and pulled down soft commodity prices • While several ammonia-urea projects planned
from mid-year. On the Chicago Board of Trade, corn
for commissioning in 2012-2013 saw delays of
moved from US$ 6.9/bu in January to US$ 4.2/bu
six to nine months, most had nonetheless been
in December while wheat declined from US$ 7.5/bu
brought online by the end of 2013. Major new
to US$ 6.0/bu and soybeans retreated from
capacity launched in 2013 included:
US$ 14.1/bu to US$ 13.3/bu;
– Qafco 5 and 6 (Qatar) – aggregate 1.5 MMT
pa of ammonia and 2.5 MMT pa of urea;
Soft commodity prices
– Fertil II (UAE) – (capacity of 0.7 MMT pa
25
of ammonia and 1.2 MMT pa of urea);
20
– Sorfert (Algeria) – (0.7 MMT pa of ammonia
and 1.2 MMT pa of urea and a 0.7 MMT pa
15
stand-alone ammonia plant);
10
5

Corn (US$/bushel)
Soybeans (US$/bushel)

Jan 2014

Jul 2013

Jan 2013

Jul 2012

Jan 2012

Jul 2011

Jan 2011

0

Wheat (US$/bushel)
Rice (US$/kwt)

• The global nitrogen industry continued to face
regular shortages of natural gas supply in several
ammonia-producing countries (Algeria, Egypt,
Trinidad, etc.), impeding output and restricting
export capacity. The ammonia/urea ratio,
which historically runs between 1.1-1.2x,
had an average of 1.4x in 2013.

Key nitrogen product prices (US$)

Ammonia (FOB Yuzhniy)
UAN (FOB Black Sea)
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Jan 2014

Jul 2013

Jan 2013

Jul 2012

Jan 2012

Jul 2011

Jan 2011

700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

Prilled area (FOB Yuzhniy)
AN (FOB Black Sea)

• The number of nitrogen projects announced
in North America was revised downward on
account of escalating costs and revisions
to CAPEX estimates which are being driven
higher by the boom in shale gas and oil;

MARKET CONDITIONS
The fertilizer markets had a rather tumultuous
year. Despite the return of healthy demand
levels for all three nutrients, the first quarter’s
inventory build-up limited any significant
pricing appreciation. Urea prices proved
the most vulnerable on account of record
urea exports from China where ample coal
supply and lower prices boosted the global
competitiveness of local producers. In a
positive for both producers and customers,
raw material price dynamics mirrored the
softer market conditions. Over the course
of the year, gradually weakening ammonia,
sulphur and phosphate rock prices helped
alleviate some of the margin pressure on
the producer side. Prilled urea (FOB Yuzhny)
averaged US$ 341/tonne in 2013, down 16%
from its 2012 average of US$ 408/tonne.
Ammonium nitrate (AN) (FOB Black Sea)
performed slightly better and finished 2013
with an average of US$ 288, 5% below its
average for the previous year.

+2%

expected long-term growth rate
of the nitrogen market
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SEVERNEFT-URENGOY
Capacity by product (pa)

Natural gas

1.1bn m3

Gas condensate

220 KMT

Proven and probable reserves

Natural gas

50bn m3

Oil

32 MMT

EUROCHEM ANTWERPEN
Capacity by product (KMT pa)

NPK

1,250

AN/CAN

1,025

Agreement with Gazprom
on gas transmission
from Severneft to
Novomoskovskiy Azot
in place since 2012

NOVOMOSKOVSKIY AZOT
NEVINNOMYSSKIY AZOT

Capacity by product (KMT pa)

Ammonia

1,670

Urea

1,480

Ammonium Nitrate

1,290

UAN

427

CAN

420

Capacity by product (KMT pa)

Ammonia

1,160

Ammonium Nitrate

1,420

UAN

1,022

Urea

890

NPK

460

Melamine

50
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SEGMENT REVIEW
NITROGEN CONTINUED

KEY PROJECTS UNDERWAY
Ammonia
Nevinnomysskiy

LDAN/nitric acid
Novomoskovskiy

+117 KMT

+300 KMT

ammonia production increase (pa)

LDAN production increase (pa)

US$ 0.1bn

US$ 0.2bn

NITROGEN PRODUCTS

Total CAPEX

Total CAPEX

Our nitrogen operations in Russia and Belgium
produce a wide range of nitrogen mineral fertilizers
such as urea, AN, UAN, CAN and various regular
and tailored NPK grades. We are Russia’s
only producer of acetic acid, granulated urea
and melamine.

US$ 0.06bn

US$ 0.05bn

2014 CAPEX

2014 CAPEX

US$ 20m

+US$ 50m

Incremental EBITDA (pa)1

Incremental EBITDA (pa)1

OVERVIEW
We are one of the world’s largest nitrogen
producers by nutrient capacity, producing
fertilizers and organic synthesis products.
We own and operate hydrocarbon deposits and
natural gas production facilities in Novy Urengoy
(Yamalo-Nenets Autonomous Region), the main
raw material for the production of ammonia
and subsequent production of nitrogen-based
fertilizers, and gas condensate.

Our nitrogen facilities also produce the following:
Industrial – nitric acid
Organic synthesis products – methanol,
acetic acid, butanol, polyvinyl alcohol,
methyl acetate, and paint and varnish solvent.
Industrial gases – gaseous and liquid
argon, nitrogen, oxygen and carbon dioxide,
and solid carbon dioxide (dry ice).
Others – food-grade crystallised urea,
food-grade acetic acid, commercial acetone
and flotation agent (sebacic acid).

Sales (RUBbn)
100.1

63.1
47.2

2011

2012

2013

EBITDA (RUBbn)
30.6
26.2

13.6

2011

2012

2013
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• Upgrade of weak nitric acid unit and launch
of production of low-density ammonium
nitrate (LDAN)
• Broaden product mix; increase efficiency
and phase out outdated production units

53% Completion

2

1 Assuming

full capacity utilisation of project(s),
Company estimates
2 Based on capital expenditure incurred as at
31 December 2013

■ Europe (31%)
■ Russia (23%)
■ Asia (13%)
■ North America (13%)
■ Latin America (10%)
■ CIS (excl. Russia) (5%)
■ Africa (3%)
■ Australasia (2%)

Sales by product (2013)

25.5

2010

35% Completion

Sales by region (2013)
92.5

2010

• Technical reconstruction of TPS ammonia unit
with capacity increase to 1,980 KMT per day
• Reduce raw material gap in ammonia
and increase gas to ammonia ratio and
unit efficiency

■ Urea (22%) ■ Hydrocarbons (2%)
■ Complex (22%) ■ Ammonia (2%)
■ AN (16%)
■ Melamine (1%)
■ UAN (9%)
■ Other (5%)
■ CAN (9%)
■ Methanol (5%)
■ ANF (3%)
■ NP (2%)
■ Acetic Acid (2%)

Capacity utilisation (%)
99.0

2010

94.0

97.0

98.0

2011

2012

2013

Capex (RUBbn)
10.4

6.3
5.3

2010

4.7

2011

2012

2013

2
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AMMONIA – AT THE HEART OF OUR NITROGEN OPERATIONS
When combined together, atmospheric nitrogen
(N2) and natural gas (CH4) yield ammonia (HH3 ),
the basic building block of all nitrogen fertilizers
as well as a key input in the production of certain
phosphate-based fertilizers such as MAP and
DAP. Accordingly, vertical integration in ammonia
provides us with a sustainable cost-competitive
advantage as well as the flexibility to optimise
our production chain as market conditions evolve.
With natural gas typically representing around
75% of ammonia costs, access to cheap
feedstock and gas efficiency are significant
components of competitiveness.
Over the past few years we increased gas
efficiency at both of our ammonia facilities,
Nevinnomysskiy Azot and Novomoskovskiy Azot,
and invested in the production of premium,
lower-gas-content, nitrogen products, including
granulated urea, CAN, as well as melamine.

In 2012, we secured 25% of our natural gas
needs with the acquisition of Severneft Urengoy,
and while Russian gas prices remain relatively
low, the efficiency levels at our ammonia units are
at their peak. That same year, with our ammonia
output already at full capacity, our acquisition of
the non-integrated production in Western Europe
(EuroChem Antwerpen, Belgium) considerably
increased our reliance on external purchases
of ammonia. The next logical step is now to
launch incremental ammonia capacity in Russia
or potentially in other regions with accessible
and inexpensive gas, such as in the United States,
the Middle East or Africa. Investments in new
capacity will significantly impact our nitrogen
operations and ensure EuroChem remains most
competitive on ‘cash cost delivered to’ basis.

The first of these large-scale transformational
investments involves the construction of a
1 MMT pa ammonia facility at our Phosphorit
facility, in close proximity to the Baltic Sea.
All engineering, procurement and construction
(EPC) services, and equipment will be delivered
on a turnkey basis and utilise industry renowned
technology. The first of our new ammonia
capacity is expected to come on-line in 2017.
Total ammonia used (KMT)
63,056

161,137

618,703

2,551,707

2,626,319

2,696,825

2010

2011

2012

EuroChem in-house production used

726,285
2,766,444

2013
Deficit

up to

1 MMT
of new ammonia capacity
to be added by EuroChem
by 2017-18
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SEGMENT REVIEW
PHOSPHATES

KEY MARKET DEVELOPMENTS AND DRIVERS
• Global consumption of phosphate fertilizers
declined by 1.0%, from 41.4 MMT (P2O5)
in 2012 to an estimated 40.9 MMT (P2O5)
in 2013. This slight decrease was mainly the
result of reduced demand from Asian markets,
especially India, which together traditionally
account for more than half of global demand;

• Top consumer Brazil registered a good increase
in P2O5 consumption. With domestic production
stable and demand increasing, imports grew
from 1.9 MMT P2O5 in 2012 to 2.2 MMT
P2O5. In particular MAP imports rose 25%
year-on-year;
• With approximately 25% market share, China
remained the world’s largest exporter of DAP.
For the year, exports remained rather stable
at 3.8 MMT of DAP (vs. 3.9 MMT in 2012),
and 0.7 MMT of MAP (vs. 0.6 MMT in 2012)
exported;

Fertilizer consumption (KMT nutrients)
176,573
28,372

177,679
28,382

178,590
28,586

40,869

41,355

40,928

107,332

107,942

109,076

2011
Nitrogen (N)

2012

• The limited DAP intake from India and relaxed
lower-tax window parameters in China applied
considerable pressure on pricing, MAP (FOB
Baltic) retreated 19% year-on-year to US$ 454/t
(FOB Baltic) while DAP lost 17% to average
US$ 457/t (FOB Baltic);

2013

Phosphate (P2O5)

Potash (K2O)

Jan 2014

Jul 2013

Jan 2013

Jul 2012

Jan 2012

Jul 2011

Jan 2011

• 2013 was a challenging year for the Indian
fertilizer sector. The devaluation of the Rupee,
• The main supply side developments were:
its national currency, as well as issues with the
– July – Mosaic announced an agreement with
fertilizer procurement subsidy system and the
Ma’aden and SABIC to bring into production
forthcoming May 2014 government elections
the 3.5 MMT pa Wa’ad Al Shammal phosphate
led to a substantial decline in phosphate fertilizer.
project in Saudi Arabia. With production
From over 7 MMT of DAP imports in 2010,
expected to start in 2017, Mosaic, whose
purchases totalled 6.2-6.4 MMT in 2011
stake in the greenfield project is 25%,
and 2012 and were down to about 3.5 MMT
will have the rights to sell a corresponding
in 2013;
amount of product;
– July – Ma’aden reached its designed DAP
Key phosphate product prices (US$)
capacity of about 3 MMT pa.
700
–
October – Mosaic announced it would
600
acquire all of CF Industries’ phosphate
500
400
assets (including its phosphate mines)
300
in central Florida (USA);
200
– OCP continued with the development of four
100
0
phosphate facilities in Jorf Lasfar, Morocco,
each including a 450 KMT P2O5 acid unit.
Commercial production slated to being in
2015-2016;
MAP (FOB Baltic)
DAP (FOB Baltic)

• Global phosphoric acid capacity, which is the
main raw material in the phosphates industry,
increased 3% in 2013 to reach about
55 MMT pa P2O5.
• The IFA estimates that global phosphates capacity
will reach 42.5 MMT P2O5 in 2014, with the bulk
of the incremental capacity coming from DAP.
In tonnes, global DAP and MAP capacity in 2014
will be close to 57 MMT pa and 22 MMT pa,
respectively. TSP capacity is expected to remain
flat at 9.5 MMT pa. The bulk of the increases in
DAP/MAP capacity will occur across Morocco
and China;
• The phosphate market is expected to grow 1.5%
to 2.0% per annum over the next few years.

MARKET CONDITIONS
While the year started off slowly on account
of adverse weather in some key markets,
conditions had materially improved by late
spring. On the demand side, India’s currency
devaluation coupled with what has been
described as an archaic subsidy system left
one of the world’s largest fertilizer importers
incapacitated for the better part of the year.
And while phosphate prices received some
support from the growth in planted acreage in
Latin America, the market remained otherwise
fragile given the limited buying activity from
India. Average MAP and DAP (FOB Baltic Sea)
prices for 2013 were US$ 454 and US$ 457/
tonne respectively, trailing their 2012 average
prices by 18% and 17% respectively.

NPK 16:16:16: (FOB Baltic)

+1.5-2.0%
expected long-term growth rate
of the phosphate market
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KOVDORSKIY GOK
Capacity by product (KMT pa)

Murmansk

Iron ore

5,700

Apatite (37-38% P2O5)

2,700

Baddeleyite

10

LIFOSA
Ust-Luga

Capacity by product (KMT pa)

DAP

990

Feed phosphates

160

Silamae

PHOSPHORIT
Capacity by product (KMT pa)

MAP, DAP

775

Feed phosphates

220

Tuapse

EUROCHEM-BMU
Capacity by product (KMT pa)

MAP, NP

590

EUROCHEM FERTILIZERS
(KAZ) (Sary Tas Fertilizers)
Planned development

Phase I, phosphate rock mining
30% P2O5 (KMT pa)

600

Reserves, MMT of P2O5

515

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 29

SEGMENT REVIEW
PHOSPHATES CONTINUED

KEY PROJECTS UNDERWAY
Mine pushback
Kovdorskiy GOK

Phosphate rock
EuroChem Fertilizers (Kz)

+948 KMT

+600 KMT

Apatite production increase (pa)

Phosphate rock production increase (pa)

+136 KMT

US$ 0.1bn

Iron ore production increase (pa)

Total CAPEX

US$ 0.1bn

US$ 0.04bn

Total CAPEX

2014 CAPEX

US$ 0.07bn

+US$ 20m

2014 CAPEX

Incremental EBITDA (pa)1

OVERVIEW
We mine magnetite-apatite ore, which is
high-quality phosphate rock, from our Kovdorskiy
GOK mine and extract apatite concentrate from the
ore at our beneficiation plant. We then use the
apatite concentrate output as a raw material to
produce phosphate-based fertilizers and sell
a portion of this apatite concentrate production
to third parties. We also extract baddeleyite
concentrate and produce iron ore concentrate
from iron ore extracted from the Kovdorskiy GOK
mine to sell to third parties.
Apatite (high-quality phosphate rock) from our
Kovdorskiy GOK mining facility and beneficiation
plant supplies our three phosphate facilities:
• Phosphorit (Russia)
• Lifosa (Lithuania)
• EuroChem-BMU (Russia)

+US$ 35m

PHOSPHATE PRODUCTS
Our phosphate production facilities produce
a wide range of products, including MAP, DAP,
NP and feed phosphates as well as P2O5 rich
magnetite-apatite ore (37.0% to 38.0%). Our
apatite mining operations also yield valuable
co-products. By virtue of its geological setting,
the apatite mined at our Kovdorsky GOK open-pit
is laced with iron ore and baddeleyite.
All three phosphate facilities produce sulphuric
acid, while BMU and Lifosa also have phosphoric
acid units. Additionally, the Lifosa plant produces
aluminium fluoride; a raw material used in
aluminium manufacture, glass-making, optics
and the tanning industries.

63.9

60.8

58.3

2012

2013

48.5

2011

EBITDA (RUBbn)

28% Completion

16.8

16.2
13.9

2011

2012

2013
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• Drilling and blasting operations launched
October 2013
• Increase resource base/reduce mining
raw material deficit
• Establish foothold in Central Asia

24% Completion

2

2

1 Assuming

full capacity utilisation of project(s)
on capital expenditure incurred as at
31 December 2013

2 Based

■ Asia (30%)
■ Europe (29%)
■ Russia (18%)
■ Latin America (8%)
■ CIS (excl. Russia) (7%)
■ North America (6%)
■ Africa (2%)

Sales by product (2013)
24.0

2010

• Opening of a new ore body adjacent to the
main pit to increase apatite production
• Increase resource base/reduce mining
raw material deficit

Sales by region (2013)

Sales (RUBbn)

2010

Incremental EBITDA (pa)1

■ MAP/DAP (47%)
■ Iron ore (36%)
■ Feed (9%)
■ NP (2%)
■ Apatite (2%)
■ Baddeleyite (1%)
■ Others (3%)

Capacity utilisation (%)
88.0

2010

86.0

2011

82.2

78.2

2012

2013

CAPEX (RUBbn)
8.6
6.4

5.8

4.9

2010

2011

2012

2013
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KOVDORSKIY GOK MINING: 50 YEARS – GROWING AND GETTING BETTER WITH AGE
Our Kovdorskiy GOK integrated mining and
processing facility underpins our phosphate
production chain. Boasting a P2O5 content of
between 37% and 38% with very low cadmium
content, it is also the only phosphate mine in the
world to be blessed with iron ore and baddeleyite
embedded in the same deposit. In 2013,
we produced 2.4 MMT of apatite concentrate
and 5.7 MMT of iron ore concentrate and
8,500 tonnes of baddeleyite concentrate as
co-products. While providing a considerable
credit to our apatite costs, these co-products
also provide a hedge against fertilizer
price volatility.
However, our apatite production, in its current
configuration from Kovdorsky-GOK, is at full
capacity and unable to fully cover EuroChem’s
own feedstock requirements. While we are
proceeding with the development of phosphate
rock mining capacity in neighbouring Kazakhstan
to assist us with our feedstock needs, we are
also taking steps to significantly increase

Kovdorskiy GOK’s capacity by both pushing back
the current open pit limits as well as developing
a new area adjacent to the existing open pit
which contains a mineral combination of apatite/
staffelite (as shown on the adjacent diagram) and
simultaneously bringing incremental beneficiation
capacity online.
As part of our open-pit pushback programme
we have developed mine plans and schedules
which encompass several development phases.
In 2013, we completed the first phase of our
expansion project by increasing beneficiation
capacity from 15 MMT to 18 MMT of
magnetite-apatite ore. The next phase will see
capacity expanded to 20 MMT of ore by 2018.
A third phase, which could possibly bring
capacity to as much as 25 MMT per year, is
currently being reviewed together with several
initiatives to improve transportation costs and
conveyance costs of overburden and ore to the
mill as well as improving overall maintenance
costs and reliability.

Current open pit mine

Planned mine pushback
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SEGMENT REVIEW
POTASH

KEY MARKET DEVELOPMENTS AND DRIVERS
• Global MOP production decreased 2% in 2013
to 54.1 MMT of KCl. During the same period,
total potash fertilizer consumption went from
28.4 MMT K 2O in 2012 to 28.6 MMT K 2O
in 2013. Although demand declined in North
America and Southern Asia, it nonetheless
expanded in Europe, Latin America and Eastern
Asia. In terms of MOP, the IFA estimated that
global potash sales were 53 MMT of MOP,
including 13 MMT of domestic deliveries and
40 MMT of global exports;

• Uralkali’s revised sales strategy led to a
significant drop in potash prices. From
US$ 410-450/t (FOB Baltic, spot) and
US$ 400-425/t (FOB Baltic, contract)
at the beginning of 2013, prices declined
to US$ 300-330/t (FOB Baltic spot) and
US$ 240-350/t (FOB Baltic contract);

Fertilizer consumption (KMT nutrients)
176,573
28,372

177,679
28,382

178,590
28,586

40,869

41,355

40,928

107,332

107,942

109,076

• In 2014 global potash capacity is projected to
expand moderately (+2%), to 50.4 MMT K 2O
(86 MMT product). The majority of this extra
capacity consists of brownfield expansions at
North American (Mosaic, Intrepid) and CIS
(Uralkali, Uzkimyosanoat) producers;

• Global demand in 2014 may be close to
57 MMT, driven by firmer import demand in
• While demand levels remained healthy in
the United States, China, South East Asia –
Brazil, import volumes into China and India,
and possibly India;
the two largest potash consumers globally,
registered declines.
• In January 2014 Uralkali announced that it had
– According to data from China Customs,
signed a new semi-annual supply contract with
imports declined to 6.0 MMT KCl in 2013
China for 305 US$/t (CFR). The new floor price
(vs. 6.3 MMT in 2012).
represented a 24% discount to the previous year.
– According to FAI data, India MOP imports
fell by 9% year-on-year and amounted to
2.8 MMT. Overall, potassium fertilizer
consumption in the country was adversely
affected by lower subsidies for potash
(vs nitrogen) and the devaluation of the
For the first half of the year, potash demand
national currency with the Rupee weakening
remained soft on account of India’s currency
some 15% against the US dollar.
slide and the lingering cold spells across
– Brazil remained one of the most active potash
Western markets which reduced fertilizer
markets in 2013, with MOP demand benefiting
application windows throughout Europe
from favourable crop economics. Potassium
and North America. While South America
fertilizers consumption, according to IFA, rose
remained a bright spot, overall modest
2.5%, pushing 2013 imports to 7.6 MMT
demand levels kept prices behind 2012
of KCl.
levels. Midway through the year, unexpected
strategic repositioning by Uralkali reshaped
• Global potash production capacity rose
the potash landscape. Citing lost market share
9% year-on-year to reach about 50 MMT K 2O
and declining sales volumes, the Russian
(or about 85 MMT of product).
potash producer’s abrupt exit from the BPC
marketing vehicle, which it had formed with
The main additions to MOP capacity in
neighbour Belaruskali, brought the market to
2013 were:
a standstill and potash prices went on to shed
– Canada: PotashCorp – 2.3 MMT pa KCl,
over 25% by the year end. While many potash
Mosaic – 1.15 MMT pa
expansion projects were reassessed in the
– Russia: Uralkali – 1.5 MMT pa
wake of this market reshuffling, EuroChem
– Belarus: Belaruskali – 0.6 MMT pa
confirmed its commitment to the third nutrient
– China: Zhonghang Sanjia Guiye –
with work continuing at both its greenfield
0.45 MMT pa
potash projects in Russia. At an average of
US$ 352/tonne in 2013 MOP (FOB Baltic
Sea) contract prices fell 17% year-on-year
as compared to an average of US$ 424/tonne
Total potash CAPEX (US$m)
in 2012. The spot price premium to contract
2.2 bn
prices tightened as buyers held out given the
market uncertainty. MOP (FOB Baltic Sea)
437
388
spot prices ended 2013 with an average
359
US$ 379/tonne, 19% behind their 2012
229
average of US$ 467/tonne. Spot prices for
MOP on the Baltics finished the year at around
US$ 290/tonne, or ca. 40% below their late
2010
2011
2012
2013
E2014-16
December 2012 levels.

MARKET CONDITIONS

2011

2012

Nitrogen (N)

2013

Phosphate (P2O5)

Potash (K2O)

• While global potash sales showed 10%
annualised growth in the first six months of the
year, the second half was impacted by the
market turbulence in the wake of Uralkali’s
decision to quit the Belarusian Potash Company
in favour of a volumes-over-price strategy;
Key potash product prices (US$)
600
500
400
300
200
100

MOP (FOB Baltic) CONTRACT

MOP (FOB Baltic) SPOT

We have

>900 MILLION TONNES
of proven and probable potash reserves and
are investing heavily in two greenfield potash
projects in Russia.
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Jan 2014
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USOLSKIY POTASH
Capacity by product (KMT pa)

Phase I (greenfield)

2,300

Phase II (brownfield)

1,400

Total

3,700

Proven and probable reserves

MMT KCl (JORC)

420

Ust-Luga
1,600km

UST-LUGA TERMINAL*
* To support potash exports, the Group has launched
a construction project for a bulk terminal in the
Baltic port of Ust-Luga.
Transhipment capacity

Fertilizers

5.0 MMT

VOLGAKALIY
Tuapse
Capacity by product (KMT pa)
In addition to an average
KCl content of 39.5% and
modern mining operations,
a distance of approximately
500km to our Tuapse port
facilities will provide us with
unmatched cost advantages.

Phase I (greenfield)

2,300

Phase II (brownfield)

2,300

Total

4,600

Proven and probable reserves

MMT KCl (JORC)

492

TUAPSE TERMINAL
Transhipment capacity

Fertilizers

2.3 MMT
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SEGMENT REVIEW
POTASH CONTINUED

VOLGAKALIY (GREMYACHINSKOE DEPOSIT)
PROGRESS AS OF 5 MARCH 2014 (metres)

Skip shaft 1

DEVELOPMENT

Cage shaft
Skip shaft 2
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EuroChem VolgaKaliy (Gremyachinskoe
deposit, Volgograd region)
With the cage shaft bottom cleared of water and
debris, we resumed sinking in the fourth quarter
and had progressed to a depth of -178 metres
as of 5 March. As previously announced,
the restart of sinking was delayed by several
months. Once the shaft was cleared, detailed
surveying revealed that corrections to the shaft
liner were required. These issues were inherited
from our initial contractor for the project and
included the need to remove and replace eleven
tubing rings and the concrete backing.
Work also continued on schedule at the skip
shaft 1 where the freeze wall was completed
in December. Sinking operations resumed after
extensive testing of the water and pressure
below the bottom concrete plug. The plug was
then removed and sinking operations resumed
from -572 metres. As of 5 March, the skip
shaft 1 had reached a depth of -630 metres
out of its planned -1,147 metres.
The freeze wall for the skip shaft 2 was further
developed and had achieved its designated
thickness at the time of this release. Sinking
efforts on our phase 2 skip shaft are scheduled
to start shortly.
On the surface, we saw good progress on the
construction of the main process beneficiation
building, warehousing facilities, and loading and
shipping facilities. The main electrical substation
is essentially complete and undergoing rigorous
commissioning checks prior to start-up.

VolgaKaliy CAPEX (US$m)
1.2 bn

346
286
252
166

> JORC proven and probable reserves: 492 MMT (39.5% KCI content)
> Useful life of mine: +40 years
For illustrative purposes only, not to scale.

2010

2011

2012

2013

Our strategy to become a

TOP FIVE

global producer by nutrient capacity
is centred on the development of
our two potash deposits
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USOLSKIY POTASH (VERKHNEKAMSKOE DEPOSIT)
PROGRESS AS OF 5 MARCH 2014 (metres)

DEVELOPMENT
EuroChem Usolskiy Potash
(Verkhnekamskoe deposit, Perm region)
We successfully completed cage shaft sinking
operations in October 2013 and expect to wrap
up skip shaft sinking efforts in the first half of
2014. The abandonment of the site’s two freeze
walls, which were designed, installed, and
operated by Thyssen Schachtbau is underway,
a programme also contracted with the German
mining specialists.

Skip shaft 1
Cage shaft
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Above ground, our teams were engaged in the
construction of the tailings pond and railroads.
The landscape of the site further evolved with
the erecting of the foundations for various
buildings including the administration building,
mine rescue building and permanent canteen.

Usolskiy capex (US$m)
1.0 bn
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2.
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NUMBER FIVE
globally in potash reserves
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> JORC proven and probable reserves: 420 MMT (30.8% KCI content)
> Useful life of mine: +35 years
For illustrative purposes only, not to scale.
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SEGMENT REVIEW
DISTRIBUTION

Russian fertilizer market growth

+78%
+91%

last ten years

last 15 years

OVERVIEW

MARKETS

AGRICULTURAL ADVISORY SERVICES

We have been growing together with our customers.
Our Distribution assets are there to help farmers
across the CIS improve crop yields. Rather than
simply providing fertilizers, we provide a full range
of advisory services to help promote better crop
nutrient balance.

We mainly distribute in Russia, where we sold
1.3 MMT of fertilizers in 2013, the most among our
peers. Following the collapse of the Soviet Union,
fertilizer application in the Russian agriculture
sector plummeted by an estimated 90%. While
consumption has since shown signs of recovery,
application levels nonetheless remain lower than
in other such markets. As a result, Russia has been
one of the world’s fastest growing large agricultural
markets. For us at EuroChem our task is to further
contribute to this recovery by promoting intelligent
fertilizer use for efficient and effective agriculture.

In addition to fertilizers, seeds, and crop protection
services, we provide farmers with consulting and
soil analysis services to help them increase
production yields. What we offer:

Our distribution network is an important part
of our strategy as it provides us with a resilient
foothold in one of our home markets while providing
us with substantial revenue in the same currency
as a good part of our operating costs.

In Russia we focus on the Black Earth Region,
which spreads across the Caucasian, Southern,
Volga and Central Federal Districts, and accounts
for around three quarters of all fertilizer used in
the country. In terms of tonnes of nutrients sold
we had a 22% market share in Russia for the
12 months ended 31 December 2013.

MARKET SHARE PER MAIN PRODUCT IN KEY RUSSIAN AGRICULTURAL DISTRICTS1

STRATEGY
To sell yields, not just fertilizers. Our strategy
is to help farmers understand the importance
of fertilizers and how to properly evaluate the
application patterns required for their soil and crop.

2013 Russian fertilizer market1 (MMT)
1.3

EUROCHEM
1.1

PhosAgro
0.7

Acron
0.6

UralChem

St Petersburg

0.4

Minudobreniya (Rossosh)

0.4

KuibyshevAzot
SBU Azot

Northwestern
AN
5%
MAP 15%
NPK 0%

■ AN ■ Urea ■ MAP ■ NP ■ NPK ■ KCI ■ Other products
1

Central
AN 27%
MAP 19%
NPK 0%

Pyatigorsk

Company estimates

Name of Federal District
Central
Southern
Northwestern
North Caucasian

Area Administrative
(thousand km2)
centre
652,800
Moscow
418,500 Rostov-on-Don
1,677,900 Saint Petersburg
170,700
Pyatigorsk

Nitrogen

Phosphates

Potash

2010

2005

2000

1995

1990

12
10
8
6
4
2
0

Southern
AN 41%
MAP 32%
NPK 10%
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Company estimates

Fertilizer consumption in Russia (MMT nutrients)

Rostov-on-Don

1

1.1

Others

Moscow

North Caucasian
AN 72%
MAP 49%
NPK 52%

0.1

2013

We have established a distribution network of
25 distribution centres in Russia of which six are
owned by the Group. We also own a distribution
company with four distribution outlets in Ukraine,
while sales in Belarus are supported by a local
representative office. In addition to providing
advisory services to local farmers and promoting
the efficient use of fertilizers to increase yields,
the distribution centres offer third-party seed and
crop protection products and soil analysis services
as well as EuroChem fertilizer products.

• Compound fertilizers
• Crop protection products from the world’s
leading brands
• Reputable seeds and water-soluble fertilizers
• Advanced fertilizer application systems
• Agricultural service (storage, delivery
and packaging services)
• Best practice references in
agricultural production
• Tailored approach to each customer
• Soil analysis and field mapping
• Quality service.
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LOGISTICS AND INTERNATIONAL SALES

PORT FACILITIES
> Three port terminals
(Black Sea, Gulf of
Finland, Barents Sea)
> Direct jetty access in the
port of Antwerp, Belgium

LOGISTICS

INTERNATIONAL SALES

With over 20 million tonnes of product
produced and sold in 2013, our in-house
logistics and shipping infrastructure is
vital to our competitiveness.

To better support our more than 1,000 customers
across some 100 countries, we have developed
sales and distribution capabilities which allow
us to provide them with the products and added
value services which they have come to rely on.
The bulk of our international fertilizer sales to
wholesalers, distributors and cooperatives are
carried out through our trading companies in
Switzerland, Brazil and the US.

While our logistics function is not a reportable
business segment, it is a vital component of our
vertically integrated business model. Whether
for intra-company raw material deliveries or final
product shipments, our logistics infrastructure
helps us lock in transportation margins and
reduce overall transportation costs.
Our logistics assets include three wholly-owned
fertilizer transhipment terminals, two of which,
Tuapse (Black Sea) and Murmansk (Barents Sea)
are in Russia, while Sillamae in Estonia provides
us with access to the Gulf of Finland. Also, since
2012, we benefit from direct jetty access in the
port of Antwerp (Belgium) with our EuroChem
Antwerpen production facility. To minimise
bottlenecks, we own and operate cargo ships and
rail capacity which includes close to 7,000 rolling
stock and 45 locomotives as well as EuroChem
Depot – our dedicated rail maintenance and repair
centre. The financial benefits that we extract from
these assets manifest themselves in the reduced
costs of the reportable segments.
To support exports from our future potash
production, we plan to construct a fertilizer
transhipment terminal on the Baltic port of
Ust-Luga. The terminal will have berths and
warehouses to support a transhipment
capacity of five million tonnes per year.

Our acquisition of EuroChem Agro in 2012 added
considerable depth to our global reach. With
regional offices in Germany, Spain, Italy, Greece,
Mexico, France, Turkey, Singapore and China,
EuroChem Agro provides the entire range of
nitrogen fertilizers – from classic standard fertilizers
to the composite Nitrophoska® and innovative
high-end N-stabilised products such as ENTEC®
and UTEC® which have achieved broad market
acceptance in just a few short years. Our Agro
offices market the fertilizers produced by EuroChem
Antwerpen and also offer products from other
reputable suppliers. In collaboration with various
research institutes, EuroChem Agro is developing
pioneering solutions for the optimisation of
fertilizer efficiency.
As with our logistics function, our international
sales infrastructure is not one of the Group’s
reportable business segments.

In 2013 EuroChem finalised the
acquisition of 54,613 ordinary shares of
OJSC ‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’
for a total consideration of RUB 3.15bn.
These ordinary shares represent
48.26% of the total number of the
ordinary shares and 36.20% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.
As at 31 December 2013, the Group held
36.20% of the OJSC ‘Murmansk
Commercial Seaport’ voting rights.
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

WE ARE A
RESPONSIBLE
EMPLOYER
WITH A STRONG
CORPORATE CULTURE
Sustainable development is integral to our business goal of
becoming a top-five fertilizer producer. On a global scale,
our business strategy drives yield and agriculture growth to
provide food to people in over 90 countries.
To enable us to manufacture across Europe and sell globally,
we comply with international standards in sustainable
development, social responsibility, and corporate reporting.
In line with the sustainability strategy overseen by the Board
of Directors, EuroChem’s investments go beyond business
development. Over the last ten years, we have invested over
RUB 3bn in social capital projects for our staff and for local
communities, as well as in upgrading local social infrastructure.
Our aim is to be a global socially responsible company.
Sustainability and social responsibility programmes underpin this
commitment and are critical to every project that we undertake.
Andrey Melnichenko
Chairman
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We employ over 22,000
20,000
people globally, in various
functions ranging from
extraction, processing,
manufacturing, logistics,
administration and sales.
This international footprint
is reflected throughout the
Group. We embrace the
cultural and social diversity
across our workforce and the
valuable insight provided by
the more than 50 nationalities
and ethnic
ethic backgrounds
backgrounds
present across the Group.
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STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Social

We have identified and communicate with
13 key stakeholder groups.

Environmental

Young people
Trade unions
Local communities
Federal authorities
Non-profit
organisations
Professional bodies
and universities

All engagement is recorded, along with the views
of stakeholders and action taken where required.

Regional and local
authorities
Environmental
organisations
Media

OUR VALUES
Integrity

Openness
1

1

3

4

2

INTEGRITY

> Professional standards
in all relationships
> Equal rights to professional
development for all staff
> Protection against discrimination
> Social protection
> Fair assessment of work according
to competence and level of responsibility

3

Trust

Respect

TRUST

> Willingness to delegate both
authority and responsibility
down the management chain
> Guarantee of competent management
> Strict adherence to best practice
technologies, safety requirements
and quality standards in production

During the past ten years the Company
Our employees enjoy equal conditions
has achieved impressive results in
for professional development according
the implementation of its vertically
to the principles of equality of rights and
integrated corporate management
employee capability. Employment rights
system. Our investment projects meet
and individual freedom will not be
the latest technological and environmental
restricted by discrimination on the basis of
standards, and we are always mindful of
gender, race, nationality, language, social
our impact on both the environment and
or official status, age, place of residence,
local communities
religion, political views, membership (or
lack of membership) of public associations, 4 RESPECT
or by any other circumstance not related
> For the personal rights and interests
to professional capabilities
of employees, clients, suppliers, customers
and partners
2 OPENNESS
> A commitment to partnership
> Foster relationships
and working with all stakeholders
> To encourage innovation and open
communication within the company
Throughout the Company’s existence,
there have been no incidences of a breach
Our relationships with trade unions,
of human rights or discrimination against
our honouring of collective agreements,
or by any Company employee
and our interaction with local communities
have in many cases become benchmarks
for not only the Russian agrochemical
sector but also the country as a whole

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Health & Safety

Employees
Partners
and suppliers

Economic

Shareholders
and investors
Customers

OUR APPROACH IS
ALSO DEFINED BY OUR
OPERATING PRINCIPLES
> To be proactive, competent and
in compliance with all applicable laws
in all of our markets
> To work effectively and
constantly improve our process
and product quality
> To only take on obligations that
we can fulfil
> To always respect the culture and local
traditions of the countries and regions
where we operate
> To ensure the safety and wellbeing
of all people in and associated with
the company
> To be honest, transparent and ethical
in all that we do

OUR YOUNG TEAM
TAKING RESPONSIBILITY
SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 2013

FIND OUT MORE
For more information read our
Sustainability report www.eurochem.ru/
reports/sustainability-reports
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS

OUR SUSTAINABILITY FOCUS
ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY
Indicator

Why it is important

Who has a stake

Measurement

Economic
performance

It is a fundamental measure of business health
and supports our growth and investment plans.

The Board, employees, investors

Indirect economic
impacts

It relates to our market presence and the way
we engage with local stakeholders where
we operate.

The Board, employees, suppliers,
national government, local
government, local communities

Annual sales
EBITDA
Net debt/EBITDA ratio
Ratings agencies
Level of investment
Feedback from government
and communities

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Indicator

Why it is important

Who has a stake

Measurement

Water

Some of our operations require large volumes
of water for production.
We operate complex processes that emit a range
of gases which can be harmful to humans and
the environment.
We produce and manage significant volumes of solid
wastes and effluents, e.g. phosphogypsum.

National and local government,
utilities, communities, suppliers
Employees, national and local
government, communities, NGOs

Water consumption (m3/tonne)

Employees, national and local
government, communities, NGOs

Effluent (m3/tonne)

Indicator

Why it is important

Who has a stake

Measurement

Health & safety

We operate hazardous facilities which pose health
and safety risks.

Employees, national and local
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
government, trade unions, suppliers,
management, Board

Emissions

Waste and effluent

Kg/tonne

HEALTH & SAFETY

SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Indicator

Who has a stake

Measurement

Training and education The sustainable growth of our business is predicated
on our ability to attract and retain talent, particularly
our cohort of young professionals.
Employee relations
The way we conduct our employee relationships
determines the level of staff engagement, which has
a direct bearing on all our performance measures.

The Board, employees,
education institutions

Diversity and
equal opportunity

The Board, employees, national
and local government, communities,
education institutions

Investment in training centres
Training partnerships
Teaching standards
Management to employee ratio
Employee turnover
Revenues per employee
Production per person
Personnel costs
Level of investment
Employee numbers
Percentage of women in
management positions
Variable remuneration
Fixed remuneration
Average full-time equivalent wage
Changes in average monthly wage
Levels of community investment
Level and type of partnerships with
government and communities

Remuneration

Local communities

Why it is important

We employ over 22,000 people, representing
more than 50 different nationalities. The work
is demanding and requires a high level of
co-operation and communication.
In order to attract and retain the best people, we aim
to pay wages that are above average for the sector
in each operational territory.

The Board, employees, investors,
suppliers, national and local
government, utilities, communities

The Board, employees

EuroChem is a significant employer and its operations The Board, employees, national
can have a significant impact on local environments
and local government, educational
and local economies.
institutions, communities, suppliers
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We describe and report on our sustainability approach
and activities in our separate Sustainability Report.
Key elements are described below.

ENVIRONMENTAL

EMPLOYEES

FINANCIAL DISCIPLINE

Environmental protection expenditure
(RUBbn/year)

Production output per employee (tonnes)

Net debt/EBITDA (x)

1.30
1,603

1.16

1.11

1,360

0.89

1,358

1,471

2009 2010
2.21 1.13

2011
1.35

2012
1.53

2013
2.07

1,173

Funds from operations/gross debt (x)
0.76

2009

2009 2010
0.21 0.55
2010

2011

2012

2013

Atmospheric emissions per tonne of production
(kg/t)
1.15

2009

2010

2011

2012

20,801

22,073

22,310

1.09

2009

2010

2011

2013
0.28

EBITDA/interest expenses (x)

1.16
19,614

2012
0.38

2013

Permanent employees

20,034

2011
0.41

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
8.33 14.49 15.27 10.96 7.55
Return on capital employed (%)

1.04

1.04

2012

2013

2009 2010
17% 27%
2009

2010

2011

2012

2011
33%

2012
23%

2013
17%

2013

Non-recycle water consumption
per tonne of production (m3/t)
3.30

HEALTH AND SAFETY

3.30

3.20

Lost-time injuries (employee)

3.10

2.91

50
40

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Energy consumption per tonne of production
(kWh/t)
128.30

44

20.3

21.3

22.5

22.3

2010

2011

2012

2013

36

19.2

2009

38

30
20
10
0

132.90
129.60

42

38

129.50
125.10

LTIs

Total headcount (’000)

LTIFR per 1m man-hours (employee)
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Effluent discharges per tonne of production
(m3/t)

3
2
1.11

1.05

1.17

1.14

1
3.30
3.20

3.26

0

3.12

2009
2.93

2009

2010

1.00

2011

2012

2010

2011

2012

2013

YOUNG PROFESSIONALS
We focus strongly on the recruitment and
development of talented young professionals
– the theme of this year’s sustainability report
which can be found at sr.eurochem.ru/2013

2013
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
GROUP

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2013

Revenue
EBITDA
Net profit
Cash from operations
Net debt/ LTM1 EBITDA 2

2013
RUBbn

US$m

2012
RUBbn

176.9
43.0
12.3
36.2

5,556
1,349
385
1,135

166.5
49.2
32.6
38.9

US$m

RUB
Change
Y-o-Y, %

5,354
1,581
1,047
1,250

+6%
(13%)
(62%)
(7%)

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

2.07x

1.53x

US$ figures are provided for the convenience of the reader and are not part of EuroChem audited financial statements. These are derived by converting the underlying RUB figures at the
average exchange rate of the relevant period. Average RUB/US$ exchange rates: 2013; 31.85; 2012: 31.09; Q4 2013:32.53; Q4 2012: 31.08
1 Last twelve months
2 Including estimated EBITDA for EuroChem Antwerpen and EuroChem Agro for the period prior to their respective acquisition as well as pro-rata Murmansk Commercial Seaport net income

REVENUE
Consolidated revenues for the twelve months ended 31 December 2013 grew 6% to RUB 176.9bn (US$ 5.6bn). The additional 838 KMT in nitrogen sales
volumes coupled with an 11% increase in iron ore sales volumes helped alleviate the pricing erosion in phosphates and drive the year-on-year revenue expansion.
Excluding EuroChem Antwerpen and EuroChem Agro, consolidated from Q2 and Q3 2012 respectively, our revenues and EBITDA for 2013 amounted to
RUB 135.0bn and RUB 39.2bn respectively.
Revenue structure
(RUB m)

Nitrogen
Phosphates
Distribution
Other
Total

2013

100,064
58,280
16,975
1,618
176,937

% change

8%
(4%)
(1%)
(142%)
6%

2012

% change

2011

92,468
60,766
17,138
(3,895)
166,478

47%
(5%)
23%
(60%)
27%

63,108
63,925
13,974
(9,709)
131,298

Revenue drivers – volume, prices
2013/2012
Total change in revenues (RUB m)

Nitrogen
Phosphates
Mining
Resale
New acquisitions
Other sales
Total

Volume
effect

1,110
(354)
1,739
2,066

4,561

Price effect

2012/2011
Other

(3,898)
(4,694)
1,304
(536)

(7,824)

13,071
651
13,722

Total

(2,788)
(5,048)
3,043
1,530
13,071
651
10,459

Volume effect

Price effect

3,638
1,103
(1,077)
(1,835)

4,275
(251)
(3,067)
337

1,829

1,295

COST OF SALES AND GROWTH MARGIN
For the twelve months ended December 2013, our total cost of sales displayed a 15% increase over the previous year and amounted to RUB 112.8bn. The increase
in costs outpaced the 6% revenue growth as average costs and tariffs for key raw materials such as natural gas, phosphate rock, ammonia, and energy moved
slightly higher than in the previous year. In line with the growth in production volumes, group costs for materials and components used or resold increased from
RUB 64.6bn in 2012 to RUB 70.1bn in 2013. However, their share within the Group’s costs of sales structure decreased four percentage points to 62%.
Within cost of sales, labour costs, which include social fund contributions, increased 11% in 2013 and amounted to RUB 10.9bn. Most of the rise in labour costs
was driven by a salary indexation in January 2013 combined with an increase in personnel brought on by the integration of assets acquired in the previous year.
As in 2012, labour costs comprised 10% of the Group’s total costs of sales in 2013.
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COST OF SALES STRUCTURE
Structure of materials and components
RUB m

Natural gas
Sulphur
Apatite
Potassium chloride
Ammonia
Goods for resale
Other
Total

2013

2012

2011

2010

15,305
2,282
10,178
2,507
13,491
13,744
12,606
70,113

14,663
2,828
10,705
2,868
11,621
11,236
10,632
64,552

13,619
2,964
7,566
1,295
2,990
5,296
6,871
40,601

12,006
1,499
5,442
1,038
264
2,991
5,111
28,351

Structure of materials and components 2013

■ Natural gas (22%)
■ Sulphur (3%)
■ Apatite (14%)
■ Potassium chloride (4%)
■ Ammonia (19%)
■ Goods for resale (20%)
■ Other (18%)

Cost of sales structure

Materials and components
Labour
Energy
Depreciation of plants
and equipment
Utilities and fuel
Changes in work in progress
and finished goods
Other costs
Total

RUB m

2013
% of total

% change

RUB m

2012
% of total

% change

70,113
10,931
7,995

62%
10%
7%

9%
11%
14%

64,552
9,842
6,983

65%
10%
7%

59%
22%
4%

40,601
8,064
6,694

61%
12%
10%

8,012
4,625

7%
4%

24%
5%

6,467
4,407

7%
4%

77%
22%

3,656
3,618

5%
5%

1,618
9,503
112,797

1%
8%

(218%)
38%

(1,372)
6,889
97,768

0%
7%

(52%)
79%

(2,850)
3,858
63,641

0%
6%

Despite the considerable increase in production volumes, the share of energy
costs within our cost structure remained flat at 7%. Although we registered
a 14% year-on-year increase in energy costs following the upward revision
to tariffs in the Russian power generation, our efficiency upgrade programme
yielded substantial savings. Particularly, in addition to increasing internal
power generation capacity at Phosphorit, the replacement of obsolete
catalysts at Novomoskovskiy Azot provided RUB 45m in energy savings
in 2013.

DISTRIBUTION, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2011
RUB m

% of total

General and administrative (G&A) expenses for the Group increased 20%
from RUB 5.6bn in 2012 to RUB 6.7bn in 2013. Accounting for 47% of G&A
expenses, labour costs increased 16% over the same period. Total staff costs,
including social expenses, grew to RUB 16.6bn, up 15% from RUB 14.4bn
a year ago. As highlighted earlier, the growth in staff expenses was primarily
linked to recent acquisitions and organic growth initiatives. Some of the key
ongoing projects of 2013 were the development of phosphate rock mining
operations in Kazakhstan, the launch of our railcar depot to service the
Group’s 6,500+ rolling stock, and our ambitious VolgaKaliy and Usolskiy
potash projects in Russia.

Total distribution costs ticked up 8% to RUB 25.3bn as compared to
RUB 23.3bn for the same period in 2012. Within S&D costs, transportation
expenses registered a slight 3% growth to RUB 18.6bn (2012: RUB 18.1bn).
Despite increasing year-on-year, transportation costs comprised 74% of total
distribution expenses in 2013, down from 78% a year earlier. While lower
maritime freight rates provided a 14% reduction in transportation costs,
the savings were offset by an increase in rail shipments of iron ore concentrate
to Zabaikalsk (Chinese border).
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GROUP CONTINUED

2013
% of total

% chg

RUB m

2012
% of total

% chg

RUB m

2011
% of total

% chg

18,590
–
6,671
25,261
3,148
683

74%
–
26%

3%
–
29%

47%
10%

16%
10%

18,114
–
5,177
23,291
2,720
623

78%
–
22%
100%
49%
11%

14%
–
66%
23%
12%
141%

15,838
–
3,114
18,952
2,436
258

84%
–
16%
100%
52%
6%

3%
–
31%
7%
16%
33%

118
2,760
6,709

2%
41%
100%

101%
26%
20%

59
2,197
5,599

1%
39%
100%

110%
14%
20%

28
1,932
4,653

1%
42%
100%

(15%)
35%
24%

–
839
(393)

–
–
–

–
63%
(250%)

–
516
263

–
–
–

–
15%
31%

–
447
200

–
–
–

–
7%
(196%)

(21)

–

(98%)

(1,149)

–

152%

456

–

137%

425

100%

(215%)

(371)

100%

(294%)

191

100%

1,023%

RUB m

Transportation
Export duties
Other distribution costs
Subtotal Distribution
Labour
Audit, consulting and legal
Provision for impairment
of receivables
Other G&A expenses
Subtotal G&A
(Reversal of provision)/
provision for tax risks
Sponsorships
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss
Other operating (income)/
expenses, net
Subtotal other net operating
(income)/expenses

For the full year 2013 we recognised other operating expenses of RUB 425m
versus other operating income of RUB 371m in 2012. The main items behind
other operating expenses for the period were sponsorship expenses of
RUB 839m (2012: RUB 516m) and foreign exchange gains of RUB 393m
(2012: losses of RUB 263m).
The main sponsorship expenses included
.
a new sports facility in Kedainiai, Lithuania, constructed as part of celebrations
commemorating Lifosa’s 50th anniversary, and the upgrade of social
infrastructure and public utilities in Novomoskovsk, site of our Novomoskovskiy
Azot nitrogen facility.

in 2012. Changes in these non-cash items reflect the impact of the weaker
Russian rouble on the Company’s primarily US dollar-denominated debt
which matches our mainly US dollar-denominated revenues.
Interest expenses for 2013 increased in line with the Company’s higher
debt level and amounted to RUB 5.2bn (2012: RUB 4.3bn). For 2013
we recognised other financial losses of RUB 945m on changes in the fair
value of US$/RUB non-deliverable forward contracts and changes in the
fair value of cross currency interest rate swaps in amounts of RUB 535m
and RUB 165m respectively.

Below the operating profit line, we recognised unrealised financial foreign
exchange losses of RUB 5.9bn, compared to an unrealised gain of RUB 4.3bn

2013

Operating profit
Revenues
Operating profit margin
EBITDA margin
Operating profit (EBIT) 2012-2013

13,071

651

2012
% chg

RUB m/%

% chg

RUB m/%

31,743
176,937
18%
24%

(21%)
6%
(6pp)
(6pp)

40,191
166,478
24%
30%

(8%)
27%
(9pp)
(8pp)

43,860
131,298
33%
38%

(5,490)
(2,164)

4,561 (7,824)
40,191

(1,012)

(218)

(476)

(1,789) (3,002)

(4,755)
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2013
Operating
profit (EBIT)

Other

Ch. WP&FG

D&A

Utilities
and fuel

Energy

Personnel

Materials

Other sales

Antwerpen
Agro

Sales prices

Transportation

Decrease

Sales volumes
and mix

2012
Operating
profit (EBIT)

31,743

Increase

2011

RUB m/%
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BALANCE SHEET
Working capital needs decreased slightly as lower prices for finished goods slightly balanced higher prices for certain raw materials. The Company’s net working
capital decreased 3% from RUB 23.9bn in 2012 to RUB 23.1bn as at 31 December, 2013.
2013
RUB m

Working Capital

Inventories
Incl finished goods
Trade receivables
Other receivables
and current assets
Subtotal
Trade payables
Other accounts payable and current liabilities
Subtotal
Net working capital
Finished goods, days
Trade debtors, days
Trade creditors, days
EuroChem’s portfolio of borrowings from banks remained fairly unchanged
until late August when we successfully closed a club facility for an amount of
US$ 1.3bn. Structured as a five year unsecured finance facility and priced at
LIBOR 3M + 1.8%, the facility includes a two year grace period. The proceeds
were immediately used to pay down the outstanding amount under
EuroChem’s 2011 US$ 1.3bn pre-export facility.
While the Company’s debt ratio remained well below bank covenant levels
and at all times within our targeted across-the-cycle range, the volatility in
the fertilizer markets prompted the Group’s shareholders to proceed with a
pre-emptive US$ 300m capital injection in the fourth quarter of 2013 through
the acquisition of 2.36% of share capital of the Group’s holding company.
Consequently, we closed 2013 with a net debt to 12-month rolling EBITDA
ratio of 2.07x as compared to 2.27x in Q3 2013 (2012: 1.53x). Highlighting
EuroChem’s strong product and geographic diversification, its partial vertical
integration and its advantageous position on the industry cost-curve as its core
strengths underpinning its cash flow generation, Fitch Ratings and Standard
& Poor’s both affirmed EuroChem at BB/stable outlook in 2013.
Cash flow
At RUB 36.2bn, operating cash flow for the twelve months ended
31 December 2013 remained within 7% of the previous year’s level.
Our total CAPEX spending for the January to December 2013 period amounted
to RUB 32.6bn (US$ 1.0bn), comprised of investments of RUB 12.4bn in
potash, RUB 10.4bn in nitrogen and RUB 8.6bn in phosphates. The remainder
was allocated to our distribution network and logistics infrastructure.
CAPEX
RUBbn

Nitrogen
Phosphate
Potash
Other
Total

2013

2012

2011

10,380
8,614
12,354
1,246
32,594

6,324
5,791
13,602
2,812
28,530

4,677
6,402
10,561
2,166
23,806

% chg

2012
RUB m

% chg

2011
RUB m

22,671
10,091
11,895

(1%)
(17%)
13%

23,006
12,205
10,568

54%
89%
208%

14,957
6,446
3,436

8,731
43,297
8,539
11,632
20,171
23,126
33
25
28

(13%)
(1%)
2%
2%
2%
(3%)

10,082
43,656
8,387
11,390
19,776
23,880
46
23
31

(1%)
53%
174%
34%
71%
40%

10,191
28,584
3,061
8,479
11,540
17,044
37
10
19

2013 corporate developments
In 2013 the Group finalised the acquisition of 54,613 ordinary shares of OJSC
‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’ for a total consideration of RUB 3.15bn.
These ordinary shares represent 48.26% of the total number of the ordinary
shares and 36.20% of the total issued share capital of the Company. As at
31 December 2013, the Group held 36.20% of the OJSC ‘Murmansk
Commercial Seaport’ voting rights.
On 10 July 2013, EuroChem announced its intention to consider building
an ammonia and urea production plant in Louisiana. A final decision on
the parameters and location of the facility should be taken later in 2014.
On 29 July 2013, we announced our plans to create a joint venture (JV) with
the Migao Corporation, a specialty potash fertilizer producer based in the
southern Chinese province of Yunnan. The JV is expected to bring up to
60,000 tonnes per year of potassium nitrate (NK) and 200,000 tonnes
per year of chloride-free NPK capacity online by the end of 2014.
Legal proceedings
In October 2012 the Group filed a claim against Shaft Sinkers (pty) ltd and
Rossal 126 (pty) limited (formerly known as Shaft Sinkers (pty) ltd.), (‘Shaft
Sinkers’), the contractor involved in the construction of the mining shafts at
the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit, seeking compensation for the direct
costs and substantial lost profits arising from the delay in commencing
potash production, due to the inability of that construction company to fulfil
its contractual obligations. Further details of the proceedings are available
in note 34 of the Group’s 2013 IFRS accounts.
In March 2013 the Group filed a claim against International Mineral Resources
B.V. (‘IMR’) which, the Group believes, held a controlling interest in Shaft
Sinkers, claiming IMR is responsible for its subsidiary’s actions. In July 2013,
a Dutch court granted EuroChem definitive leave for levying the requested
prejudgment attachments against IMR’s Dutch assets, while fixing the amount
for which the leave is granted, including interest and cost at euro 886m.
The court held an in-depth hearing on 21 January 2014 where it considered
the arguments and witnesses of both sides, following which, the court notified
that a final judgment is to be rendered on 16 April 2014.
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NITROGEN

Our 2013 nitrogen segment sales volumes continued to benefit from the added
depth to our fertilizer production chain. Full year volumes increased 11% and
rose to 8,217 KMT, which corresponded to an additional 838 KMT of product
as compared to 2012. While the year proved challenging for urea and AN
trading, the breadth and flexibility of our production and distribution assets
alleviated some of the pressure. The consolidation of EuroChem Antwerpen
and EuroChem Agro yielded significant gains for our more advanced crop
nutrition products. Sales in NPK, UAN, and granulated AN increased a
combined 978 KMT over the previous year, more than compensating for
the slightly lower urea and AN sales volumes, which slipped 7% and 11%
year-on-year respectively. CAN sales volumes were also strong, increasing
24% to 943 KMT as compared to 759 KMT in 2012.
Our nitrogen revenues for the 12 months ended 31 December 2013 climbed to
a record high of RUB 100.1bn, which represented an 8% increase on what was
a strong 2012 performance. Average prices for nitrogen products nevertheless
reflected the challenging market backdrop and pulled the nitrogen segment
EBITDA down 14% to RUB 26.2bn as compared to RUB 30.6bn in 2012.
Sales to Europe, which represented 26% of total nitrogen sales in 2012,
increased 29% and accounted for 31% of the Group’s nitrogen sales in 2013.
The increase in sales to Europe was primarily brought on by the expansion of

our distribution network and asset base in Western Europe coupled with
challenging conditions on the other side of the Atlantic. Our sales to Russia
increased 14% and accounted for 23% of segment sales (2012: 22%).
Urea’s relative weakness versus other nitrogen products was especially felt
in the Americas. Sales to Latin America and North America decreased 31%
and 18% respectively. Together these two regions accounted for 23% of sales
in 2013 (2012: 32%). At our upstream nitrogen operations, our SeverneftUrengoy (SNU) natural gas subsidiary provided RUB 5.1bn and RUB 1.5bn
to the Group’s revenues and EBITDA respectively. Natural gas sales volumes
increased 27% year-on-year to reach 830 million m3 while gas condensate
sales volumes expanded 26% to 141 KMT as compared to 2012. The natural
gas volumes were sold to Novomoskovskiy Azot at regulated prices less a
5% discount.
For the year, our Novomoskovskiy Azot and Nevinnomysskiy Azot ammonia
facilities paid average natural gas prices of RUB 3,966 and RUB 4,120 per
1,000m3 respectively (c. US$ 3.87 and US$ 4.03/mmBtu), as compared
to average prices of RUB 3,432 and RUB 3,594 per 1,000m3 respectively
(c. US$ 3.43 and 3.60/mmBtu) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2012.
Two natural gas price increases were implemented in 2013 in Russia.
An increase of 15% took effect from 1 July followed by a 2-3% raise
from 1 October. No price increases have been announced for 2014.

Nitrogen sales1 (RUBbn)

Nitrogen EBITDA (RUBbn)

% of
total

% of
total

48%

48%

56%

92.5

57%

100.1

45%

29%

51%
40%

62%

61%

33%
26%
30.6

25.5

63.1

26.2

47.2
13.6

2010
2011
sales to other segments

1 Including
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NITROGEN SEGMENT
2012

Change
2012-2013

2011

Change
2011-2012

100.06
(60.44)
39.62
(19.64)
19.98
26.17

92.47
(51.37)
41.10
(15.26)
25.84
30.58

8%
18%
(4%)
29%
(23%)
(14%)

63.11
(28.42)
34.69
(11.09)
23.60
25.55

47%
81%
18%
38%
9%
20%

40%
20%
26%

44%
28%
33%

(4%)
(8%)
(7%)

55%
37%
40%

(11%)
(9%)
(7%)

CAPEX

10.38

6.32

64%

4.68

35%

Net working capital
Fixed assets
Total capital employed

14.26
69.96
84.22

17.09
63.71
80.80

(17%)
10%
4%

7.75
45.57
53.33

120%
40%
52%

ROCE

24%

32%

(8%)

44%

(12%)

Staff

8,100

8,262

(2%)

7,564

9%

Production (MMT)
Ammonia
Urea
Ammonium Nitrate
CAN
UAN
Methanol
Acetic acid
Natural gas (m3 )
Gas condensate

2.77
2.41
2.63
0.95
1.06
0.43
0.15
0.90
0.17

2.73
2.39
2.66
0.76
0.76
0.41
0.15
0.70
0.13

1%
1%
(1%)
26%
40%
3%
1%
29%
25%

2.66
2.20
2.42
0.20
0.69
0.42
0.15
–
–

3%
9%
10%
284%
11%
0%
(3%)
–
–

Sales, incl. sales to other segments (MMT)
Ammonia
Urea
Ammonium Nitrate
CAN
UAN
Methanol
Acetic acid
Natural gas (m3 )
Gas condensate

0.16
1.95
1.72
0.94
1.09
0.35
0.13
0.83
0.14

0.21
2.11
1.94
0.76
0.77
0.33
0.11
0.56
0.11

(22%)
(7%)
(11%)
24%
42%
4%
12%
48%
24%

0.24
1.92
1.73
0.19
0.72
0.33
0.11
–
–

(14%)
10%
12%
300%
6%
1%
0%
–
–

Tonnes of ammonia produced per employee

342

330

4%

351

(6%)

RUB bn, or as indicated

Revenue (including sales to other segments)
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other expenses
EBIT
EBITDA
Gross profit margin
EBIT margin
EBITDA margin

2013
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PHOSPHATES

Total sales volumes for the phosphate segment, excluding raw material mining
operations, slipped 2% or 50 KMT to 2,405 KMT in 2013, as compared to
last year. MAP/DAP sales remained practically flat with a modest 13 KMT
year-on-year increase while NP sales finished the year 53 KMT below their
2012 levels. Iron ore demand remained resilient throughout the year. Sales
of our apatite-mining co-product finished the year up 11% to 5,858 KMT
as compared to 2012.
The strong iron ore backdrop lent support to our phosphate segment revenues
for the January to December 2013 period and limited the effects of the year’s
lacklustre MAP/DAP showing. Full year revenues for our phosphate segment
amounted to RUB 58.3bn, representing a 4% decline on 2012 segment
revenues of RUB 60.8bn. Phosphate segment EBITDA had a more pronounced
decline, pulled down by the lower average realised prices for phosphate
fertilizer products, particularly MAP/DAP, and finished the year at RUB 13.9bn,
15% below the RUB 16.2bn recorded a year earlier.
Our mining operations mitigated the weakness in phosphate-based fertilizers
as healthy demand from China carried average iron ore prices 3% higher
year-on-year. Iron ore and baddeleyite, which are the co-products of apatite
mining operations at our Kovdorskiy GOK mine, together generated 38% and
74% of phosphate segment revenues and EBITDA, respectively, as compared
to 31% and 51% in 2012.

50%

In late October 2013 we announced the launch of drilling and blasting
operations at our phosphate rock mining project in Kazakhstan. Most of the
major equipment items required to build the initial phase have been purchased,
including but not limited to excavators, dozers, haul trucks, crushers, as well
as screening, conveying and loading facilities. First production is expected
to come on stream in the fourth quarter of 2014. With its targeted initial
production capacity of around 640 KMT of phosphate ore per year, our Kazakh
mining project has been an important part of the Company’s upstream raw
material strategy.

Phosphate EBITDA (RUBbn)

Phosphate sales1 (RUBbn)
% of
total

The sales geography of our phosphate segment reflected the contribution of
mining co-products to the segment’s performance. The share of revenue from
Asia increased three percentage points as compared to 2012 and accounted
for 30% of total segment sales. Higher feed phosphate sales drove gains
in Europe. As in 2012, it was our second largest phosphate market and
represented 29% of 2013 sales, a three percentage point increase on last
year. Sales to Russia declined six percentage points on lower MAP/DAP
prices and accounted for 18% of sales in 2013.

49%

37%

33%

% of
total

56%
35%

63.9

60.8

48%

33%

32%

38%
24.0

27%

24%

58.3

48.5

16.8

16.2
13.8

2010
2011
sales to other segments

1 Including
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PHOSPHATES SEGMENT
2012

Change
2012-2013

2011

Change
2011-2012

58.28
(36.66)
21.62
(11.14)
10.48
13.87

60.77
(36.45)
24.32
(10.72)
13.60
16.24

(4%)
1%
(11%)
4%
(23%)
(15%)

63.92
(31.97)
31.95
(10.17)
21.78
23.99

(5%)
14%
(24%)
5%
(38%)
(32%)

Gross profit margin
EBIT margin
EBITDA margin

37%
18%
24%

40%
22%
27%

(3%)
(4%)
(3%)

50%
34%
38%

(10%)
(12%)
(11%)

CAPEX

8.61

5.79

49%

6.40

(10%)

Net working capital
Fixed assets
Total capital employed

10.40
32.32
42.72

16.40
26.60
43.00

(37%)
22%
(1%)

19.62
22.51
42.13

(16%)
18%
2%

ROCE
Staff

25%
6,901

32%
6,968

(7%)
(1%)

52%
6,776

(20%)
3%

2.37
5.71
0.92
0.85
0.12

2.35
5.60
0.91
0.92
0.16

1%
2%
1%
(8%)
(27%)

2.58
5.25
0.96
0.96
0.12

(9%)
7%
(5%)
(4%)
35%

0.14
5.85
0.95
0.89
0.12
1,445

0.17
5.29
0.88
0.95
0.17
1,427

(15%)
11%
8%
(6%)
(31%)
1%

0.17
5.47
0.94
0.93
0.12
1,456

1%
(3%)
(6%)
2%
48%
(2%)

RUB bn or as indicated

Revenue (including sales to other segments)
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other expenses
EBIT
EBITDA

Production (MMT)
Apatite
Iron ore
MAP
DAP
NP, NPK
Sales, incl. sales to other segments (MMT)
Apatite
Iron ore
MAP
DAP
NP, NPK
Tonnes of output per employee

2013
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
POTASH AND DISTRIBUTION

POTASH SEGMENT

Once our potash facilities are online, we will be one of only four fertilizer
producers globally to have a significant presence in all three primary nutrient
segments, and a top five fertilizer producer by total nutrient capacity.

The development of capacity enabling us to mine and supply potash is one
of our main strategic priorities. We are constructing mining and processing
facilities at two locations in Russia; at the Gremyachinskoe deposit
(Eurochem-VolgaKaliy, Volgograd region) and at the Gremyachinskoe deposit
(EuroChem Usolskiy, Perm region). While we currently report potash as
a separate segment, we will only generate revenues from potash sales
once the first phases of our projects are commissioned.

2013 global potash capacity (MMT,K2O/year)
8.5

PotashCorp
7.8

Uralkali
6.2

Mosaic

6.2

Belaruskali
4.9

K+S
3.6

ICL

The structural changes in global potash marketing dynamics in 2013 did
not alter the pace of our investments nor soften our commitment to potash.
Given the fairly advanced development stages of both of our two greenfield
potash projects, as well as their projected positions on the global cost curve,
the break-even potash price necessary to justify future investments is
meaningfully below today’s marginal producer level.
As we begin production and ramp-up our capacity, we currently expect to
consume at least 1 MMT pa of KCl to meet our own feedstock requirements
for NPK and other downstream premium product lines. While we have no
specific marketing plans at the moment, we do expect to enter the seaborne
market as we ramp-up our production beyond our feedstock requirements.
Nevertheless, despite management estimates and market consultants placing
both our projects at the lower end of the global cost curve, we have no
intention of being a disruptive force in the market and will rather seek to
achieve solid long-term returns on our potash investments.

Agrium

1.2

EUROCHEM1
1 Post

5.0

completion of both potash projects, excluding all other investment initiatives.

The most common form of potassium is potash, a salt mined directly from
ancient marine deposits. Potassium is measured in units of potassium oxide
(K 2O). Potash (KCl) typically refers to potassium-based fertilizers (to convert
tonnes of KCl to tonnes of K 2O, multiply by 0.6). Once our projects are
completed, we will have an annual production of over 8 MMT of KCl (or 5 MMT
of K 2O), which is equivalent to approximately 10% of global capacity in 2013.

Key characteristics
VolgaKaliy

Licence area
Depth
Licence acquired
Purchase price
Reserves and resources
MMT KCl (JORC)
Nutrient content of ore
KCl average content
CaSO4 + H.O. average content
MgCl2 average content
Capacity
Phase I:
Phase II:
Total capacity
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Usolskiy

96.9 km2
1,000-1,250m
2005, via auction process
US$ 106m (RUB 3.087bn)

492

39.8%
7.19%
0.15%

2.3 MMT pa
2.3 MMT pa
4.6 MMT pa

Licence area
Depth
Licence acquired
Purchase price
Reserves and resources
MMT KCl (JORC)
Nutrient content of ore
KCl average content
CaSO4 + H.O. average content
MgCl2 average content
Capacity
Phase I:
Phase II:
Total capacity

132.9 km2
Approx 500m
2008, via auction process
US$ 172m (RUB 4.018bn)

420

30.8%
2.20%
0.30%

2.3 MMT pa
1.4 MMT pa
3.7 MMT pa
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DISTRIBUTION SEGMENT

Our distribution segment comprises the sale of fertilizers and services via a number of
retailers located within the CIS, specifically in Russia, Ukraine and Belarus. Our strategy
to provide our clients with ‘yields, not just fertilizers’ is there to support our customers
improve yields through better crop nutrient balance. In 2013, our distribution segment
realized sales of RUB 17.0bn and generated EBITDA of RUB 683m.
2012

Change
2012-2013

2011

Change
2011-2012

16.98
(15.26)
1.72
(1.09)
0.63
0.68

17.14
(15.31)
1.8
(0.90)
0.93
0.97

(1%)
0%
(6%)
21%
(32%)
(29%)

13.97
(12.70)
1.27
(0.45)
0.82
0.85

23%
21%
43%
98%
13%
13%

Gross profit margin
EBIT margin
EBITDA margin

10%
4%
4%

11%
5%
6%

(1%)
(1%)
(2%)

9%
6%
6%

2%
(1%)
–

CAPEX

0.11

0.09

13%

0.06

47%

Net working capital
Fixed assets
Total capital employed

1.19
0.55
1.74

0.83
0.48
1.31

44%
13%
33%

0.83
0.44
1.26

–
11%
4%

ROCE

36%

71%

(35%)

65%

6%

Staff

188

186

1%

182

2%

Sales (MMT) (top 5)
Urea
Ammonium Nitrate
UAN
MAP
NP and NPK

0.22
0.58
0.15
0.13
0.22

0.15
0.69
0.14
0.15
0.21

50%
(16%)
8%
(15%)
6%

0.11
0.50
0.08
0.12
0.28

38%
38%
76%
20%
(27%)

Nitrogen

Phosphates

Distribution

Other

Intra-Group sales

External sales

161
1,955
1,717
1,086
943
307
475
25

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

2
219
580
150
67
32
–
–

338
156
–
125
0

–
125
–
1,425
–
–
–
8,219

1,842
117
307
–
141
5,851
7
8,265

128
57
8
161
–
–
–
1,404

RUB bn, or as indicated

2013

Revenue (including sales to other segments)
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other expenses
EBIT
EBITDA

Reconciliation of segment and external sales volumes (KMT)
2013

Nitrogen fertilizers
Ammonia
Urea
AN
UAN
CAN
ANF
Organic synthesis products
Melamine
Phosphates
MAP, DAP
NP
Feed phosphates group
Complex fertilizers group
Apatite concentrate
Iron ore concentrate
Baddeleyite concentrate

14

1
–
8
–
–
–
642

(499)
(218)
(606)
(164)
(89)
(33)
–
–

2
2,112
1,691
1,197
921
306
489
25

(131)
(57)
(8)
(24)
(1)
–
–
(1,830)

1,839
243
307
1,570
140
5,851
7
16,700
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SWOT ANALYSIS BY SEGMENT

NITROGEN (PAGES 24-27)
Strengths
• Diversified customer base, including solid foothold in key home markets
(Russia, Western Europe and CIS)
• Advantageous cost positioning in Russia due to relatively low natural
gas prices and in Belgium due to proximity to end-users
• Established global distribution platform in EuroChem Agro (K+S Nitrogen)
• Specialty products in nitrogen offering
• Partial natural gas back-integration in Russia
• Production flexibility helps adapt to demand and maximise margins
• Convenient logistics and proximity to own transhipment terminal
• Economies of scale

Weaknesses
• Age of equipment leads to relatively high maintenance costs and
restricts maximum efficiency improvements
• Transportation costs are relatively high at Novomoskovskiy Azot due
to location
• Non-integration of Western assets which are dependent on the market
for raw materials

Opportunities
• Further increase self-sufficiency in Russia with own natural gas
• Build or buy significant new ammonia capacity in regions of lower-cost
natural gas such as the Middle East or North Africa
• Product mix enhancement with value-added, lower-gas-content and
premium product lines
• Russian and CIS markets offer unmatched growth potential
• Supply Western European operations with lower-cost feedstock
• Further efficiency improvements through modernisation

Threats
• Import trade barriers exist in several target markets
• Gradual increase in gas and energy costs in Russia
• Falling/low natural gas prices increase relative competitiveness of previously
marginal and unprofitable producers (increase in competitive supply)
• New ammonia capacity in lower-cost gas regions (e.g. Middle East,
North Africa) may unfavourably alter the supply-demand balance in
the sector
• Impact of shale gas development on natural gas prices in the United States
and globally

PHOSPHATES (PAGES 28-31)
Strengths
• Own supply of high P2O5 content (37-38%) apatite accessible through
open-pit mining
• Phosphate fertilizer facilities located close to ports and their target markets
(Europe and Russia/CIS)
• EU-based Lifosa benefits from no import tariffs in Europe
• Absence of environmentally harmful substances in apatite (cadmium), which
is particularly important for exports to Europe
• Lifosa’s reputation as a high-quality producer allows for premium pricing
• By virtue of Kovdorskiy GOK’s geology, added benefit of iron ore as co-product
of apatite mining

Weaknesses
• Transportation costs for Kovdor apatite are relatively high for Lifosa
and EuroChem-BMU
• Relatively high maintenance costs and restrictions on maximum efficiency
improvements due to age of equipment
• Increased costs associated with the depth of the Kovdor mine as well as
the mine pushback program.

Opportunities
• Developing phosphate rock mining deposits in Kazakhstan to reach
raw material self-sufficiency
• Raise production at Kovdorskiy GOK
• Further efficiency improvements at EuroChem-BMU and Phosphorit
• Construction of phosphate fertilizer plant in Kazakhstan

Threats
• New capacity expansions can unfavourably alter the supply-demand
balance in the sector and/or compress the normally higher margins enjoyed
by integrated producers like EuroChem
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POTASH (PAGES 32-35)
Strengths
Weaknesses
• Vast reserves (an estimated 3.2bn tonnes*); estimated fifth largest globally
• Limited in-house experience in mining and lack of potash greenfield
• Close proximity of the Gremyachinskoe deposit to the Black Sea port of Tuapse mine construction know-how in the global market may lead to higher costs
• High nutrient content averaging 39.5% KCl at Gremyachinskoe and 30.8% KCl due to the need to engage sub-contractors for planning and construction
at Verkhnekamskoe
of mines and processing facilities
• Deposits are located in areas with existing infrastructure
• Industry estimates place EuroChem among leaders on cash cost delivered
to key markets curve
• Own transhipment terminal to support Gremyachinskoe (Tuapse)
Opportunities
• Become one of the leading players (up to 8 MMT KCI in annual capacity)
• Use advanced technology for shaft sinking and enrichment, resulting in
lower cash cost per tonne of production

*A+B+C1 according to Russian reserves classification.

Threats
• Prolonged, significantly worse-than-expected market conditions
could negatively affect EuroChem’s ability to continue financing these
investment projects
• Significant risks involved in sinking shafts to 1,200 metres below
surface (Gremyachinskoe), through water layers and other challenging
geological conditions
• Significant capacity additions resulting in oversupply in the industry

DISTRIBUTION (PAGE 36)
Strengths
• Good coverage of key agricultural regions of Russia and Ukraine
• Agrochemical consulting services, including soil analysis services,
coupled with high-quality seeds and crop protection offering
• Growing brand recognition associated with quality and reliability
• High storage capacity

Weaknesses
• Limited presence in certain key agricultural regions of Ukraine
• Limited fertigation infrastructure in Russia/CIS
• Traditional farmer approach to fertilizers in Russia – limited application
know-how and preference for certain traditional types of fertilizer

Opportunities
• Increase presence in Southern and Central Russia and Ukraine
• Establish presence in neighbouring CIS countries
• Raise farmer awareness of the commercial attractiveness of
higher-value-added agrochemical products

Threats
• Price regulations in Russia can lead to the contraction of domestic
sales margin
• Intensifying competition
• Currency and political risks

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 53

FINANCIAL PROFILE AND CREDIT METRICS

The major credit rating agencies consistently rate EuroChem
positively, with a stable outlook and little downside risk.

BB STABLE
from both Fitch and S&P

1.8

1.6

1.1

FULLY COMMITTED
TO CONSERVATIVE
FINANCIAL POLICIES:
> To keep net debt/LTM EBITDA in a
conservative range across the cycle
> To maintain consolidated cash balances
at the level of min. US$ 200-300m
before credit lines
> To retain a well-balanced debt structure
with comfortable maturity profile

0.7

1.2

82

1.2
91

1.2

1.5

94

99

1.7

2.0

2.2

2.1

105

111

113

110

48

42

42

42

43

38

42

Q3 10

Q4 10

Q1 11

Q2 11

52

Q2 10

68
52

Q1 10

60

Q4 09

40

1.4
97

60
20

Q4 13

Q2 12

Q1 12

Q4 11

Q3 09

Q2 09

0

Total debt (RUB bn)

Nonetheless, as we generate the majority of
profits from assets located in Russia, the Russian
country risk will likely remain a constraint on
EuroChem’s rating.

0.8

80

Q1 09

While our robust capital expenditure programme
continues to be seen as limiting a positive rating
action, the ratings agencies agree that the further
broadening of EuroChem’s product portfolio
through its potash expansion projects, and the
accompanying reduction in capital expenditure,
should support a higher rating.

0.7

Q3 13

2.0

100

Q2 13

2.2

1.3

Q4 12

2.3
1.2

Q3 12

120

Q1 13

Gearing
> 31 December 2013 – Net debt/LTM EBITDA(2): 2.07x
> Targeted aross-the-cycle range of 1.5x-2.0x

Q3 11

Our current ratings reflect EuroChem’s adequate
liquidity and moderate financial policy coupled with
healthy profit generation, which is underpinned by
the advantageous cost competitiveness provided
from vertical integration.

Net debt/EBITDA (x)

Debt mix (%)

> Diversified sources of funding
> Excellent track-record of numerous
syndicated loan facilities, Eurobonds
issues, and ECA-covered loans
starting from 2004

39%

26%

32%

4%

Unsecured club facility

Banks

Bonds

ECA

92%

8%

Long-term

> All debt is unsecured

Short-term

100%

Unsecured

> Weighted average cost of debt
in dollar terms: ca 3.0%
> Comfortable debt structure and maturity
profile with remote refinancing risk

71%

28%

1%

US$

RUB

EUR

50%

50%

Float

Fixed

CREDIT RATINGS
Strengths
> Moderate financial policy and
adequate liquidity
> Currently good cost position, owing to
vertical integration and access to relatively
cheap gas in Russia
> Strong performance and robust cash flow
generation on the back of favourable market
conditions underpin the Group’s capacity to
support ongoing sizeable expansion projects
> Credit metrics and expansion plans offer
sufficient flexibility to withstand pricing
pressure and demand volatility
> Flexibility to scale down or temporarily
delay some of the investments
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Risks
> Higher-than-average systemic risks
associated with the Russian business
and jurisdictional environment
> Large capital expenditures
over the next few years that will most
likely lead to negative free cash flow in
the medium term
> Exposure to the cyclical fertilizer markets.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Risk Management framework enables us to mitigate the
challenges that we face, based on our operational expertise
and our view of the markets in which we operate.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The risk management processes we continue to develop aim to help us better
identify, manage and address the risks associated with our business activity.
Whether these are of an operational, financial, strategic or reputational nature,
our ability to mitigate these risks is what allows us to successfully meet our
business plans and fulfil our ambitious development targets. We evaluate risks
according to their degree of probability and the severity of their impact before
prioritising them in accordance with our response strategies. Appropriate risk
response actions can vary between avoidance, transference, mitigation,
or acceptance.
Our key risks are detailed and illustrated further in our strategic risk maps on
pages 58-59.

OPERATIONAL RISKS
Unplanned production shutdowns or equipment failures
Our operational performance and financial results are directly related to
our ability to produce and sell our products. Any unplanned disruptions to
production due to equipment failures or unplanned stoppages may negatively
affect the Group’s performance. Our implementation of comprehensive
maintenance and capital repair programmes coupled with our long-term
programme of capital investments and renovations are designed to mitigate
these risks. Our risk response is further complemented by employee
technical training programmes as well as equipment and business
interruption insurance.
Health, safety and environment (HSE)
All our production subsidiaries employ environmental management and safety
systems certified to ISO 9001, ISO 14001, and OHSAS 18001.
We regularly review our HSE procedures and emphasise on-site emergency
readiness, especially in the event of an emergency situation potentially
involving hazardous chemicals or other dangerous items. We offer employee
accident insurance and we have introduced a series of HSE components
within our management KPI system to embed HSE accountability throughout
the production chain.
The importance that we attach to our HSE Policy and Framework is exemplified
by the appointment of Egor Yurkin to establish and lead a new HSE
Department. Egor brings many years of experience in health and safety
management in international industrial companies. His key aim will be to
establish EuroChem as a health and safety exemplar by 2018.

Logistics
We seek to control as much of the production chain as possible, from raw
material procurement to intra-Group logistics and production to R&D, all
the way to our customers’ fields. Developed logistics functions are vital in
minimising inefficiencies and capturing value. We produce up to 15 million
tonnes of products per year, from raw material procurement, to intercompany
shipments and final delivery; our logistical requirements are extensive and
essential to the success of our business model. We employ various techniques,
ranging from daily planning to targeted insurance coverage, to constantly
minimise the probability and possible impact of potential events adversely
affecting our ability to supply our plants and customers.
Fraud and bribery
EuroChem seeks to build its business processes in a way that minimises
the possibility of fraud risks. Our Company’s Internal Affairs and Audit units
regularly evaluate the integrity of our internal control systems. Preventive and
detective controls, such as transaction monitoring procedures complement our
risk action. Purchases are conducted through a tender process, which includes
a series of strict requirements for potential suppliers of goods and services.
Construction risks
We have set ambitious strategic development targets for the Company.
Delays in the construction of facilities or production units can ultimately erode
our competitiveness and lead to significant loss of benefits, such as we have
seen in one of our potash projects. To reduce our exposure to these risks
we carefully select our contractors and seek to control procurement and
construction risks. We have recruited experienced personnel and leading
contractors as well as taken out insurance coverage for mining, logistics,
property, and business interruption risks. These procedures have been further
enhanced following the difficulties we have experienced at our VolgaKaliy
potash project.
Financial risks
We assess and prioritise financial risks according to their impact on the
Company’s cash flows, including the possible contagion of risk situations
across the Group’s units. The prices for the majority of our products (nitrogen
and phosphate fertilizers, and iron ore concentrate) are subject to relatively
high volatility. These can be affected by various factors ranging from raw
material availability and pricing to political and regulatory changes, farmer
economics, seasonal variations and disruptive weather patterns. The main
objective of the financial risk management function at EuroChem is to reduce
the volatility, in a cost-effective manner, of the Group’s likely future cash flows
to the extent necessary for maintaining its balance sheet at a desired level of
strength (across-the-cycle net debt/next twelve months’ EBITDA ratio within
a 1.5x and 2.0x band).
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

Product prices
Out of all our risk factors, declines in either or both fertilizer product prices
and iron ore prices typically have the largest impact on our cash flows. While
the ability to mitigate these risks through financial instruments is limited by
liquidity constraints, their use is assessed by management on an ongoing
basis. We constantly seek to build on our competitive advantages and improve
our position on the global cost curve. Investments in efficiency and deeper
vertical integration coupled with our geographical expansion have provided
us with both relatively predictable and stable margins across our business
segments by spreading the risks associated with the seasonality and
cyclicality of product demand.
Foreign currency risk
Our revenues, expenses, capital expenditure, investments, and borrowings
are denominated in different currencies. While a significant portion of our
revenues come from export sales denominated in US dollars, our expenses,
excluding debt servicing, are mostly incurred in Russian roubles. As a result,
an appreciation of the Russian rouble against the US dollar tends to result
in an increase in EuroChem’s costs relative to its revenues. This currency
mismatch can significantly affect our profitability and debt burden.
We currently mitigate this risk by matching cash flows and using derivative
financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to limit our exposure
to currency fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk as a portion of our borrowings, apart from
Eurobonds and rouble bonds maturing in 2017 and 2018, respectively, and a
bilateral loan with a Russian bank, is comprised of loans with floating interest
rates. While we may occasionally enter into hedging arrangements to mitigate
the impact of interest rate fluctuations, the impact on our cash flows tends to
be limited as periods of rising interest rates historically correspond with periods
of elevated commodity prices.
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Increases in costs
Increases in certain major costs items such as natural gas, electricity, and
transportation costs at a rate outpacing increases on global markets may
have a negative impact on EuroChem’s position on the global cost curve.
We seek to reduce the impact of rising prices and tariffs by increasing energy
efficiency at our production facilities, optimising logistics with our own rail
stock, transhipment terminals, and sea-going vessels, and deepening our
vertical integration.
Other financial risks that we continuously monitor include liquidity risk, credit
risk, financial covenants and ratings risks, and material tax risks. A discussion
of our credit risk management is available in note 35 of EuroChem’s 2013
audited IFRS financial statements.
Strategic risks
We identify, assess, and respond to strategic risks through the regular
strategic review of our business segments. We classify as ‘strategic’ the risks
gravitating around and within business and investment decisions, which arise
and evolve within our regional and global competitive landscapes as in our
regulatory environment.
The key strategic risks to our Nitrogen, Phosphate, Potash, and Distribution
segments are highlighted in our strategic risk maps and table on pages 66-67.
Reputational risks
The advent of the digital world and the increasing reach of social media have
significantly reshaped the way organisations view and manage their reputation.
We view the protection of our reputation as a crucial aspect of our risk
management procedures. Risks to our reputation encompass operational,
financial, and strategic dimensions and can have repercussions throughout
the Group’s business. To mitigate these risks we rely on our sound corporate
governance and robust HSE standards. Additionally, our public relations,
government, and investor relations functions follow our unified communication
policy which is underpinned by our timely, accurate, and transparent approach
to disclosure. We have further advanced our reputational risk management
by implementing a crisis communications system, which aims to prevent and
contain reputational damage by ensuring that a situation is dealt with publicly
and in an open, timely, transparent and proactive manner.
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LATEST DEVELOPMENTS

LOOKING AHEAD

Risk management methodology
In 2013, we created a methodological unit responsible for the development,
implementation and continuous improvement of the unified risk management
system within the Group, including all of its international business units.
The Group-wide risk management methodology will be based on the
international standards, such as ISO 31000 and COSO ERM, and will
include unified policies and methods for strategic steering, risks assessment
and mitigation, communications and monitoring so as to further improve
the effectiveness of our risk management and internal controls systems.
We plan to roll out the implementation of our unified risk management system
across all the Group’s processes, including strategy and planning, operations
and change management, throughout 2014-2016.

One of our strategic objectives remains to further integrate our risk
management policies and system at every level of the Group’s activity.

Operational risks
The main points centre on the need to increase the efficiency of business
processes and reach corporate maturity. But in addition during 2013 we
conducted a series of necessary measures to improve the efficiency of our
integrated insurance programme. As an example, we have implemented
permanent storage insurance within our product cargo programme,
and we have worked with a global insurance broker and risk adviser to:

Also in 2014, we plan to implement a project finance insurance of underground
risk programme.

• Identify effective insurance claims
• Establish probable maximum loss (PML) and maximum foreseeable
loss (MFL)
• Assess risks identified by independent industrial engineers

In 2014, we plan to complete the implementation of our integrated insurance
programme system to all areas of the business, including to foreign assets.
Coverage is to include:
•
•
•
•
•

Unified insurance methodology
Evaluation of insurance and reinsurance service providers
Unified documentation procedures
Guidelines for the assessment and identification of risks
Evaluation of insurance brokers.

AREAS OF FOCUS
Investments
A key pillar of EuroChem’s strategy is rooted in its upstream operations and
we aim to achieve full self-sufficiency in all three primary nutrient segments
over the next few years, in natural gas, phosphate rock, and potash. At the
same time, we will continue expanding our product mix as we evolve with
our customer base.
Our ability to anticipate, assess, and address risks in a timely manner is crucial
to our business. EuroChem’s risk management system is key in improving the
efficiency of our business processes. Over the next few years our task is to
fully integrate our risk management system throughout the Group’s operational
processes to minimise risk and maximise value creation.
Contingencies, commitments and operating risks are further discussed in note
34 of EuroChem’s 2013 IFRS Financial Statements while additional information
on financial and capital risk management is provided in note 35.
For this purpose, the Group will make significant investments into construction
of new nitrogen and phosphate production capacities in Russia and abroad.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

OVERVIEW OF MAIN RISKS AND TRENDS IN THEIR ASSESSMENT
P1

High

N3
L1
P1
F2

N1

Medium

Probability

P2

K2
K1

N2

Low

E1

F1

Low

Medium

F2

High

Impact
Each circle represents the estimated position of a key risk as at 31 December 2013. The dotted arrows illustrate changes to risk perception over the previous six
month period. The absence of an arrow implies a stable risk perception. The table below summarises the key factors behind the highlighted changes in the risk
assessments shown:

K2 Potash prices reduction

Direction
Increasing

N3 Nitrogen prices reduction

Increasing

P1 Iron ore prices reduction

Stable

Preceding six months
Cause
Dramatic change of the market model due to
dissolution of the BPC marketing vehicle.
Expectant attitude of major buyers.
Expected addition of new capacities.
Significant increase of Chinese exports.

Direction
Stable

Stable

Stable Chinese demand.

Increasing

P2 Phosphate prices reduction Increasing

Increase in export from China.

Stable

F2 Foreign Exchange Risk

There were no fundamental changes in the US and
European economy. Russian Central Bank to continue
supporting Russian rouble.

Increasing

Stab
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Following six months
Cause
The gradual rebalancing of the market. The need
to replenish stocks by the main buyers.
The high season export tariff policy in China is expected
to be revised to incentivise local consumption. Potential
capacity additions (primarily, North American) have been
revised downwards.
Slowdown in China’s economic growth.
Dramatic increase of supply (new projects –
Rio Tinto, BHP).
– Further benefits expected from the environmental
capital expenditure programme.
– Deeper integration and improvement of HSE
functions throughout the business chain.
– Commissioning of additional water
treatment facilities.
Slowdown of the Russian economy. Increased pace
of the business activities in USA and Europe. Lower
Russian Central Bank interventions to the Rouble
exchange market.
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Code

Nature

Description

K1

Technical

Failure to meet deadlines and budgets of
Involvement of experienced mining sub-contractors.
potash projects due to various issues
surrounding logistics, geological conditions,
shaft sinking and ore extraction operations.

K2

Potash prices

Decline in price for potash fertilizers may
result in sub-optimal returns from the
potash project.

Achieve the lowest cost-delivered-to-market globally among the traditional
mining firms. Increase own consumption of K by raising
NPK capacity. Secure own logistics and shipping channels.

N1

Gas cost increase

Differential in natural gas cost between
Russian and European/US producers
is decreasing.

Upstream integration.
Deep modernisation of ammonia production to improve ammonia gas efficiency.
Launch production of higher-value-added and premium speciality products.

N2

Technical

Unplanned business interruption, including
accidents and incidents due to the age and
depreciation of equipment, breach of
technological processes and logistics.

Full insurance coverage, including business interruptions. Controls over
maintenance and repairs. Logistics management/new storage facilities.

N3

Nitrogen prices

New supply from low gas cost areas may
cause an unfavourable shift in EuroChem’s
position on global cost curve.

Cost reduction, deep modernisation and efficiency upgrade of ammonia units.
Own natural gas capacity. Branding of speciality products.

P1

Iron ore

Iron ore prices are largely based on Chinese Iron ore hedging mechanisms. Monitoring of debt levels for potential volatility
growth and represent a risk to EuroChem
in iron ore-related cash flows.
cash flows.

P2

Phosphate prices

New supply from low cost areas may lead to
the gradual erosion of EuroChem’s position
on the global cost curve.
Reliance on third-party supply of the
phosphate rock.

Tight cost control; added flexibility at production plants; increase NPK
production in line with own potash ramp-up; increase foothold in the
domestic and CIS markets.
Target reductions in logistics costs.

L1

Bottlenecks/
increasing prices

Limited fertilizer transhipment capacity in
Russia. Growth in the cost of rail and port
services. Limited warehousing capacity
within port infrastructure. Limited in-house
transportation and freight capability.
New projects/mining and
production capacities.

Build and operate own port terminals and transhipment capacity
as well as storage facilities and the acquisition of rolling stock and vessels.
Accurate planning of logistics within investment/project planning.
Automation of the routing/dispatch model.

E1

Environmental/
reputational

Environmental/reputational damages due to Measure and monitor environmental footprint and public perception.
the nature of production coupled with age of Commit funds to reduce the environmental impact of operations.
certain assets.
Rapid response to environmental emergencies – real and alleged.
Policy of openness to the public.
Insurance programme.

F1

Cash flow/
debt capacity
shortage

EuroChem may not be able to cover all its
planned investments from operating cash
flows and new debt due to delays in the
launch of projects and/or main products
price reductions.

Maintain maximum readiness to tap all possible sources of debt and/or equity
finance; extend debt maturity profile, effective hedging strategy. Study of
alternative funding options, review financial covenants, strategic partner,
project financing and other non-covenant financing.

F2

Foreign exchange
risk

Cash flow structure is exposed to the
currencies exchange rates volatility.

Monitoring of the currency positions fluctuations.
Hedging.
Borrowings in the planned cash inflows currencies.

Logistics

Phosphate

Nitrogen

Potash

Area

GOVERNANCE

Mitigation

Change
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THE STRATEGIC ROLE
The Board’s mission has always been to ensure that the Company has a solid
and consistent strategy, moves towards the implementation of its business
goals and is able to deliver value in the long term. To achieve this we know
that EuroChem’s activities and operations need to be in line with international
standards and comply with best practice, so the Board regularly monitors
the Company’s accounting, risk management, internal control, governance
and sustainability frameworks. All these tasks set high standards in respect
of the Board’s knowledge, skills and expertise, calling for synergy between
competences and talents of individual Board members.
As a Board, we have had time to build a sound understanding of our business
and industry, and develop relationships with – and access information from –
management as they work on delivering our strategy. We monitor our risks
and ensure that key material issues are assessed and managed. As a group
of individuals with various sets of knowledge and expertise, we make sure
that every director employs his or her specific approach to business solutions,
and has an opportunity to voice his or her opinion.

We are developing a strong track
record in effective governance, and
we are fully committed to making sure
that EuroChem is consistently and
constantly well controlled and
managed transparently and ethically.
ANDREY MELNICHENKO
Chairman of the Board and
Chairman of the Strategy Committee

In 2013, the Board welcomed Alexander Landia and Garth Moore, whose
expertise we believe will strengthen the Board’s competence. Details of
our Board members are available on pages 62-63.

TAKING INFORMED DECISIONS
The Board actively oversees all aspects of the Company’s activity, and is
provided with the full range of relevant information necessary for informed
decision making. The directors are kept informed – both on a regular basis and
whenever necessary – of significant events and most recent developments.
In addition to materials for every Board meeting, Board members are provided
with periodic updates from management, including management accounts,
flash reports, status updates on industrial health and safety, updates on the
Group’s legal proceedings, media overviews, information on corporate events
and reports on implementation of strategic projects. In case of a significant
event or an emergency, the Board members are the first to obtain up-to-date
information from management. The procedures for providing information to
the Board members are set out in a policy and through established procedure.
To ensure a clear understanding of the Company’s operations throughout
each production facility, Board members undertake yearly site visits at
EuroChem assets. A tour of Usolskiy Potash is planned for 2014.
The agenda for Board activity is compiled one year in advance, taking into
account the optimal cycle for reviewing recurring issues such as budgets,
financial reporting and strategy. The timing, expectations and goals of these
reviews are well understood by both the Board and management and include
detailed updates on core operational areas, investment projects and strategy.
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THOROUGH INDUCTION

LEADERSHIP BY EXAMPLE

EuroChem strives to provide every new director with a clear picture of its
business and operations as soon as they join the Board, enabling them to begin
actively participating in governing the Company according to actual priorities
and current goals right from the start. On joining the Board, directors take part
in a formal induction process, which includes obtaining background information
on the Company, studying regulations pertaining to Board procedures, reading
through background materials on certain standing items on the Board’s
forward agenda and meeting with key managers. On request, new directors
are also given the opportunity to have an individual tour of key EuroChem
assets during their induction.

The EuroChem Board has a well-established policy of leadership by example,
putting EuroChem’s values into practice as well as by implementing sound
international governance and standards. The role of the Board is to provide
robust leadership for the Company as well as clear direction for management,
to help ensure the long-term success of the Company and best serving the
interests of our stakeholders.

In addition to the general induction course, in 2014 the Company plans to
develop an integrated training programme for Board members. This will
enable them fully realise their professional potential in developing decisions
that contribute to the sustainable and profitable long-term development
of EuroChem.

Our Board sets the direction of EuroChem’s continuous development and
monitors its progress against strategy. This ensures that it is well positioned to
meet the expectations of its stakeholders, from local communities to global
capital and debt markets. The strategy is implemented by the Chief Executive
Officer and the Management Board, who are accountable for EuroChem’s
performance.

The Chairman leads the Board and is responsible for ensuring its effectiveness
by facilitating open communications, developing relations and creating a culture
of mutual respect, fostering constructive debate.

INDEPENDENT JUDGEMENT
EuroChem employs the definition of independence as provided in the UK
Corporate Governance Code and the Russian Code.
As of the date of this report, five of the Board’s eight directors were fully
independent of the Company’s executives, affiliates and major counterparties
that could potentially influence their objectivity. Their independent status is
confirmed by the Board of Directors after each election or re-election to the
Board, on a basis of their answers to a standard questionnaire of the
declaration of interests. At all times, the Directors must inform the Company
of any events which could lead to the loss of their independent status.
We expect our independent directors to help us have both a clear strategic
direction and also oversee the strengthening of our internal operations.

The Board of Directors appoints the CEO and the members of
the Management Board and determines the length of their terms.
Further information on our executive team is available on our website at
www.eurochem.ru/who-we-are/board

IMPROVING DIVERSITY
In line with our HR Policy, we aim to attract the best people with the right talent
to complement our skills, irrespective of gender or ethnicity.
EuroChem’s Board of Directors demonstrates diversity of experience, opinion,
gender and nationality. The gender imbalance in our Group remains an issue,
as it does for many other businesses within the science, mining and
engineering sectors. Nevertheless, we continue actively looking to increase the
number of women in senior roles.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ANDREY MELNICHENKO
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

DMITRY STREZHNEV
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

NIKOLAY PILIPENKO
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

VLADIMIR STOLIN
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Non-executive director since 2004.
Chairman of the Board of Directors
since 2007, Chairman of the Strategy
Committee since 2012.

CEO of EuroChem since 2003.
Member of the Board of Directors
since 2007.

Non-executive director since 2009.
Member of the Audit Committee.
Member of the Corporate Governance
& Personnel Committee.

Independent director since 2007.
Chairman of the Corporate
Governance & Personnel Committee.

Dmitry has extensive experience in
business administration, particularly in
large industrial corporations.
During his career, Dmitry has served
as the Head of Agrodortekhsnab LLP
and Tekhsnab-2000 LLC – trading
companies that sell road and
construction machinery and provide
maintenance work. He was also deputy
director of Dorstroykomplekt CJSC,
before becoming Director General of
JSC Likino Bus Plant.
Prior to EuroChem, Dmitry held executive
positions in the automobile industry at
RusPromAvto LLC, and GAZ OJSC.
Dmitry Strezhnev is the beneficiary
of 7.8% of EuroChem Group SE,
EuroChem’s parent company.

From 2006 to 2008 Nikolay was the
CFO of EuroChem, and this position has
provided him with an in-depth knowledge
of the Company’s operations and
financial management.
Before joining EuroChem, Nikolay
worked at ABB Group, holding a number
of managerial positions in Russia,
Spain and Switzerland.
Nikolay is a member of the Board of
Directors of the Siberian Generating
Company LLC (since 2012).
Does not hold Company shares.

In 1989, in addition to his academic
duties at Lomonosov Moscow State
University, Vladimir founded and was
CEO as well as Chairman of ECOPSY
Consulting, a company specialising in
HR management, motivation, and
development. He had previously worked
as a consultant at RHR International
(Chicago).
From 2006-2007, Vladimir was a
member of the Pharmacy Chain 36.6
Board of Directors. During this time he
also served as Chairman of the MDM
Bank Board of Directors. Since 2011,
Vladimir has been a member of the Board
of Directors of the Siberian Generating
Company LLC, where he chairs the
Personnel Committee.
Vladimir is the author of numerous
scientific publications in the fields of
management and psychology, including
three monographs.
Does not hold Company shares.

Dmitry graduated with honours from
Lomonosov Moscow State University
with a degree in Physics and has an
MBA from the Academy of National
Economy under the Government of
the Russian Federation.
Born in 1968.

Nikolay graduated from the Lomonosov
Moscow State University with a PhD
in Economics.
Born in 1965.

Vladimir graduated from Lomonosov
Moscow State University with a
degree in Psychology. He went on
to earn a Doctorate in Psychology
and a Professorship.
Born in 1947.

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE
Over the past 20 years, Andrey
Melnichenko has played a significant
role in building a number of successful
Russian companies including EuroChem,
SUEK and TMK. Andrey has also been
a member of the RAO UES and
TMK boards.
In 1993, Andrey co-founded MDM-Bank
which grew within ten years to become
one of Russia’s largest private banks.
From 1997 to 2001 he was the
Chairman of the Management Board and
from 2001 to 2005 he was the
Chairman of the Board of Directors.
In addition to his duties at EuroChem,
Andrey chairs the Boards of Directors of
SUEK OJSC and the Siberian Generating
Company LLC. He also holds a seat on
the board of the Russian Union of
Industrialists and Entrepreneurs.
A company that holds business interests
beneficially for Mr. Melnichenko and
his family ultimately owns 92% of
the Group.

QUALIFICATIONS
Andrey studied Physics at the
Lomonosov Moscow State University
and graduated from Plekhanov Russian
Academy of Economics majoring in
finance and credit.
Born in 1972.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board composition saw a few
changes in 2013. As indicated above,
two of the current members joined the
Board in late 2013 (Alexander Landia
and Garth Moore were elected to the
Board at the 12 December 2013 EGM).
George Cardona, Keith Jackson and
Richard Sanders left the Board in 2013.
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Changes in Board membership mainly
arise from the Corporate Governance
and Personnel Committee’s consistent
efforts to renew the Board structure and
attract Directors with the competence
and experience to precisely match the
Company’s goals in its phase of active
growth and changes to its business model.

The Board wishes to expresses its
sincere gratitude to the Directors,
who have completed their work for
EuroChem and contributed to the
Company’s development.
As of 31.12.2013, five out of eight Board
members were fully independent, and
seven out of eight are non-executive.
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RICHARD SHEATH
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

ALEXANDER LANDIA
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

GARTH MOORE
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

ANDREA WINE
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Independent director since 2007.
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Independent director since
12.12.2013. Member of the
Strategy Committee.

Independent director since
12.12.2013. Member of the
Strategy Committee.

Independent director since 2012.
Member of the Corporate Governance
& Personnel Committee.

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE
Richard has extensive experience
in internal control, risk management
and reporting. He is a director and
co-founder of Independent Audit Limited,
specialising in corporate governance.
Richard advises the boards of companies
in the UK and internationally on all
aspects of governance with a particular
focus on audit and risk committees,
risk governance, control culture and
corporate reporting.
Richard was formerly a partner at
PricewaterhouseCoopers and worked in
Russia for six years consulting in the
field of risk management. He started his
professional career at the Bank of
England (Bank of England) and the
Ministry of Finance (HM Treasury).
Richard is a member of the Board of
Directors of SUEK OJSC.
Does not hold Company shares.

Between 1993-2001, Alexander worked
for Dresdner Bank AG in Frankfurt and
left as First Vice President Oil & Gas
Global Debt.
Until 2004 – as a partner of Accenture
– he was General Director of Accenture
Russia, and was subsequently appointed
Global Gas Lead Partner.
Between 2006 and 2010 Alexander
was the Chairman of the SUEK Board
of Directors. Russian Association of
Independent Directors elected him as the
Chairman of the Board of Directors 2007.
Currently Alexander is a Director of
Lambert Energy Advisory Ltd. (UK, since
February 2007), the Mobility House
(Switzerland, since 2011), Barloworld
Ltd. (South Africa, since 2013), SUEK
(since 2006). He is a co-founder and
Managing Director of Bernotat & Cie.
(Germany, since 2011).
Does not hold Company shares.

Following 42 years in the mining industry,
Garth retired in July 2012 from his
position as President, PCS Potash,
a division of Potash Corporation of
Saskatchewan Inc. Prior to his appointment
in 1997, he was Senior Vice President of
Technical Services for the Corporation.
Joining PCS in 1982, Garth held senior
mine operating positions including General
Manager at both the Rocanville and
Lanigan Operations. Prior to this, he held
various positions with Noranda Inc.,
Central Canada Potash and International
Minerals and Chemicals Corporation.
He is a past director of Arab Potash
Company, the Canadian Environmental
Technology Advancement Corporation,
past Chairman and director of the
Saskatchewan Potash Producers
Association, and past President and
director of the Saskatchewan Mining
Association.
He is currently a member of the
Association of Professional Engineers
and Geoscientists of Saskatchewan
and the Canadian Institute of Mining,
Metallurgy and Petroleum.
Does not hold Company shares.

Andrea is a private investor and capital
raiser in international markets for
early-stage Israeli technology companies.
She chairs the Board of Directors
of Orpheus Medical Ltd, a start-up
company in the field of medical IT/VOD
and is on the Advisory Board of
Saferplace Ltd (automated traffic
enforcement solutions) and Algovalue
Ltd (fintech tools for valuation of private
company equity).
From 2003-2008, Andrea was a Partner
with Amrop Russia, one of Moscow’s
leading executive search firms, and
specialised in Board of Directors and
C-level appointments.
Before that Andrea was a Partner of
TASA, a global search firm, and member
of the Board of Directors at the time
of the firm’s sale to TMP Worldwide
(today Monster Worldwide), a
NASDAQ-quoted company.
During her years with TASA/TMP,
Andrea was Managing Partner of various
offices in Europe and South America.
After the acquisition, she was also
involved in M&A activity in both regions.
Does not hold Company shares.

Richard graduated with honours from the
University of York (UK) with a Bachelor of
Arts degree in history and has an MBA
from the City University (London).
Born in 1962.

Alexander graduated from Tbilisi State
University with honours, and holds a
degree of Dr.Rer.Nat. (Candidate’s
Degree) in Mathematics from Minsk
Institute of Mathematics.
Born in 1962.

Garth graduated from the University of
Saskatchewan with a Bachelor of
Science degree in Mining Engineering in
1970. He also completed the Columbia
Senior Executive Program at Columbia
Business School in 1997.
Born in 1948.

Andrea graduated with honours from
Tufts University (US) and has an MBA
from Stanford Business School (US)
as well as an MA from the Stanford
Food Research Institute.

THREE BOARD COMMITTEES

Board experience

Board composition

Board diversity

QUALIFICATIONS

• Audit
• Strategy
• Corporate Governance
& Personnel

■ Financial
■ Mining
■ Chemicals
■ HR
■ Risk and

■ Executive
■ Non-executive
■ Independent

■ Male
■ Female

compliance
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MANAGEMENT BOARD

DMITRY STREZHNEV
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CLARK DILLON BAILEY
MINING DIRECTOR

VALERY ROGALSKIY
SALES DIRECTOR

ALEXANDER TUGOLUKOV
MINERAL FERTILIZER
DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE
Dmitry has extensive experience in
business administration, particularly
in large industrial corporations.
During his career, Dmitry has served as
the Head of Agrodortekhsnab LLP and
Tekhsnab-2000 LLC – trading
companies that sell road and
construction machinery and provide
maintenance work. He was also deputy
director of Dorstroykomplekt CJSC,
before becoming Director General of
JSC Likino Bus Plant.
Prior to EuroChem, Dmitry held executive
positions in the automobile industry at
RusPromAvto LLC, and GAZ OJSC.
Dmitry is a member of the Board of
Directors of SUEK OJSC.

Clark is responsible for EuroChem’s
mining activities, which currently include
the Kovdorskiy GOK phosphate rock and
iron ore mining facility, the development
of our two potash deposits in Russia and
a phosphate rock project in Kazakhstan.
Prior to EuroChem, Clark worked at
PotashCorp as Senior Vice President,
Projects and Technical Services from
2007 to 2012, as well as Director &
General Manager – Capital Projects
(PCS Nitrogen) and Vice President,
Operations (PCS Nitrogen). Prior to
his 16 years at PotashCorp, Clark
spent 15 years at Fish Engineering
& Construction Inc.

Valery has worked in the fertilizer
business since 1992 and during this time
has been based in Cyprus, the UK and
the Netherlands as well as in Russia.
From 1996 to 2002 he worked as
Commercial Director of V.T.I. Group,
a fertilizer production, transport and
distribution business. Before becoming
Sales Director, Valery was Head of the
Fertilizer Sales Department.

From 1984 to 1994 Alexander worked at
Gorlovka JSC Concern Stirol in Ukraine,
where he held positions ranging from
Engineer to Deputy Engineering Director.
In 1994 he was appointed Engineering
Director and later Chief Vice-President
for Technology Development at Stirol,
which became one of the leading
Ukrainian producers of nitrogen.
Does not hold Company shares.

Does not hold Company shares.

Does not hold Company shares.

Dmitry Strezhnev is the beneficiary
of 7.8% of EuroChem Group SE,
EuroChem’s parent company.

QUALIFICATIONS
Dmitry graduated with honours from
Lomonosov Moscow State University
with a degree in Physics and has an
MBA from the Academy of National
Economy under the Government of
the Russian Federation.

Clark is a mechanical engineer, a
graduate of the University of Texas
at Austin and a member of the
American Society of Mechanical
Engineers (ASME).
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Valery graduated from the Moscow
Power Engineering Institute, Faculty of
Automation and Computer Engineering
with a degree in Applied Mathematics.

Alexander graduated from the
Dnipropetrovsk Institute of Chemistry
and Technology with a degree in
Inorganic Matter Engineering and
Technology. During his career he has
earned the title ‘Honoured Ukrainian
Chemist,’ in addition to a Rank II
Medal for Service to the Russian
Chemical Industry.

GOVERNANCE

STRATEGIC REPORT

IGOR NECHAEV
LOGISTICS DIRECTOR

ANDREY ILYIN
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IGOR SCHELKUNOV
ADMINISTRATIVE DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE
From 1988 to 1995 Igor served in the
Armed Forces of the Russian Federation,
and from 1995 to 2005 he was employed
at Severstal, where he worked his way
up from a specialist in the Foreign
Relations Department of the Sales
Directorate to Commercial Director.
From 2002 to 2006 Mr Nechaev was
a member of the Board of Directors of
Severstal, and from 2008 to 2010 he
was Chairman of the Board of Directors
of Severstal Vtorchermet and
Severo-Zapad Ogneupor.

In 1993 Andrey started his career
with Price Waterhouse in Moscow.
From 1997 to 2004 he worked in
London-based investment bank Nomura
International, and later in Sindicatum Ltd,
where he had equity research and
investment banking responsibilities.
Before joining EuroChem he was the
CFO of MDM Bank in Moscow.
Does not hold Company shares.

Igor joined EuroChem in 2005 as deputy
administrative director and ran the
department for HR policies. Igor
accumulated many years of experience
at Yuganskneftegaz, a prominent
Russian oil company. In 1988, he began
his career as an oil and gas production
operator, later taking on various
management responsibilities in different
divisions within the company. From 1997
to 2005 he was responsible for the
company’s HR policy, first as division
head and later as the deputy head of the
HR department and then HR Director.

Does not hold Company shares.
Does not hold Company shares.

QUALIFICATIONS
In 1988 Igor graduated from
Cherepovets Higher Military Engineering
School of Radio Electronics. In 2006 he
received an MBA from Northumbria
University Business School (Newcastle,
UK). Mr Nechaev is holder of the
Academician Bardin Award for his
work ‘The Use of Converter Steel
for Production of Cast Sections in
Electric-Furnace Steelmaking Shop’.

Andrey graduated with honours from
the Faculty of International Economic
Relations of the Finance Academy of
the Russian Federation. He also holds a
Certificate with honours in International
Banking and Finance from London
School of Economics. He is a Chartered
Accountant (ACCA, UK).

Igor graduated from the Tyumen Industrial
Institute with a degree in technology
and integrated mechanisation of the
development of oil and gas deposits.

Our Management
Board answers
some of the year’s
most frequently
asked questions
on page 22-23.
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OUR APPROACH TO GOVERNANCE

We have a sound system in place to
help us anticipate, assess and mitigate risks,
whilst pursuing strategic initiatives focused
on driving stakeholder returns.
BOARD PRIORITIES
The Board’s primary activities include:
> Developing strategic long-term vision
and corresponding goals
> Reviewing management performance
against these goals
> Approving KPIs and key functions
> Exercising oversight of control and risk
management procedures
> Considering opportunities proposed
by management
> Guiding EuroChem’s senior management
and advising on key strategic decisions

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Company’s highest-ranking governance body is the General Meeting of
Shareholders (GM). The Board of Directors reports directly to the GM. The
primary focus of the Board itself is to steer and support the Company’s
strategic development, with an emphasis on oversight in the implementing of
strategic initiatives.
In accordance with Russian law, the Board of Directors is elected annually by
the GM for a term of one year. The Board of Directors appoints the General
Director and the Management board and determines the length of their terms.
These executive bodies report directly to the Board of Directors, which is
represented by the Chairman. The Board is also responsible for considerations
relating to compliance with the UK and Russian Corporate Governance codes.
The Board of Directors works to a forward agenda that is updated annually.
The schedule for a year includes six joint-presence meetings covering the
issues that require substantive discussion. When necessary, additional
meetings are held either by conference call or, for procedural issues, by
absentee vote.
The Board considers all issues that are referred to it by law and the Company
Charter. This includes key decisions for the production companies and
exercising oversight down through the management structure.
The Corporate Secretary oversees all preparations for Board and committee
meetings. All documentation for the Board of Directors and Board committees
is prepared in both Russian and English, and synchronized interpretation is
provided at meetings. These efforts allow each director to express their own
opinion in his or her preferred language while putting aside any risk of
misunderstandings.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
A company that holds business interests beneficially for Andrey Melnichenko
and his family ultimately owns 92.2% of EuroChem Group SE, which owns
87.36% of EuroChem MCC. Dmitry Strezhnev, Chief Executive Officer of
EuroChem MCC, is the beneficiary of the remaining 7.8% of EuroChem Group SE.

CHARTERED CAPITAL
EuroChem MCC, OJSC chartered capital equals RUB 6,800,000,000
(six billion eight hundred million). The EuroChem MCC, OJSC chartered
capital has been divided into 68,000,000 (sixty eight million) common
shares with a par value of RUB 100 (one hundred) each.

BOARD COMPOSITION
As of the beginning of the year, the Board consisted of eight members:
Andrey Melnichenko, Andrea Wine, Keith Jackson, George Cardona,
Nikolay Pilipenko, Vladimir Stolin, Dmitry Strezhnev and Richard Sheath.
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EUROCHEM SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31.12.2013
Shares
Share capital
No.
%

EuroChem Group SE
EuroChem Capital Management LTD

59,401,991
8,598,009

At the Annual General Meeting of shareholders in June 2013, six directors
were re-elected to the Board: Andrey Melnichenko, Andrea Wine,
Nikolay Pilipenko, Vladimir Stolin, Dmitry Strezhnev, and Richard Sheath.
An extensive search for new directors demonstrating the appropriate set of
skills and experience was conducted to enhance the Board’s expertise as
well as provide balance with respect to the variety of knowledge required for
optimal performance.

87.36
12.64

As at 31.12.2012
Shares
Share capital
No.
%

60,187,605
7,812,395

88.51
11.49

The Committees perform detailed analysis of issues under the responsibility
of the Board of Directors according to their specific terms of reference
and competence. Thorough consideration of matters arising ensures that
all the issues requiring the Board’s attention will be subject to scrutiny.
The Committees report back to the Board on issues that they feel need
to be brought to its attention, or decided at Board level.

Two candidates, Alexander Landia and Garth Moore, were elected to the Board
on 12 December 2013, alongside Andrey Melnichenko, Andrea Wine, Nikolay
Pilipenko, Vladimir Stolin, Dmitry Strezhnev, and Richard Sheath, who were
all re-elected.

The Board familiarises itself with the work of the Committees through planning
(using approved annual plans by the Board and the Committees). Additionally,
Committees provide recommendations throughout the year on issues that fall
within their competence. The Reports of the Committees are provided as
material for the annual report.

Thus, as of 31 December 2013, EuroChem’s Board of Directors comprised
Andrey Melnichenko, Dmitry Strezhnev, Andrea Wine, Nicholai Pilipenko,
Vladimir Stolin, Richard Sheath, Garth Moore and Alexander Landia.
For more about our Board of Directors, see pages 62-63.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP, COMMITTEES, AND ATTENDANCE

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2013, the Board held six meetings in person and 16 meetings in absentia.
The average member participation at these meetings was 100%.

The work of the Executive Board is made transparent to the Board of Directors
through reports distributed to all Directors.

Since 2005, the Board of Directors has had three committees: the Audit
Committee, the Strategy Committee, and the Corporate Governance
& Personnel Committee.
Board attendance

Director

Chairman
Andrey Melnichenko
Executive director
Dmitry Strezhnev
Non-executive directors
George Cardona2
Nikolay Pilipenko
Independent non-executive directors
Richard Sheath
Vladimir Stolin
Andrea Wine
Garth Moore1
Alexander Landia1
Keith Jackson3
Richard Sanders4

Attended/
held in 2013*

Committee attendance (meetings and teleconferences)
Corporate
Governance
Audit
and Personnel
Strategy

In person

In absentia

22/22

6/6

16/16

–

–

6/6

21/22

6/6

15/168

–

–

–

2/2
22/22

–
6/6

2/2
16/16

–
11/11

–
7/7

–
3/35

22/22
22/22
22/22
2/2
2/2
9/9
7/7

6/6
6/6
6/6
1/1
1/1
2/2
2/2

16/16
16/16
16/16
1/1
1/1
7/7
5/5

11/11
–
–
–
–
5/5
–

–
7/7
7/7
–
–
–
2/2

–
–
–
1/16
4/47
2/2
2/2

*participated in/could have participated in, given his or her tenure period
1 elected to the Board on 12 December 2013
2 resigned from the Board on 25 February 2013
3 resigned from the Board on 20 June 2013, stepped down from the Audit Committee and the Strategy Committee as well
4 elected to the Board on 25 February 2013, resigned from the Board on 20 June 2013; was a member of the Strategy
Committee and Corporate Governance & Personnel Committee during his tenure
5 appointed to the Strategy Committee on 21 June 2013, stepped down on 13 December 2013
6 appointed to the Strategy Committee on 13 December 2013
7 appointed to the Strategy Committee on 21 June 2013 as an external expert, then re-appointed as a Board member
on 13 December 2013 after his election to the Board on 12 December 2013
8 Dmitry Strezhnev did not participate in one meeting in absentia to avoid a conflict of interest
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OUR APPROACH TO GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

2013 BOARD AGENDA
Key agenda items discussed by the Board of Directors during the year included:
Theme

Agenda items

Strategy and
development

• EuroChem’s 2013-2017 general strategy and business valuation
• Segment and divisional strategies for 2014-2018:
– Development of Oil & Gas segment strategy
– Development of the mining division strategy
– Development of the mineral fertilizers division strategy
– Development of the Sales & Marketing development strategy
– Development of the Distribution strategy
– Development of the strategy for non-core assets
– Development of the IT segment
• Development of measures to improve the Group’s operating efficiency, optimise investment and contain costs.
Company
• Results of operations as of the last period preceding the Committee meetings and year-to-date
performance review • Status updates on investment projects
Investment activity • Complement the investment process with additional components designed to further link the management and reporting of large
investment projects with strategic and annual planning exercises
• Expansion of resource base
• Port facilities: investments and development
• International projects and M&A activity
• Analyse specific initiatives
• Approval of large-scale projects aimed at modernisation of the Group’s existing production facilities, or related to construction
of new production facilities
• Participation or increasing the Company’s stake in the equity capital of commercial organisations
Contemplated
• Elaborate new economic model for the Company’s operating divisions
reorganisation
• Review of the new business planning model
of the Company
• Review of the business operational model for 2014-2018
• Proposed changes to the management structure
• Reorganising the control functions and business processes
• Reorganising the Commercial Bloc’s business processes in 2014-2018
• Reorganising the Company’s functional management and business support unit
• EuroChem Group’s target legal structure
Financial reporting • Review and approval of annual and interim consolidated financial statements and auditor’s reports on the results of reviews
and budgeting
• Review of the 2013 budget execution of the Group and its subsidiaries based on the results of 1H2013 and budget review for
the second half of the year
• Review and approval of the 2014 consolidated budget for the Group and its subsidiaries
Risk management
• Development of the Company’s internal control system
and internal control
Financing
• Approval of financing transactions
Industrial and
• HSE status updates
environmental safety • Development of the HSE functions
HR and motivation
• Evaluation and targets for top management
• Developing long-term incentives linked to project implementation
• Updating the list of positions on the Board’s required-approval list for which the Board must approve issues concerning hiring,
termination, remuneration and incentives
• Key appointments within the new organisational structure
• Review of top management remuneration at EuroChem and its subsidiaries
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Theme

Agenda items

Corporate
governance

• AGM and relevant preparations: search and review of candidates for the EuroChem Board of Directors and Revision
Commission, pre-approval of the Company’s 2012 Annual Report notice of extraordinary general meetings of shareholders
• Election of the Chairman of the Board, defining Committee membership, review and confirmation of the independent
status of directors
• Assessment of the Board’s performance
• Stakeholder consultation to establish target profiles for new members of the Board of Directors as well as provide support
in the search and selection process
• Approval of interested party transactions, such as for liability insurance for directors and officers of the Company
and for voluntary medical insurance
• Approval of the report on potential conflicts of interests at CEO level
• Participation in the National Movement for Conservation Agriculture
• Exercising the Company’s shareholder rights in Lifosa, Phosphorit, Nevinnomyssky Azot, Novomoskovskiy Azot, Kovdorskiy GOK,
EuroChem-BMU, EuroChem-VolgaKaliy, and Eurochem-Usolskiy Potash Complex)
• Establish a new planning method to better link the Board’s agenda to Company priorities, approval of the Board and Committees’
forward agenda for 2014
• Review of current practices and policies in a number of areas including information disclosure at Board level
• Approve auditor candidates for IFRS and RAS reporting, setting auditor fees
• Oversight of the preparation of the 2012 Annual Report

AREAS OF FOCUS FOR 2014
In 2014, the Board will continue to monitor issues related to health, safety and
environment (HSE), both with regard to further developing the HSE function
within the Company and overseeing current matters (every joint-presence
Board meeting starts with the consideration of the HSE status report).
HSE targets have been included in the key KPIs for executives and employees
in 2014.

The following items are up for consideration in 2014:
• The Company’s new economic model: pricing, the structure of financial
accounting centres, cost and capital allocation
• Strategic planning within the new economic model (such as long-term
requirements, planning with a breakdown of cost centres, aligning
investments with cost centres, automation issues)

Development of the HSE function in 2014 will involve monitoring the
• The target state of and plans for reorganising the Sales, Logistics,
implementation of the company-wide project aimed at improving the status of
and Purchasing business processes
industrial health and safety and environmental protection, preventing workplace
incidents and increasing awareness among workers at all levels. Also, HSE
• Incentives programme and regular status updates for the project to develop
function development will require approval of the new HSE Policy.
the Company’s management system
As we see our business expanding and the geographical scope of our
operations widening, we have started a comprehensive reorganisation of
the Company to improve its business model, making it more sustainable within
a dynamic international environment. In 2013, the Board of Directors approved
the first milestones of the project to develop the Company’s management
system through re-engineering its business processes. It is planned that this
project will require substantial attention from the Board and its Committees
in 2014.

• Methodological issues related to the new economic model, such as target
budget format (budgeting on the level of financial accounting centres), and
investment project management
• The Group’s legal reorganisation.
A significant share of the Board’s resources will continue to focus on strategic
planning. With the Company’s plans to introduce five divisions based on
business segments, long-term business plans will be considered within the
respective divisional strategies. The following strategic items are planned
for consideration:
• Review of development strategies for five divisions/segments: Mining,
Mineral Fertilizer Production, Oil & Gas, Logistics and Sales
• Evaluation of EuroChem’s business and the Group’s general development
strategy for 2014-2018
• Review of IT strategy
• Development strategy for non-core assets
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OUR APPROACH TO GOVERNANCE CONTINUED

The Board will continue to review budgeting and cash flow, including the review REMUNERATION
of budget execution after 1H2014, and approval of the 2015 budget
Issues concerning Board member remuneration are referred to the General
(consolidated budget, investment budget, Board budget).
Meeting of Shareholders. Remuneration is fixed and adjusted according to
Committee memberships and Chairmanships; however, as set out in the Board
With regard to reporting, in 2014 the Board plans to consider, both external
Member Remuneration Regulations, only non-executive directors are entitled
reporting (consolidated financial reports, annual and CSR reports for 2013)
to remuneration.
and internal reports (management accounts, flash reports, HSE status reports,
reports on strategic investment projects implementation etc). Oversight of
The total amount of remuneration paid to Board members for their performance
internal reporting helps the Board to stay up to date on key aspects of the
in 2013 amounted to RUB 38.5m, including RUB 2.3m in compensation for
Company’s activity.
work-related expenses.
The Board will continue to monitor HR-related matters, especially with regard
to senior management, whose positions are on the Board’s required-approval
list. The Board will continue to control the incentive programmes for top
management to implement strategic projects. Moreover, the Board will track
individual target achievements of top managers as well as set targets for 2015.
In the framework of the project to develop the Company’s management
system, and in light of the contemplated introduction of divisional structure,
the Board will likely be involved in approval of appointments of upper-tier
management for key divisional positions, such as the Head of Oil & Gas.
Within the terms of reference related to corporate governance procedures,
the Board plans to consider the following:
• Exercising shareholder rights in managed companies: allocation of profits,
external auditor appointments
• D&O liability insurance for EuroChem Board members and officers
• Approval of a transaction with interest on the part of the members of the
Board of Directors
• Calling the AGM and respective preparations: review of the 2013 RAS
reports, dividend recommendations, Board and Revision Commission
nominations, Auditor candidates, and pre-approval of the 2013
Annual Report. Candidates to the Company’s Board of Directors
and Revision Commission
• Election of the Chairman of the Board, defining Committee membership,
review and confirmation of the independent status of directors;
• Assessment of the Board’s performance
• The Board and Committee’s 2015 agenda harmonised with the
Company’s priorities
• Setting the Auditor’s fee
• Providing recommendations to the management bodies of Group companies.
In addition to individual site visits, the Board of Directors plans to tour
EuroChem Usolskiy Potash in 2014.
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Directors’ remuneration, payment procedures and expenses compensation
criteria are subject to the Board Member Remuneration Regulations,
which were approved at the General Meeting on 25 February 2009.

Total remuneration paid to the members of the Board
Total compensation for work-related expenses

2013
RUBm

2012
RUBm

36.2
2.3

33.8
2.1

DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors recommends dividend payments taking into account the
long-term development of the Company and interests of the shareholders.
At the Annual General Meeting on 20 June 2013, it was agreed that the
recorded profit of RUB 20,591,476,000 would be retained by the Company.
The history of dividend payments and the company’s dividend policy
can be found on our website at
www.eurochem.ru/who-we-are/corp-gov/dividends/
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OUR COMMITTEES
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of EuroChem has the following key responsibilities:
• to oversee the quality of the financial reporting process, including assessing
the integrity and reliability of the financial information disclosed about
the Company, and to liaise with the external auditor and to assess the
effectiveness of the audit process
• to monitor the status and ensure appropriate development of the risk
management and internal control system
• to guide internal audit work, reviewing audit findings and assessing
the effectiveness of the internal audit function

Over recent years we have achieved
a lot in moving to world class reporting
both in the timing and quality of our
financial accounts and in communicating
our strategy and performance through
a transparent and high quality annual
report. We aim to stay at the forefront
of good reporting.
RICHARD SHEATH
Independent non-executive director
and Chairman of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of two Board members: the independent
Chairman Richard Sheath and non-executive director Nikolay Pilipenko,
who is not formally regarded as independent as he served as the Company’s
CFO five years ago. Their combined experience in financial accounting, risk
management, internal control and compliance helps the Committee approach
standing issues with comprehensive understanding and detailed scrutiny.
The CFO attends all meetings of the Committee, and the Head of Internal Audit
attends all joint-presence meetings. The Committee holds discussions with the
external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, twice a year without the presence
of management. The Committee Chairman has regular meetings with the
Internal Audit Department either in preparation for meetings or to discuss audit
findings. Between meetings, the Committee is in regular contact with the CFO,
the Head of Internal Audit, the Internal Control and Risk Management
Department and the Corporate Secretary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
In 2013, the Committee held a total of 11 meetings comprised of seven
meetings in person and four conference calls. The composition of the
Committee changed after the AGM, which took place on 20 June 2013:
after spending six years with the Company, Keith Jackson left the Board
of Directors.
The 2013 Audit Committee attendance* is presented below:
Audit Committee

Richard Sheath, Chairman
Nikolay Pilipenko
Keith Jackson1

Meetings
in person

Conference
call meetings

7/7
7/7
3/3

4/4
4/4
2/2

* participated in/could have participated in, given his or her tenure period
1 Keith Jackson stepped down from the Board and the Committee on 20 June 2013.
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OUR COMMITTEES
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

OVERVIEW OF AUDIT COMMITTEE ACTIVITY DURING 2013
External audit

Financial reporting
and budgeting

Risk management
and internal control

Internal audit

Information disclosure
Contemplated Reorganisation
of the Company

Company performance review

• Appraised the audit plan, timing, and performance of the external auditor in 2013, reviewed and evaluated audit fees
for 2013
• Verified and confirmed the independent status of PwC as the Company’s auditor
• Approved fees for non-audit services provided by the external auditor, ensured compliance with the policy on the
auditor’s provision of non-audit services
• Considered with the Russian Statutory Auditors any control issues around statutory reporting and tax filing
• Reviewed the Auditor’s recommendations on internal controls
• Held discussions with the external auditor without management
• Commissioned and oversaw an investigation which was conducted at the request of the external auditor
• Reviewed quarterly and annual consolidated IFRS financial statements and management reports
• Considered the continued development and roll-out of the Group-wide IFRS accounting manual
• Discussed issues pertaining to the preparation of financial statements at the Group’s subsidiaries
• Reviewed the Group’s consolidated budget for 2014 in the first and second reading to provide additional analysis
prior to Board review and approval of the budget
• Reviewed the integration of acquired European assets (EuroChem Agro and EuroChem Antwerpen) into the
Company’s information system and financial accounting and controlling system
• Exercised oversight over the reorganisation of internal control and risk management functions, including a baseline
review of the function, action plan (milestones, objectives, budgets), risk map development, and status updates;
• Approved the new approach to Internal Control and Risk Management in the Company, based on assigning main
responsibility for risk management and internal control to the owners of business processes rather than specific
risk managers
• Considered specific issues such as
– Control over the Company’s production risks insurance
– Transfer pricing tax risk management
– Control over large projects
– Investment projects: approach to assurance over process and controls application,
including accounting and reporting systems
– D&O Insurance proposal review
• Performed regular monitoring of Internal Audit results, including reviewing the results
• Approved the target status of the Internal Audit function and its development plan, including the personnel structure,
recruitment and staff development plan, as well as the audit plan and distribution of the IAS resources in 2014
• Monitored the preparation of non-financial reports (2012 Annual Report and 2012 CSR Report), reviewed drafts
of these reports and oversaw the results of a tender for CSR Report assurance
• Participated in reviewing issues pertaining to the comprehensive project to develop the Company’s
management system
• Reviewed management’s proposals with regard to the architecture of business processes, the new business
planning model, the business operations model for 2014-2018, reorganisation of financial functions within the new
economic model, the economic model for the Company’s operating divisions, and reorganising company control
functions and business processes, amongst others
• At every joint-presence meeting the Committee reviewed the management accounts and flash reports for the period

PRIORITIES FOR 2014
As well as covering its overall and primary responsibilities in relation to financial
reporting, audit and internal control, the Audit Committee will give particular
focus during 2014 to questions connected with the reorganisation of the
Company and its new economic model:
Internal monitoring: management reports, budgeting process:
• Pricing, cost centres and capital allocation within the new economic model
• Transfer pricing implementation review

72 EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013

• Strategic planning process: link with economic model
• Target budget format and new budgeting process with revised
economic model
• Change in internal accounting principles resulting from new
budgeting processes
• Proposed approach to risk management system development as part
of the reorganisation
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THE STRATEGY COMMITTEE
As part of the Committee’s responsibilities, all divisional and segment
strategies, large-scale projects, M&A deals and other strategic proposals of
management are reviewed and considered.
In 2013, the Strategy Committee membership was subject to several changes.
Whilst the non-executive Chairman, Andrey Melnichenko, chaired the
Committee throughout the year, the membership of non-executive directors in
the Committee altered. The current members of the Committee, besides the
Chairman Andrey Melnichenko, are Alexander Landia, who joined on 21 June
2013 as advisor and later appointed on 12 December 2013, and Garth Moore,
who was appointed on 12 December 2013.
The CEO, CFO and Head of Strategy and Investment regularly attend meetings
at the Committee’s invitation.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
In 2013, the Committee held six meetings in person. The 2013 Strategy
Committee attendance table is on page 67.

The Strategy Committee is responsible
for the analysis and consideration
of the Company’s general development
initiatives, long-term goals and
investment projects, and reports
to the Board about the results
of the discussions.
ANDREY MELNICHENKO
Chairman of the Board
and Chairman of the Strategy Committee
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OUR COMMITTEES
THE STRATEGY COMMITTEE CONTINUED

OVERVIEW OF STRATEGY COMMITTEE ACTIVITY DURING 2013
Strategy and development

Investment activity
and strategic projects
Financing and budgeting
Contemplated Reorganisation
of the Company

Methodology

• EuroChem Group’s 2013-2017 general strategy and business valuation
• Segment and divisional strategies for 2014-2018:
– Oil & Gas segment development strategy
– Mining division strategy
– Mineral fertilizers division strategy
– Regional sales and logistics development strategies
• Review of ongoing strategic investments and analysis of new strategic opportunities
• Analysis of investment programme budgets and effectiveness of budgeting process and planning
• Monitoring financing plans for the Company’s investment projects and compliance with debt covenants
• Approval of 2014 consolidated budget, including investment budget
• Reorganisation of the Company: core architecture of business processes and plans for 2014
• Reorganisation of commercial business processes
• Review of the new business planning model
• EuroChem Group’s target legal structure
• Changes to the investment planning standards
• Changing the business valuation methodology
• Changing processes in strategic investment planning and project management

PRIORITIES FOR 2014
Segment and divisional strategies for 2015-2019:
• Oil & Gas segment development strategy
• Mining division’s strategy
• Mineral fertilizer division’s strategy
• Regional sales development strategies
• The aggregate strategy for the Sales & Distribution strategy
• Logistics division strategy
Investment activity and strategic projects
• Review of quarterly reports on strategic investment projects
Financing and budgeting
• Evaluating EuroChem’s business and the Group’s general development
strategy for 2014-2018
• Budget execution as of 1H2014, and budget review for 2H2014
• Approval of the 2015 budget
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Contemplated Reorganisation of the Company
• The Company’s new economic model: pricing, the structure of financial
accounting centres, cost and capital allocation
• The targets state of and plans for reorganising the Sales, Logistics,
and Purchasing functions
• Regular status updates on the project to develop the Company’s
management system
• The Group’s legal reorganisation
Methodology
• Strategic planning within the new economic model
• Investment project management
• Operational efficiency indicators
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THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance & Personnel Committee focuses on issues including
remuneration and incentives, staffing requirements at ongoing investment
projects and the introduction of health and safety performance indicators
within the management incentive programme.
The Committee pays close attention to the remuneration of key managers,
which is tied to the implementation of individual plans and the Company’s
operational results.
The Committee’s activities are cyclical, since the incentives system and top
management’s targets for the coming year are set at the end of the year during
the budgeting process and after adjustments have been made to business
strategies. Individual targets are assessed from February to April once the
results have been reported. The Committee therefore uses a systemic
approach to assure the Board that management remuneration is adequate
and appropriately incentivised.

During the year, the Committee has
made considerable progress in targeting
health and safety in the workplace by
further developing the HSE function
to drive sound safety practices across
the Group.
VLADIMIR STOLIN
Independent non-executive director and
Chairman of the Corporate Governance
& Personnel Committee

The Corporate Governance & Personnel Committee currently has
three members: the independent Chairman Vladimir Stolin, independent
director Andrea Wine and non-executive director Nikolay Pilipenko.
Every year, the Committee organises the Board’s performance appraisal
exercise. The method used for the appraisal involves a survey, and detailed
answers provided by the directors form the basis for Board discussion and
decisions made based on the conclusions

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE
MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
In 2013, the Committee held six meetings in person and one meeting
in the form of a conference call. Attendance details are available on page 67
in the Board table. Throughout the year, the Committee held working meetings
with key executives and managers, including reviews of work performed in the
previous year as well as setting objectives and targets for the current and
upcoming periods.
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OUR COMMITTEES
THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE CONTINUED

OVERVIEW OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND PERSONNEL COMMITTEE ACTIVITY DURING 2013
HSE policy

Remuneration and incentives

Appointments and staffing

HR-related matters
Appraisal of the
Board’s performance
Contemplated Reorganisation
of the Company

• Regular HSE status updates from EuroChem companies, analysis of the management actions to prevent
emergency situations
• Development of the HSE function, including action plan, draft HSE Policy, terms of reference for implementation
of the company-wide HSE project and key appointments
• Review of methodology for establishing unified HSE target indicators
• Approval of the project-based incentives programmes for key investment projects
• Goal-setting for top management: correction of 2013 individual targets, evaluation of top management target
achievement, setting new targets for 2014, including methodological issues pertaining to the evaluation of
target achievement
• Developing long-term incentives linked to project implementation
• Consideration of issues pertaining to top management remuneration and benefits at EuroChem and its subsidiaries
• Review of the Board of Directors’ remuneration level
• Updating the list of positions requiring the Board’s approval
Review and approval of the following key appointments
Head of HSE, divisional managers for the mineral fertilizers and mining divisions
• Development of the management succession pool
• Search for new independent directors
• Approval of 2014 HR budget, assessment of current management and personnel on-site development and
continuous education programmes.
• Assessment of the Board’s performance, including review of proposal to change assessment format.
• Developing the management structure to a new divisional model
• Approve the formation of a project group to oversee the development of the Company’s management system
• Considered the potential distribution of authority and responsibility at various management levels within a divisional
structure, as well as the development of staffing plans and incentive system
• Refined core architecture of business processes and plans
• Reorganising the Company’s functional management and business support units

PRIORITIES FOR 2014
HSE
• Regular monitoring of HSE status within the Group;
• Development of the Company’s HSE function and culture of industrial safety
Remuneration and incentives
• Approval of project-based incentives programmes for key investment
projects planned for the year
• Setting annual targets for top management and review of target
achievements
• Approval of the incentives programme for the completion of the project
to develop the Company’s management system
• Updating incentives systems for senior management
Contemplated Reorganisation of the Company
• Regular monitoring of the project to develop the Company’s
management system
• Review targets and plans with regards to reorganising the sales,
logistics, and purchasing functions
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HR-related matters and succession pool planning
• Development of personnel and approaches to building business careers,
including data on the current status of the succession pool for positions
on the Board’s required-approval list
• Review of 2015 HR budget
• Approval of the Company’s three year programme to develop managerial
staff at various management levels
• Board performance review
Planned improvements to our corporate governance practices
• Standardise induction procedures for new Board members
• Develop a comprehensive training programme for the members of the
Board of Directors
• Defining targets for the Corporate Secretary
• Development of a new methodology for assessing the activities of the
Board of Directors
• Update insider information guidelines within the context of the
Company’s reorganisation
• Audit of statutory documents on the distribution of control within
the Company
• Analysis of effective shareholder communication mechanisms
• Analysis of the scope of disclosure of information on the activities
of the Board of Directors on the company’s website, including decisions
of the Board of Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of OJSC Mineral Chemical Company ‘EuroChem’:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of OJSC Mineral Chemical Company ‘EuroChem’ and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Russian Federal Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Audited entity: Open Joint Stock Company Mineral Chemical Company
‘EuroChem’
State registration certificate No. 001.460.272, issued by Moscow registration
Chamber on 27 August 2001
Certificate of inclusion in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities issued on
3 July 2002 under registration No. 1027700002659
115054 Moscow, Dubininskaya street, 53, p. 6
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Independent auditor: ZAO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
State registration certificate No. 008.890, issued by the Moscow Registration
Bureau on 28 February 1992
Certificate of inclusion in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities No.
1027700148431 issued on 22 August 2002
Certificate of membership in self regulated organisation non-profit partnership
‘Audit Chamber of Russia’ No. 870. ORNZ 10201003683
in the register of auditors and audit organisations.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

8
9
10
11
13
17
12
12
16, 33
21
31
13

152,870,922
15,277,028
12,677,150
6,999,679
3,531,640
88,558
–
–
415,660
1,063,749
5,969,585
–
719,894
199,613,865

127,799,359
15,335,730
11,371,695
7,225,526
–
44,003
1,914,636
909,017
–
1,948,421
4,898,621
2,522,755
196,181
174,165,944

14
15
15
18, 33
16
21
17
17
17

22,670,751
11,895,075
8,731,171
–
98,188
331,543
–
2,441,756
16,552,395
62,720,879
262,334,744

23,006,319
10,567,555
9,305,058
683,999
–
63
405,442
3,671,596
15,444,147
63,084,179
237,250,123

Note

ASSETS
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Mineral rights
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Investment in associates
Restricted cash
Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments pledged as collateral
Originated loans
Derivative financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Prepayment for investment in associates
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, other receivables and other current assets
Prepayments for treasury shares
Originated loans
Derivative financial assets
Restricted cash
Fixed-term deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION CONTINUED
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

Note

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:
Share capital
Treasury shares
Capital contribution
Retained earnings and other reserves

18
18
18, 33

6,800,000
(44,687,136)
1,589,459
157,941,327
121,643,650
169,113
121,812,763

6,800,000
(39,047,045)
–
138,855,979
106,608,934
187,609
106,796,543

19
20
21
31
22

65,651,730
34,383,438
142,385
6,475,782
5,101,882
111,755,217

59,566,384
32,589,882
–
6,296,597
6,194,011
104,646,874

19
21
24
24

8,370,741
225,263
8,539,042
10,079,456
524,524
1,027,738
28,766,764
140,521,981
262,334,744

6,807,983
–
8,386,544
8,449,573
1,253,033
909,573
25,806,706
130,453,580
237,250,123

Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Non-current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Bonds issued
Derivative financial liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities and deferred credits
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Other taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors
5 February 2014

Dmitry Strezhnev
Chief Executive Officer

Andrey Ilyin
Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)
Note

Sales
Cost of sales

25
26

Gross profit
Distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Other operating income/(expenses), net

27
28
29

Operating profit
Write-off of portion of assets at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit
Share of profit from associates
Dividend income
Gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Interest income
Interest expense
Financial foreign exchange gain/(loss), net
Other financial gain/(loss), net
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

8
13
12
12

30

31

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to
profit and loss in subsequent periods
Currency translation differences, net of tax
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments, net of tax
Disposal of available-for-sale investments – reclassification of revaluation to profit and loss, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period that may be reclassified
to profit and loss in subsequent periods

12
12

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
in subsequent periods
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period that will not be reclassified
to profit and loss in subsequent periods
Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit/(loss) of the period attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share – basic and diluted (in RR)

32

2013

2012

176,936,599
(112,797,010)

166,477,729
(97,767,726)

64,139,589

68,710,003

(25,261,400)
(6,709,434)
(425,379)

(23,290,805)
(5,598,628)
370,529

31,743,376

40,191,099

–
379,105
114,204
(1,549,245)
251,809
(5,153,290)
(5,891,792)
(944,708)
18,949,459

(3,685,995)
–
101,676
568,382
634,907
(4,293,356)
4,315,355
2,466,212
40,298,280

(6,693,814)

(7,729,130)

12,255,645

32,569,150

5,184,507
(1,419,124)
1,549,245

(236,736)
711,688
(568,382)

5,314,628

(93,430)

26,867

–

26,867
17,597,140

–
32,475,720

12,261,945
(6,300)
12,255,645

32,575,818
(6,668)
32,569,150

17,596,972
168
17,597,140

32,480,365
(4,645)
32,475,720

209.05

528.99

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

Note

Operating profit
Income tax paid
Operating profit less income tax paid
Depreciation and amortisation
Net loss on disposals and write-off of property, plant and equipment
Change in provision for impairment of receivables and provision/(reversal of provision)
for obsolete and damaged inventories, net
Other non-cash (income)/expenses, net
Gross cash flow
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables
Advances to suppliers
Other receivables
Inventories
Trade payables
Advances from customers
Other payables
Restricted cash, other assets and liabilities
Net cash – operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Payment for mineral rights
Prepayment for investment in associates
Payment for investment in associates
Prepayments for other non-current assets
Loan provided to the acquired subsidiary before acquisition
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of available-for-sale investments
Portion of deferred compensation related to business combination, paid
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets held for sale
Cash proceeds/(payments) on derivatives, net
Dividends received and refunded withholding tax on dividends received
Net change in fixed-term deposits
Originated loans
Repayment of originated loans
Interest received
Net cash – investing activities

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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28

5

13

16
12
22
12, 33

12
16, 33
16, 33

2013

2012

31,743,376
(7,995,564)
23,747,812
9,876,172
761,440

40,191,099
(7,373,735)
32,817,364
8,087,408
424,317

114,629
1,124,340
35,624,393

166,521
(387,433)
41,108,177

(1,279,413)
621,542
(35,496)
(157,209)
(194,371)
342,923
879,346
360,887
36,162,602

1,970,574
(223,032)
93,703
(1,835,911)
(1,470,618)
(34,011)
(368,384)
(364,227)
38,876,271

(32,432,590)
(160,946)
–
(629,780)
(15,649)
–
–
–
(1,600,019)
101,489
159,092
–
–
96,727
1,220,181
(1,164,659)
2,005,728
229,627
(32,190,799)

(28,156,607)
(373,062)
(2,522,755)
–
(90,431)
(116,229)
(31,806,681)
(59,607)
–
20,415,641
135,519
883,651
(63,873)
144,828
16,564,889
(1,927,340)
8,221,872
1,055,499
(17,694,686)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

Free cash inflow
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from bonds, net of transaction costs
Repayment of bonds
Prepaid and additional transaction costs
Interest paid
Cash proceeds/(payments) on derivatives – net
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in oil and gas subsidiary
Acquisition of additional interest in other subsidiaries
Purchase of treasury shares
Prepayments for treasury shares
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares
Capital contribution
Other financial activities
Net cash – financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Note

2013

2012

5

3,971,803

21,181,585

19
19

77,957,785
(75,114,099)
–
–
(76,206)
(5,034,894)
212,746
–
(12,413)
(13,359,153)
–
9,885,186
1,589,459
–
(3,951,589)
1,088,034
1,108,248
15,444,147
16,552,395

12,503,040
(19,970,832)
22,909,440
(8,513,762)
(5,850)
(4,350,733)
214,959
(6,619,999)
(128)
(9,367,618)
(683,999)
–
–
11,761
(13,873,721)
(370,666)
6,937,198
8,506,949
15,444,147

18, 33
18, 33
18, 33
18, 33

17
17

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

Share
capital

Note

Balance at 1 January 2012
Comprehensive income/(loss)
Profit/(loss) for the period
Other comprehensive
income/(loss)
Currency translation differences
Revaluation of
available-for-sale investments
Disposal of
available-for-sale investments
Total other comprehensive
income/(loss)
Total comprehensive
income/(loss)

Treasury
shares

6,800,000 (29,679,427)

Attributable to owners of the parent
Cumulative Revaluation
currency of availableCapital translation
for-sale
contribution differences investments

– 1,724,223

Retained
earnings

(273,427) 104,814,215

Total

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
equity

83,385,584

6,985,154

90,370,738

–

–

–

–

–

32,575,818

32,575,818

(6,668)

32,569,150

–

–

–

(238,759)

–

–

(238,759)

2,023

(236,736)

12

–

–

–

–

711,688

–

711,688

–

711,688

12

–

–

–

–

(568,382)

–

(568,382)

–

(568,382)

–

–

–

(238,759)

143,306

–

(95,453)

2,023

(93,430)

–

–

–

(238,759)

143,306

32,575,818

32,480,365

(4,645)

32,475,720

–

(9,367,618)

–

–

–

–

(9,367,618)

–

(9,367,618)

–

–

–

–

–

109,832

109,832

(6,792,001)

(6,682,169)

Transactions with owners
Purchase of treasury shares
Acquisition of non-controlling
interest in oil and gas subsidiary
Acquisition of additional interest
in other subsidiaries
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 31 December 2012
Balance at 1 January 2013
Comprehensive income/(loss)
Profit/(loss) for the period
Other comprehensive
income/(loss)
Currency translation differences
Remeasurements of post
employment benefit
obligations, net of tax
Revaluation of
12
available-for-sale investments
Disposal of
12
available-for-sale investments
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners
Capital contribution
18, 33
Purchase of treasury shares
18
Sale of treasury shares
18
Acquisition of additional interest
in subsidiaries
Total transactions with owners
Balance at 31 December 2013

–
–
– (9,367,618)
6,800,000 (39,047,045)
6,800,000 (39,047,045)

–
–
–
–
– 1,485,464
– 1,485,464

–

–

–

–

–

12,261,945

12,261,945

(6,300)

12,255,645

–

–

–

5,178,039

–

–

5,178,039

6,468

5,184,507

–

–

–

–

–

26,867

26,867

–

26,867

–

–

–

–

(1,419,124)

–

(1,419,124)

–

(1,419,124)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
5,178,039
5,178,039

1,549,245
130,121
130,121

–
26,867
12,288,812

1,549,245
5,335,027
17,596,972

–
6,468
168

1,549,245
5,341,495
17,597,140

–
–
– (14,043,152)
–
8,403,061

1,589,459
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
– (5,640,091)
6,800,000 (44,687,136)

–
–
1,589,459
–
1,589,459 6,663,503

The accompanying notes on pages 85 to 129 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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–
771
771
(899)
(128)
–
110,603 (9,257,015) (6,792,900) (16,049,915)
(130,121) 137,500,636 106,608,934
187,609 106,796,543
(130,121) 137,500,636 106,608,934
187,609 106,796,543

–
1,589,459
– (14,043,152)
1,482,125
9,885,186

–
1,589,459
– (14,043,152)
–
9,885,186

–
6,251
6,251
–
1,488,376 (2,562,256)
– 151,277,824 121,643,650

(18,664)
(12,413)
(18,664) (2,580,920)
169,113 121,812,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

1 The EuroChem Group and its operations
EuroChem Group comprises the parent entity, Open Joint Stock Company Mineral Chemical Company ‘EuroChem’ (the ‘Company’), and its subsidiaries
(collectively the ‘Group’ or ‘EuroChem Group’). The Company was incorporated on 27 August 2001 as a closed joint stock company. On 3 April 2006 the
Company changed its legal form to an open joint stock company.
A company that holds business interests beneficially for Mr Andrey Melnichenko owns 100% of Linea Ltd registered in Bermuda, which in turn owns 92.2%
(31 December 2012: 92.2%) of EuroChem Group S.E. 7.8% of EuroChem Group S.E. (31 December 2012: 7.8%) is held indirectly by Mr. Dmitry Strezhnev,
CEO of the Group. As at 31 December 2013 EuroChem Group S.E. owns 87.36% of the Company (31 December 2012: 88.51%). The remaining 12.64% is
held by EuroChem Capital Management Ltd, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, and presented as treasury shares in the consolidated statement of financial
position (31 December 2012: 11.49%).
The Group’s principal activity is the production of mineral fertilizers (nitrogen and phosphates groups) as well as mineral extraction (iron-ore, apatite, baddeleyite
and hydrocarbons), and the operation of the distribution network. The Group is developing potassium salts deposits with a view to starting the production and
marketing of potassium fertilizers. The Group’s manufacturing facilities are based in the Russian Federation, Lithuania and Belgium.
The Company has its registered office at: Dubininskaya St. 53, bld. 6, Moscow, Russian Federation.

2 Basis of presentation
Basis of preparation. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’)
under the historical cost convention, as modified by available-for-sale investments and derivative financial instruments, which are accounted for at fair value.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.
Foreign currency translation. The functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates.
The functional currency is determined separately for each of the Group’s subsidiaries. For Russian subsidiaries the functional currency is the Russian Rouble
(‘RR’). The functional currency of the most Group’s subsidiaries located in Europe is the Euro (‘EUR’), for subsidiaries located in Lithuania, the functional currency
is the Lithuanian Lita (‘LTL’) etc.
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity’s functional currency at the official exchange rate at the respective reporting dates. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity’s functional
currency at year-end official exchange rates are recognised in profit and loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit and loss are recognised in profit and loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and deposits are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in a separate line ‘Financial foreign exchange gain/(loss), net’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit and loss within
‘Other operating income/(expenses), net’.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian Roubles, which is the functional currency of the Company.
The results and financial position of each Group’s subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency using the official exchange rate of the Central Bank
of the Russian Federation (‘CBRF’) as follows:
(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
(ii) income and expenses for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
(iii) components of equity are translated at the historical rate; and
(iv) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as currency translation differences in other comprehensive income.
At 31 December 2013 the official exchange rates established by CBRF were: US$ 1 = RR 32.7292 (31 December 2012: US$ 1 = RR 30.3727), Euro 1 = RR
44.9699 (31 December 2012: Euro 1 = RR 40.2286), LTL 1 = RR 13.0338 (31 December 2012: LTL 1 = RR 11.6554). Average rates for the year ended
31 December 2013 were: US$ 1 = RR 31.8480 (2012: US$ 1 = RR 31.0930), Euro 1 = RR 42.3129 (2012: Euro 1 = RR 39.9524), LTL 1 = RR 12.2551
(2012: LTL 1 = RR 11.8400).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of presentation continued
Consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. The Group
measures non-controlling interest on a transaction-by-transaction basis, either at: (a) fair value, or (b) the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of net
assets of the acquiree.
Goodwill is measured by deducting the net assets of the acquiree from the aggregate of the consideration transferred for the acquiree, the amount of
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and fair value of an interest in the acquiree held immediately before the acquisition date. Any negative amount (“negative
goodwill”) is recognised in profit or loss, after management reassesses whether it identified all the assets acquired and all liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed and reviews the appropriateness of their measurement.
The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed,
including fair value of assets or liabilities from contingent consideration arrangements but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal, valuation and
similar professional services. Transaction costs related to the acquisition and incurred for issuing equity instruments are deducted from equity; transaction costs
incurred for issuing debt as part of the business combination are deducted from the carrying amount of the debt and all other transaction costs associated with
the acquisition are expensed.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the cost cannot be recovered.
The Company and all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.
Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a subsidiary attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly,
by the Company. Non-controlling interest forms a separate component of the Group’s equity.
Purchases and sales of non-controlling interests. The Group applies the economic entity model to account for transactions with owners of non-controlling
interest. Any difference between the purchase consideration and the carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired is recorded as a capital transaction
directly in equity. The Group recognises the difference between sales consideration and carrying amount of non-controlling interest sold as a capital transaction
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and a provision for impairment,
where required.
The cost of replacing major parts or components of property, plant and equipment items is capitalised and the replaced part is retired. Minor repair and
maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.
At each reporting date management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists,
management estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying
amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior
years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.
Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in the profit and loss.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial
time to get ready for intended use or sale (qualifying assets) are capitalised as part of the costs of those assets, if the commencement date for capitalisation is
on or after 1 January 2009. The commencement date for capitalisation is when (a) the Group incurs expenditures for the qualifying asset; (b) it incurs borrowing
costs; and (c) it undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the
date when the assets are substantially ready for their use or sale.
The Group capitalises borrowing costs that could have been avoided if it had not made capital expenditure on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs capitalised are
calculated at the Group’s average funding cost (the weighted average interest cost is applied to the expenditures on the qualifying assets), except to the extent
that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Where this occurs, actual borrowing costs incurred less any investment
income on the temporary investment of those borrowings are capitalised.

86 EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013

STRATEGIC REPORT

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of presentation continued
Depreciation. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (other than oil and gas assets) is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives from the time they are ready for use:
Useful lives
in years

Buildings and land improvements
Transfer devices
Machinery and equipment
Transport
Other items

15 to 80
25 to 30
2 to 30
5 to 25
1 to 8

Depreciation of oil and gas assets is calculated using the unit-of-production method.
The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposing of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal,
if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to use the
asset until the end of its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Remaining useful life of property, plant and equipment. Management assesses the remaining useful life of property, plant and equipment in accordance with
the current technical conditions of assets and the estimated period during which these assets will bring economic benefit to the Group.
Development expenditure. Development expenditure incurred by the Group is accumulated separately for each area of interest in which economically recoverable
resources have been identified. Such expenditure comprises cost directly attributable to the construction of a mine and the related infrastructure. Once a
development decision has been taken, the expenditure in respect of the area of interest is classified in the assets under construction category.
Exploration assets. Exploration and evaluation costs related to an area of interest are written off as incurred except they are carried forward as an asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position where the rights of tenure of an area are current and it is considered probable that the costs will be recouped through
successful development and exploitation of the area of interest. Capitalised costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the
relevant area of interest. In accordance with IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources, exploration assets are measured applying the cost
model described in IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment after initial recognition. Depreciation and amortisation are not calculated for exploration assets
because the economic benefits that the assets represent are not consumed until the production phase. Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is
written off where the above conditions are no longer satisfied.
All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances indicate that impairment may exist. Exploration and
evaluation assets are also tested for impairment once commercial reserves are found, before the assets are transferred to development properties.
Operating leases. Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor
to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the lease payments receivable are recognised as rental income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Goodwill. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there
are indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination. Such units or groups of units represent the lowest level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger
than an operating segment.
Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
which is retained.
Mineral rights. Mineral rights include rights for evaluation, exploration and production of mineral resources under the licences or agreements. Such assets are
carried at cost, amortisation is charged on a straight line basis either over the validity period of the license or the agreement, or over the expected life of mine,
starting from the date when production activities commence. The costs directly attributable to acquisition of rights for evaluation, exploration and production are
capitalised as a part of the mineral rights. If the reserves related to the mineral rights are not economically viable, the carrying amount of such mineral rights is
written off.
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2 Basis of presentation continued
Mineral resources. Mineral resources are recognised as assets when acquired as part of a business combination and then depleted using the unit-of-production
method for oil and gas assets based on total proved mineral reserves and straight line method for other assets. Estimated proven and probable mineral reserves
reflect the economically recoverable quantities which can be legally recovered in the future from known mineral deposits and were determined by independent
professional appraisers when acquired as part of a business combination.
Intangible assets. The Group’s intangible assets have definite useful lives and primarily include acquired core process technology, distribution agreements,
customer relationships, trademarks, capitalised computer software costs and other intangible assets.
These assets are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring them to use.
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives:
Useful lives
in years

Land use rights
Know-how and production technology
Trademarks
Customer relationships
Distribution agreement
Software licences

50
5-18
15
10
8
5

The Group tests intangible assets for impairment whenever there are indications that intangible assets may be impaired.
If impaired, the carrying amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to sell.
Classification of financial assets. The Group classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories: a) loans and receivables; b) available-forsale financial assets; c) financial assets held to maturity and d) financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss have two subcategories: (i) assets designated as such upon initial recognition, and (ii) those classified as held for trading.
Financial assets held for trading are classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Trading investments are not
reclassified out of this category even when the Group’s intentions subsequently change.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in the
current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date, which are classified as non-current assets.
The “Held-to-maturity” classification includes quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has
both the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Management determines the classification of investment securities held to maturity at their initial recognition and
reassesses the appropriateness of that classification at each reporting date. At 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 the Group did not have any “held to
maturity” investments.
All other financial assets are included in the available-for-sale category.
Initial recognition of financial instruments. Trading investments and derivatives are initially recorded at their fair value. All other financial assets and liabilities
are initially recorded at their fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial
recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and the transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market
transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets.
All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or market convention (“regular way” purchases
and sales) are recorded at their trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
De-recognition of financial assets. The Group de-recognises financial assets when (i) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets have
otherwise expired or (ii) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (iii) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but has not retained control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to
sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose additional restrictions on the sale.
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2 Basis of presentation continued
Available-for-sale investments. Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. Interest income on available-for-sale debt securities is calculated using the
effective interest method and recognised in profit and loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit and loss when the Group’s
right to receive payment is established. All other elements of changes in the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
until the investment is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit and loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition
of available-for-sale investments. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is impaired.
The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any revaluation loss on that asset
previously recognised in other comprehensive income – is reclassified from equity and recognised in profit and loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
are not reversed through profit and loss. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit and loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the current
period’s profit and loss.
Derivative financial instruments. The Group’s derivative financial instruments comprise forward, options and swap contracts in foreign exchange and securities.
The Group’s policy is to measure these instruments at fair value, with resultant gains or losses being reported within the profit and loss. The fair value of
derivative financial instruments is determined using actual market data information and valuation techniques based on the prevailing market interest rate
for similar instruments as appropriate.
The Group has no derivatives accounted for as hedges.
Investments in associates and joint ventures. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. The joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of associates and joint ventures include goodwill identified on acquisition less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of associates and joint ventures is recorded in the consolidated profit or loss,
and its shares of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains on transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates and joint ventures; unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with tax legislation enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date for each country where the Group subsidiaries are registered. The income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax and is
recognised in the profit and loss unless it relates to transactions that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The most significant
Group subsidiaries are registered in Russia, where the corporate income tax rate can range from 15.5% to 20%, depending on applicable rates set by regional
authorities (2012: from 15.5% to 20%). For the subsidiaries located outside the Russian Federation tax rates on taxable profit range from 10% to 38.3%
(2012: from 10% to 37.6%).
Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities in respect of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods.
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not
recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when
initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill
and subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes. Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the Group. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry
forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on post acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where the Group controls the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is
probable that the difference will not be reversed through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.
Inventories. Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventory is determined on the weighted-average basis. The cost
of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw material, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity) but excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of completion and
selling expenses.

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 89

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

2 Basis of presentation continued
Trade and other receivables. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that the trade and other receivables are impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit and loss.
When a receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the
profit |and loss.
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Prepayments. Prepayments are carried at cost less provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current when the goods or services relating to
the prepayment are expected to be obtained after one year, or when the prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial
recognition. Prepayments to acquire assets are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. Other prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods
or services relating to the prepayments are received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be received,
the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, term deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.
Term deposits for longer than three months that are repayable on demand within one working day without penalties or that can be redeemed/withdrawn, subject
to the interest income being forfeited, are classified as cash equivalents if the deposit is held to meet short term cash needs and there is no significant risk of a
change in value as a result of an early withdrawal. Other term deposits are included into fixed-term deposits.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents. Balances restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date are included in non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Fixed-term deposits. Fixed-term deposits are deposits held with banks and have various original maturities and can be withdrawn with early notification and/or
with penalty accrued or interest income forfeited.
They are included in the current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date, which are classified as
non-current assets.
Share capital. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity as a share premium.
Capital contribution. The capital contribution received from shareholder, which does not require repayment, or for which the Group will be able to avoid any
payments is classified as component of the equity and recorded as a separate reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Treasury shares. Where any Group company purchases the Company’s shares, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net
of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where such shares
are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
Dividends. Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they are declared before or on the reporting date.
Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared after the reporting date but before the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue.
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2 Basis of presentation continued
Value added tax. Value added tax (“VAT”) related to revenues is generally payable to the tax authorities on an accrual basis when invoices are issued to
customers. VAT incurred on purchases may be offset, subject to certain restrictions, against VAT related to revenues, or can be reclaimed in cash from the
tax authorities under certain circumstances.
Management periodically reviews the recoverability of VAT receivables and believes the amount reflected in the consolidated financial statements is fully
recoverable within one year.
Borrowings. Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
Trade and other payables. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Investment grants. Investment grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions. Investment grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred
income and are credited to the profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
Provisions for liabilities and charges. Provisions for liabilities and charges are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the
Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.
Asset retirement obligations. The Group has the obligation to perform recultivation of certain disturbed lands in the areas of its oil and gas drilling and mining
activities under the terms of licences and agreements for mineral resources.
The estimated future land restoration costs, discounted to net present value, are added to respective items of property, plant and equipment and corresponding
obligations are raised when the constructive obligation to incur such costs arises and these costs could be reliably estimated. Additional items of property, plant
and equipment are amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the corresponding asset. The unwinding of the obligation is recognised in profit and
loss as part of other financial gain/loss.
Changes to estimated future costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position by either increasing or decreasing the provision for land
restoration and asset to which it relates. The Group reassesses its estimation of land restoration provision as at the end of each reporting period. Ongoing
restoration costs are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Revenue recognition. Revenues from sales of goods are recognised at the point of transfer of risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. If the Group agrees
to transport goods to a specified location, revenue is recognised when the goods are passed to the customer at the destination point. Revenues from sales of
services are recognised in the period the services are provided.
Sales are shown net of VAT and other sales taxes.
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and volume
rebates allowed.
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
Employee benefits. Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses,
and non-monetary benefits (such as health services, etc.) are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group.
Eurochem Antwerpen NV and Eurochem Agro operate defined benefit pension plans, which represent an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations are recognised in other comprehensive
income. The defined pension obligation of the Group is not material.
Earnings per share. Earnings per share is determined by dividing the profit and loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting year.
Segment reporting. A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products or services (operating segment). Segments
whose sales or results are ten percent or more of all the segments are reported separately. Segment reporting is prepared in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
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3 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies
The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements
are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the
accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements and estimates that
can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include.
Taxation. Judgements are required in determining current income tax liabilities (Note 31). The Group recognises liabilities for taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final outcome of various tax matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.
Deferred income tax recognition. The net deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future deductions from taxable profits and is recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deferred income tax assets are recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable.
In determining future taxable profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future, management makes judgements and estimates based on
the last three years’ taxable profits and expectations of future income that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances (Note 31).
Land. Certain industrial premises of the Group’s subsidiary OJSC EuroChem Terminal Ust-Luga are located on land occupied under a short-term lease.
The management believes that no losses will be sustained by the Group due to the short-term nature of the land lease since it will be able to either purchase
the land or to secure its use via a long-term lease agreement in due course.
Related party transactions. The Group enters into transactions with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions are priced predominantly
at market rates. Judgement is applied in determining whether transactions are priced at market or non-market rates where there is no active market for such
transactions. Judgements are made by comparing prices for similar types of transactions with unrelated parties.

4 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations
The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2013:
• IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (issued in May 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (issued in May 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (issued in May 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (issued in May 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). Disclosure required by the
standard was made in the consolidated financial statements (Note 36);
• IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements (revised in May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (revised in May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements (issued June 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012).
The amended standard has changed the presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, but had no impact on the measurement of
transactions and balances;
• Stripping costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine, IFRIC 20 (issued in October 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013);
• Amended IAS 19, Employee benefits (issued June 2011, effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendments to IFRS 7 (issued in December 2011 and effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards − Government loans (issued in March 2012 and effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013);
• Transition Guidance Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 (issued on 28 June 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013).
Unless otherwise described above, these standards, amendments to standards and interpretations did not have a material impact on these consolidated
financial statements.
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4 Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations continued
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective as at 31 December 2013, and have not been early adopted:
• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments Part 1: Classification and Measurement (issued in November 2009, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015, with earlier application permitted). The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard on its consolidated financial statements;
• Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendments to IAS 32 (issued in December 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2014);
• Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – Investment entities (issued on 31 October 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014);
• IFRIC 21 − Levies (issued on 20 May 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014);
• Amendments to IAS 36 − Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets (issued on 29 May 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2014; earlier application is permitted if IFRS 13 is applied for the same accounting and comparative period);
• Amendments to IAS 39 – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting (issued on 27 June 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2014);
• Amendments to IAS 19 – Defined benefit plans: Employee contribution (issued in November 2013, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014);
• Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in December 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014).
Unless otherwise described above, the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not expected to materially impact the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

5 Statement of cash flows
In managing the business, management focuses on a number of cash flow measures including ‘gross cash flow’ and ‘free cash flow’. Gross cash flow refers
to the operating profit after income tax and adjusted for items which are not of a cash nature, which have been charged or credited to the profit and loss.
The gross cash flow is available to finance movements in operating assets and liabilities, investing and financing activities. The gross cash inflow for the year
ended 31 December 2013 was RR 35,624,393 thousand (2012: inflow of RR 41,108,177 thousand).
Free cash flows are the cash flows available to providers of finance of the business, be this debt or equity. The free cash inflow for the year ended
31 December 2013 was RR 3,971,803 thousand (2012: inflow of RR 21,181,585 thousand).
Since these terms are not standard IFRS measures EuroChem Group’s definition of gross cash flow and free cash flow may differ from that of other companies.
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6 Principal subsidiaries and associates
The Group had the following principal subsidiaries and associates as at 31 December 2013:
Percentage of
voting rights

Percentage
of ownership

Country
of registration

–

–

Russia

Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Mining
Manufacturing
Gas extraction
Manufacturing
Potash project under development
Potash project under development
Phosphate project under development
Other service
Other service
Trading
Trading
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Distribution
Repair and constructions
Repair and constructions
Repair and constructions
Repair and constructions
Repair and constructions
Repair and constructions
Design engineering
Logistics
Logistics
Logistics
Logistics
Logistics
Logistics
Logistics
Other service
Finance
Finance
Finance

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
59.67%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
59.67%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Lithuania
Russia
Belgium
Russia
Russia
Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
Kazakhstan
Switzerland
USA
France
Singapore
Spain
Greece
Italy
Germany
Mexico
Turkey
Brazil
China
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Ukraine
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Cyprus
Lithuania
Estonia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Netherlands
Cyprus
BVI

Logistics

36.20%

48.26%

Russia

Name

Nature of business

MCC Eurochem OJSC
Subsidiaries:
Phosphorit Industrial Group, LLC
Novomoskovskiy Azot, OJSC
Novomoskovskiy Khlor, LLC
Nevinnomysskiy Azot, OJSC
EuroChem-Belorechenskie Minudobrenia LLC
Kovdorskiy GOK, OJSC
Lifosa AB
Severneft-Urengoy, LLC
EuroChem Antwerpen NV
EuroChem-VolgaKaliy, LLC
Eurochem-Usolskiy potash complex, LLC
EuroChem-Fertilizers, LLP
Sary-Tas Fertilizers, LLP
EuroChem Karatau, LLP
EuroChem Trading GmbH
EuroChem Trading USA
Eurochem Agro SAS
EuroChem Agro Asia Pte. Ltd
EuroChem Agro Iberia
EuroChem Agricultural Trading Hellas SA
EuroChem Agro Spa
EuroChem Agro GmbH
EuroChem Agro Mexico SA de CV
EuroChem Agro Fertilizer Trade LLP
EuroChem Comercio de Produtos Quimicos Ltda
EuroChem Agro Trading (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
AgroCenter EuroChem-Volgograd, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Krasnodar, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Lipezk, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Orel, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Novomoskovskiy, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Nevinnomyssk, LLC
AgroCenter EuroChem-Ukraine, LLC
Ural-RemStroiService, LLC
Kingisepp RemStroiService, LLC
Kovdor RemStroiService, LLC
Novomoskovskiy RemStroiService, LLC
Nevinnomysskiy RemStroiService, LLC
Volgograd RemStroiService, LLC
Tulagiprokhem, LLC
Harvester Shipmanagement Ltd
Eurochem Logistics International, UAB
EuroChem Terminal Sillamäe Aktsiaselts
EuroChem Terminal Ust-Luga, LLC
Tuapse Bulk Cargo Terminal, LLC
Murmanskiy Bulk Cargo Terminal, LLC
Depot-Eurochem, LLC
EuroChem-Energo, LLC
EuroChem International Holding B.V.
EuroChem A.M. Ltd
EuroChem Capital Management Ltd
Associate:
Murmansk Commercial Seaport, OJSC

Company
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6 Principal subsidiaries and associates continued
Business combinations:
In 2012 the Group completed acquisitions of EuroChem Agro (formerly K+S Nitrogen) and EuroChem Antwerpen NV. The initial provisional purchase price
allocations established at the acquisition date were finalised in 2013 without significant adjustments.

7 Segment information
The Group is a global agrochemical company producing primarily nitrogen and phosphate fertilizers, as well as certain organic synthesis products. The Group is a
vertically integrated business with activities spanning mining (iron-ore, apatite, baddeleyite) and natural gas extraction, fertilizer manufacturing, organic synthesis
products, sales and distribution. On a monthly basis the Management Board reviews the financial reports of the Group, evaluates the operating results and
allocates resources between the operating segments. Budgets and financial reports are prepared in a standard format according to the IFRS accounting policy
adopted by the Group. Sales between segments are carried out on an arm’s length basis. The Management Board assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on, among other factors, a measure of profit before taxation adjusted by interest expense, depreciation and amortisation, financial foreign
exchange gain or loss, other non-cash and extraordinary items, excluding net profit for the period attributed to non-controlling interests (EBITDA). Since this term
is not a standard IFRS measure, EuroChem Group’s definition of EBITDA may differ from that of other companies. The development and approval of strategies,
market and risk analysis, the investment focus, technological process changes, and the setting of goals and priorities of the Group are undertaken in line with the
segment structure of the Group:
• Nitrogen – the production and sale of nitrogen mineral fertilizers and organic synthesis products and the extraction of hydrocarbons (natural gas and gas
condensate) where natural gas is used as the raw material for the production of nitrogen fertilizers and gas condensate is sold;
• Phosphates – the production and sale of phosphate mineral fertilizers and the extraction of ores to produce and subsequently sell baddeleyite and iron-ore
concentrates;
• Potash – the development of several deposits of potassium salts (‘potash’) under the licences acquired by the Group with a view to starting production and
marketing of potassium fertilizers. No sales have been recorded to date in this segment;
• Distribution – retail sales of mineral fertilizers (including those not produced by the Group), seeds, crop protection items, etc. via a number of retailers located
within Russia and the CIS; and
• All other – goods purchased for resale, certain logistics and service activities, central management, investment income and other items.
The segmental results for the year ended 31 December 2013 were:
Nitrogen
Phosphates
Potash
Distribution
Other
Elimination
Total

External sales

Internal sales

Total sales

EBITDA

86,993,395
54,975,851
–
16,948,117
18,019,236
–
176,936,599

13,070,844
3,303,732
–
26,977
23,962,007
(40,363,560)
–

100,064,239
58,279,583
–
16,975,094
41,981,243
(40,363,560)
176,936,599

26,171,810
13,865,812
(774,691)
682,971
3,093,699
(78,920)
42,960,681

The segmental results for the year ended 31 December 2012 were:
Nitrogen
Phosphates
Potash
Distribution
Other
Elimination
Total

External sales

Internal sales

Total sales

EBITDA

79,662,449
56,667,598
–
17,120,357
13,027,325
–
166,477,729

12,805,773
4,098,723
–
17,469
19,993,155
(36,915,120)
–

92,468,222
60,766,321
–
17,137,826
33,020,480
(36,915,120)
166,477,729

30,581,350
16,244,848
(547,549)
966,926
2,144,171
(222,213)
49,167,533
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7 Segment information continued
A reconciliation of EBITDA to profit before taxation is provided below:
Note

EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation
Write-off of idle property, plant and equipment
Write-off of portion of assets at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit
Gain/(loss) on disposal of available-for sale investments, net
Interest expense
Financial foreign exchange gain/(loss), net
Other financial gain/(loss), net
Non-controlling interest
Profit before taxation

28
8
8
12

30

2013

42,960,681
(9,876,172)
(589,715)
–
(1,549,245)
(5,153,290)
(5,891,792)
(944,708)
(6,300)
18,949,459

2012

49,167,533
(8,087,408)
(145,775)
(3,685,995)
568,382
(4,293,356)
4,315,355
2,466,212
(6,668)
40,298,280

The segmental capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and mineral rights for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 were:
Nitrogen
Phosphates
Potash
Distribution
Other
Total capital expenditure

2013

2012

10,379,526
8,614,004
12,353,889
105,407
1,140,710
32,593,536

6,323,808
5,791,185
13,602,188
93,674
2,718,814
28,529,669

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

154,346,456
37,009,963
191,356,419

130,335,126
33,919,939
164,255,065

The Group’s main manufacturing facilities are based in the Russian Federation, Lithuania and Belgium.
The analysis of non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by geographical location was:

Non-current assets, located in Russia
Non-current assets, located in foreign countries
Total
The analysis of Group sales by region was:
Europe
Russia
Asia
North America
Latin America
CIS
Africa
Australasia
Total sales

2013

2012

57,246,972
33,341,283
31,513,580
17,549,141
16,261,066
14,240,323
5,012,337
1,771,897
176,936,599

44,592,166
35,450,024
25,990,260
19,040,052
22,825,257
12,927,635
3,623,513
2,028,822
166,477,729

The sales are allocated to regions based on the destination country. During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group had sales in excess of 10% to
Russia and China, which represented 19% and 11% of total Group revenues respectively (2012: no sales in excess of 10% to any country, except for Russia).
During the year ended 31 December 2013 there were no sales in excess of 10% to one customer. During the year ended 31 December 2012 the Group had
sales in excess of 10% to one customer which is an international fertilizer trader. Revenues from this customer represented 12% of total Group revenues for
the year ended 31 December 2012 and were allocated to the Nitrogen, Phosphates and Other segments.
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8 Property, plant and equipment
Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were:

Cost
Balance at
1 January 2013
Additions and transfers from
assets under construction
Disposals
Changes in estimates of
asset retirement obligations
(Note 23)
Write-off of idle property,
plant and equipment
Currency translation
difference (Note 2)
Balance at
31 December 2013
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at
1 January 2013
Charge for the year
Disposals
Write-off of idle property,
plant and equipment
Currency translation
difference (Note 2)
Balance at
31 December 2013
Net Carrying Value
Balance at
1 January 2013
Balance at
31 December 2013

Buildings

Land and Land
Improvements

Transfer
devices

Machinery and
equipment

Transport

Other

Assets under
construction

Total

16,134,777

17,177,999

11,473,262

56,486,581

11,802,199

3,021,038

49,643,406

165,739,262

1,989,611
(18,350)

3,124,686
(141,804)

986,495
(46,147)

6,725,438
(414,527)

914,967
(280,181)

642,301
(71,997)

19,976,450
(49,973)

34,359,948
(1,022,979)

–

(150,390)

–

–

–

–

–

(150,390)

(111,239)

(79,239)

(68,428)

(258,191)

(18,801)

(33,920)

(327,096)

(896,914)

330,334

185,218

157,344

1,446,575

110,136

24,702

80,474

2,334,783

18,325,133

20,116,470

12,502,526

63,985,876

12,528,320

3,582,124

69,323,261

200,363,710

(4,092,182)
(907,107)
15,418

(2,809,305)
(901,355)
30,252

(3,519,114) (21,431,480)
(808,738) (5,909,029)
39,311
348,404

(4,557,574)
(891,081)
226,065

(1,530,248)
(450,188)
62,615

–
–
–

(37,939,903)
(9,867,498)
722,065

57,072

11,033

30,769

168,737

11,094

28,494

–

307,199

(86,151)

(74,660)

(50,934)

(463,839)

(24,643)

(14,424)

–

(714,651)

(5,012,950)

(3,744,035)

(4,308,706) (27,287,207)

(5,236,139)

(1,903,751)

–

(47,492,788)

12,042,595

14,368,694

7,954,148

35,055,101

7,244,625

1,490,790

49,643,406

127,799,359

13,312,183

16,372,435

8,193,820

36,698,669

7,292,181

1,678,373

69,323,261

152,870,922
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8 Property, plant and equipment continued
Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were:

Cost
Balance at
1 January 2012
Additions and transfers from
assets under construction
Acquisitions through
business combinations
Disposals
Changes in estimates of
asset retirement
obligations (Note 23)
Write-off of portion of assets
at the Gremyachinskoe
potash deposit
Write-off of grouting
technology costs incurred
on cage shaft construction
Write-off of advances given
to construction company
(Write-off)/reversal of write
off of idle property, plant
and equipment
Currency translation
difference (Note 2)
Balance at
31 December 2012
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at
1 January 2012
Charge for the year
Disposals
Write-off/(reversal of write
off) of idle property, plant
and equipment
Currency translation
difference (Note 2)
Balance at
31 December 2012
Net Carrying Value
Balance at
1 January 2012
Balance at
31 December 2012

Buildings

Land and Land
Improvements

Transfer
devices

Machinery and
equipment

Transport

Other

Assets under
construction

Total

13,122,296

13,759,854

8,094,754

37,633,733

10,548,037

2,422,525

45,854,456

131,435,655

2,159,564

3,311,727

2,910,371

11,505,941

1,333,415

693,738

7,460,260

29,375,016

927,376
(36,436)

–
(12,481)

544,775
(57,033)

7,994,359
(630,750)

25,952
(80,229)

5,175
(91,887)

83,854
(85,019)

9,581,491
(993,835)

–

187,983

–

–

–

–

–

187,983

–

–

–

–

–

–

(3,116,000)

(3,116,000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(484,808)

(484,808)

4,065

–

(1,266)

(98,377)

(25)

(2,574)

(71,694)

(169,871)

(42,088)

(69,084)

(18,339)

81,675

(24,951)

(5,939)

2,357

(76,369)

16,134,777

17,177,999

11,473,262

56,486,581

11,802,199

3,021,038

49,643,406

165,739,262

(3,165,536)
(956,288)
19,717

(2,165,905)
(671,704)
8,226

(2,940,637) (17,403,805)
(610,977) (4,560,098)
21,199
445,371

(3,822,626)
(808,983)
67,571

(1,184,245)
(424,994)
73,174

–
–
–

(30,682,754)
(8,033,044)
635,258

(3,230)

–

1,209

24,228

9

1,880

–

24,096

13,155

20,078

10,092

62,824

6,455

3,937

–

116,541

(4,092,182)

(2,809,305)

(3,519,114) (21,431,480)

(4,557,574)

(1,530,248)

–

(37,939,903)

9,956,760

11,593,949

5,154,117

20,229,928

6,725,411

1,238,280

45,854,456

100,752,901

12,042,595

14,368,694

7,954,148

35,055,101

7,244,625

1,490,790

49,643,406

127,799,359
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8 Property, plant and equipment continued
The analysis of the Group’s assets under construction is:

Construction in progress
Advances given to construction companies
and suppliers of property, plant and equipment
Evaluation expenses
Total assets under construction

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

62,738,463

44,657,914

6,277,525
307,273
69,323,261

4,770,571
214,921
49,643,406

Write-off of a portion of the assets at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit
During the year ended 31 December 2012 the Group wrote off a portion of the assets at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit comprised of expenses previously
capitalised amounting to RR 3,116,000 thousand, an advance given to Shaft Sinkers (Pty) Ltd (Shaft Sinkers) of RR 484,808 thousand and RR 85,187 thousand
attributed to other debtors, primarily due to problems with the grouting technology employed by Shaft Sinkers in the cage shaft construction and its inability to
fulfil contractual obligations (Note 34).
Idle property, plant and equipment write-off
During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group decided to mothball certain production equipment with cost and accumulated depreciation of RR 896,914
thousand and RR 307,199 thousand, respectively (2012: cost of RR 169,871 thousand and accumulated depreciation of RR 24,096 thousand) and recognised a
loss of RR 589,715 thousand in these consolidated financial statements (2012: RR 145,775 thousand) (Note 26, 29).
Evaluation expenses at the Darganovsky and Ravninny potash fields
At 31 December 2013 the Group has capitalised expenses relating to the evaluation stage of the Darganovsky and Ravninny potash fields of RR 307,273
thousand (31 December 2012: RR 214,921 thousand), including capitalised interest of RR 20,395 thousand. These expenses were recognised in property, plant
and equipment. In most cases such expenses are paid in the period when the services are provided.
Borrowing costs capitalised
During the year ended 31 December 2013 borrowing costs totalling RR 538,042 thousand (2012: RR 190,713 thousand) were capitalised in property, plant and
equipment at an average interest rate of 5.05% p.a. (2012: 4.74% p.a.).
Operating leases
As at 31 December 2013 the land plots under the main production facilities were owned by the Group. Also several Group subsidiaries occupied the land under
non-cancellable operating lease agreements, for which the future minimum payments are as follows:

Shorter than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
Longer than 5 years
Total payments

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

200,267
766,215
5,719,063
6,685,545

199,236
755,629
4,161,056
5,115,921
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9 Mineral rights
Rights for exploration and production:
Verkhnekamskoe potash deposit
Gremyachinskoe potash deposit
Kok-Jon and Gimmelfarbskoe phosphate deposits
Kovdorskiy apatite deposits
Rights for exploration, evaluation and extraction:
Zapadno-Perelyubskiy potash deposit
Yuzhny hydrocarbon deposit
Perelyubsko-Rubezhinskiy hydrocarbon deposit
Vostochno-Perelyubskiy potash deposit
Rights for proven and unproven mineral resources:
Zapadno-Yaroyakhinsky hydrocarbon deposit
Total mineral rights

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

4,087,166
3,017,781
1,170,342
166,549

4,087,166
3,017,781
1,110,031
166,549

30,006
–
22,078
23,406

30,006
24,455
22,078
23,406

6,759,700
15,277,028

6,854,258
15,335,730

Rights for exploration and production
Verknekamskoe and Gremyachinskoe potash deposits. In accordance with the conditions of the licence agreements including amendments to these agreements
for developing the potash deposits, the Group has the following major commitments:
• to commence extraction of potash salt at the Verkhnekamskoe potash deposit by 15 October 2015;
• to commence extraction of potash salt at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit by 1 November 2014.
The Group has started construction of the mining facilities at both sites.
The management believes that each stage under the license terms for Verkhnekamskoe potash deposit development will be completed according to the schedule.
The licence terms in respect of the timing of Gremyachinskoe potash deposit are already being renegotiated.
As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 the Verkhnekamskoe and Gremyachinskoe potash deposits were in the development phase.
Kok-Jon and Gimmelfarbskoe phosphate deposits. In 2012 the Group signed a contract with the authorities of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the extraction of
phosphate rock at the Kok-Jon and Gimmelfarbskoe deposits in Kazakhstan’s Zhambyl region. In October 2013 the Group started the development of the
Kok-Jon phosphate rock deposit.
Rights for exploration, evaluation and extraction
As of 31 December 2013 the deposits under licences for the exploration, evaluation and extraction were in the exploration phase.
Under the terms of valid licences for the exploration and development of mineral resource deposits, the Group is required to comply with a number of conditions,
including preparation of design documentation, commencement of the construction of mining facilities and commencement of the extraction of mineral resources
by certain dates. If the Group fails to materially comply with the terms of the licence agreements there are circumstances whereby the licences can be revoked.
The management of the Group believes that the Group faces no material regulatory risks in relation to the validity and operation of any of its licences.

10 Goodwill
Movements in goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries are:
Carrying amount at 1 January
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Currency translation difference
Carrying amount at 31 December

2013

2012

11,371,695
–
1,305,455
12,677,150

295,275
10,822,521
253,899
11,371,695

Goodwill impairment test
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) which represent the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored by management and
which are not larger than a segment, as follows:

EuroChem Antwerpen NV
EuroChem Agro
Other
Total carrying amount of goodwill
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10 Goodwill continued
The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on development
strategy and financial budgets approved by management covering a five year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rates stated below. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business sector of the economy in which the CGU operates.
Management determined budgeted prices and expenses based on past performance and market expectations. The weighted average growth rate used is
consistent with the forecasts included in industry reports.
Assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are listed below:
31 December
2013

WACC rates
Long-term annual inflation rate
Estimated growth rate beyond the five-year period

8.8%
1.6%-2%
2.0%

31 December
2012

10.0%
2.0%
2.0%

The Group did not recognise any goodwill impairment at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

11 Intangible assets
Movements in the carrying amount of intangible assets were:
Know-how
and production
technology

Customer
relationships

Cost at 1 January 2012
Accumulated amortisation

–
–

–
–

413,034
(342,163)

667,909
(128,317)

1,080,943
(470,480)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2012

–

–

70,871

539,592

610,463

Additions
Acquired through business combinations
Disposals:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Reclassification to non-current assets held for sale:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Amortisation charge
Currency translation difference
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Cost at 31 December 2012
Accumulated amortisation

–
3,353,225

–
3,597,778

9,909
705,856

113,971
551,892

123,880
8,208,751

–
–

–
–

–
–

(469)
2

(469)
2

–
–
(289,744)

(983,366)
44,698
(127,917)

–
–
(237,891)

–
–
(151,110)

(983,366)
44,698
(806,662)

57,230
(1,263)
3,410,455
(291,007)

(54,731)
58
2,559,681
(83,161)

18,821
(875)
1,147,620
(580,929)

8,027
962
1,341,330
(278,463)

29,347
(1,118)
8,459,086
(1,233,560)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012

3,119,448

2,476,520

566,691

1,062,867

7,225,526

Additions
Disposals:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Amortisation charge
Currency translation difference:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Cost at 31 December 2013
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at 31 December 2013

–

–

110,864

8,267

119,131

–
–
(427,839)

–
–
(184,402)

–
–
(308,563)

(5,906)
458
(154,717)

(5,906)
458
(1,075,521)

398,636
(57,846)
3,809,091
(776,692)
3,032,399

292,941
(11,579)
2,852,622
(279,142)
2,573,480

94,799
(42,600)
1,353,283
(932,092)
421,191

65,293
(3,653)
1,408,984
(436,375)
972,609

851,669
(115,678)
9,423,980
(2,424,301)
6,999,679

Acquired
software
and licences

Other

Total

During the year ended 31 December 2012 an intangible asset with carrying value of RR 938,668 thousand, initially recognised as part of a business
combination, was reclassified as held for sale and subsequently sold. The result was recognised as other operating expense.
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12 Available-for-sale investments, including shares pledged as collateral
The Group sold all available-for-sale investments which were comprised solely of the shares of K+S Group, a German manufacturer of potassium-based fertilizers
and salt, by 31 December 2013.

K+S Group ordinary shares
K+S Group ordinary shares pledged as collateral
Total available-for-sale investments

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

–
–
–

1,914,636
909,017
2,823,653

Movements in the carrying amount of available-for-sale investments, including shares pledged as collateral, were:
2013

Carrying amount at 1 January
Acquisition of available-for-sale investments
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments
Disposal of available-for-sale investments, including:
– available-for-sale investments at cost
– reclassification of revaluation to profit and loss
Carrying amount at 31 December

2012

2,823,653
–
(1,419,124)

22,467,999
59,607
711,688

(2,953,774)
1,549,245
–

(19,847,259)
(568,382)
2,823,653

K+S Group shares, including shares pledged as collateral
At 31 December 2012 the Group held 2,005,434 shares, or 1.048% of the issued share capital of K+S Group with a fair value of RR 2,823,653 thousand with
reference to the share price quoted on the Xetra trading system of Euro 35.00 per share.
During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group sold 2,005,434 shares of K+S Group to EuroChem Group S.E., the parent company of the Group, for
RR 1,404,529 thousand and recognised a loss of RR 1,549,245 thousand in the profit and loss. Out of the total, 89,436 shares were sold for a consideration
of RR 101,489 thousand paid in ten business days (Note 33) and 1,915,998 shares were sold for RR 1,303,040 thousand with a deferred payment bearing
an interest of 3-month Libor +2%. This deferred payment was recognised as an originated loan and was settled in December 2013 (Note 16).
K+S Group shares pledged as collateral
At 31 December 2013 the Group did not hold any K+S Group shares pledged as collateral.
As at 31 December 2012 the Group had 645,608 K+S Group shares pledged as collateral for a bank loan with a fair value of RR 909,017 thousand with
reference to the share price quoted on the Xetra trading system (Note 19). Pledged shares were reclassified to a separate line named ‘Available-for-sale
investments pledged as collateral’ in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the mortgagee had the right to use and dispose of these shares.
The Group held economic exposure in relation to the encumbered and/or used shares. The mortgagee was obliged to replace the original financial collateral
by transferring equivalent securities upon the performance of the obligations of the mortgagor.
Dividends and withholding tax
In May 2013 the Group received dividend income from K+S Group of RR 114,204 thousand (2012: RR 101,676 thousand) offset by withholding tax of
RR 30,121 thousand (2012: RR 26,817 thousand). In July 2013 the Group received RR 12,644 thousand of withholding tax refund on dividends paid during
2012 (2012: RR 69,969 thousand of withholding tax refund on dividends paid during 2011).

13 Investment in associates
In April 2013 the Group acquired 53,943 ordinary shares of OJSC ‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’ (the ‘Associate’) located in the North-West of Russia
and owning 100% shares of CJSC ‘Agrosphera’, for RR 3,113,860 thousand paid in cash. Out of the total payment, RR 2,522,755 thousand was paid in
December 2012 and RR 591,105 thousand was paid in April 2013.
In September 2013 the Group acquired 670 ordinary shares of the Associate on the basis of the mandatory offer for RR 38,675 thousand paid in cash.
The share capital of OJSC ‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’ consists of 113,160 ordinary shares and 37,718 preference shares. Ordinary shares held by the
Group of 54,613 represent 48.26% of total number of the ordinary shares and 36.20% of total issued share capital of OJSC ‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’.
The General meeting of the shareholders of OJSC ‘Murmansk Commercial Seaport’ held in August 2013 resolved not to pay dividends for the year 2012.
As a result the holders of the preference shares gained voting rights and the voting rights of the Group have reduced from 48.26% to 36.20%.
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13 Investment in associates continued
Movements in the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in associates were:
2013

Carrying amount at 1 January
Acquisition of interest in associates
Share of profit from associates
Carrying amount at 31 December

–
3,152,535
379,105
3,531,640

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of Group’s interest in associates as at 31 December 2013:
OJSC ‘Murmansk
Commercial
Seaport’

Opening net assets 1 January 2013
Net assets at acquisition date
Profit for the period
Dividends on preference shares for the period
Closing net assets at 31 December 2013
Interest in associates, %
Interest in associates
Goodwill
Carrying value at 31 December 2013

–
3,909,527
913,617
(117,806)
4,705,338
48.26%
2,270,796
1,260,844
3,531,640

Net assets of associate were adjusted for theoretical dividends on preference shares. Dividends on preference shares are determined as 10% of net statutory
profit for the reporting period.
The right of holders of preference shares to receive dividends is not absolute and dividends will only be paid after the shareholders decision to declare the
dividends. The preference shares are non-cumulative, i.e. unpaid dividends for the previous periods will not be declared and paid in the future periods.
No dividends on preference shares were declared or paid in 2013.
Summarised financial information of associates is as follows at 31 December 2013:
OJSC ‘Murmansk
Commercial
Seaport’

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net assets
Sales from the date of acquisition
Net profit from the date of acquisition

3,066,737
3,529,832
(347,205)
(1,544,026)
4,705,338
3,146,250
913,617

14 Inventories
Finished goods
Materials
Catalysts
Work in progress
Less: provision for obsolete and damaged inventories
Total inventories

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

10,090,537
7,152,950
3,332,012
2,429,338
(334,086)
22,670,751

12,204,775
6,676,323
2,930,421
1,546,258
(351,458)
23,006,319
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15 Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other current assets
Trade receivables
Trade receivables denominated in RR
Trade receivables denominated in US$
Trade receivables denominated in Euro
Trade receivables denominated in other currencies
Less: impairment provision
Total trade receivables – financial assets
Prepayments, other receivables and other current assets
Advances to suppliers
VAT recoverable and receivable
Income tax receivable
Other taxes receivable
Other receivables
Less: impairment provision
Subtotal non-financial assets
Other receivables
Interest receivable
Subtotal financial assets
Total prepayments, other receivables and other current assets
Total trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other current assets
Including
Financial assets
Non-financial assets

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

1,848,881
4,118,169
5,290,300
889,534
(251,809)
11,895,075

1,379,193
3,124,112
6,180,130
184,036
(299,916)
10,567,555

2,949,696
4,577,592
185,234
364,647
624,158
(215,628)
8,485,699
213,933
31,539
245,472
8,731,171

3,571,238
4,840,961
189,113
16,008
575,366
(220,048)
8,972,638
321,067
11,353
332,420
9,305,058

20,626,246

19,872,613

12,140,547
8,485,699

10,899,975
8,972,638

Management believes that the fair value of accounts receivable does not differ significantly from their carrying amounts.
As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other current assets of RR 467,437 thousand (31 December 2012: RR
519,964 thousand) were individually impaired and an impairment provision was recognised. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to counterparties
which are facing significant financial difficulties. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Less than three months
From three to 12 months
Over 12 months
Total gross amount of impaired trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other current assets

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

42,497
69,758
355,182
467,437

–
106,985
412,979
519,964

As at 31 December 2013, trade receivables of RR 1,342,818 thousand (31 December 2012: RR 915,247 thousand) were past due but not impaired; of this
amount RR 734,639 thousand were covered either by credit insurance, bank guarantees or backed by solid ratings from independent rating agencies. The ageing
analysis of these trade receivables from past due date is:

Less than three months
From three to 12 months
Over 12 months
Trade accounts receivable past due not impaired
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31 December
2013

31 December
2012

1,020,749
288,883
33,186
1,342,818

737,344
169,053
8,850
915,247
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15 Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and other current assets continued
The movements in the provision for impairment of accounts receivable are:
2013
Trade
receivables

As at 1 January
Acquisitions through business combinations
Provision charged
Provision used
Provision reversed
Foreign exchange difference
Total provision for impairment of accounts receivable as at 31 December

299,916
–
74,483
(107,354)
(31,266)
16,030
251,809

Other
receivables

220,048
–
99,305
(80,980)
(26,461)
3,716
215,628

2012
Trade
receivables

Other
receivables

246,628
105,311
96,352
(19,810)
(123,027)
(5,538)
299,916

161,311
–
127,709
(61,886)
(5,398)
(1,688)
220,048

16 Originated loans
Note

Balance as at 1 January
Originated loan recognised from sale transaction of K+S Group shares to parent company
Originated loan to parent company
Originated loan to other related party
Originated loan to JV partner
Loan provided to the acquired subsidiary before acquisition
Intragroup elimination of loan provided to the acquired subsidiary before acquisition
Repayment of originated loans to parent company
Repayment of loans acquired in a business combination transaction by a third party
Repayment of originated loans by related parties
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Balance as at 31 December

12
33
33

33
33

Note

Current originated loans
Unsecured US$ denominated loan to the partner of the Hong Kong Joint Venture (note 37), fixed interest
rate 6.5% p.a.
Total current originated loans
Non-current originated loans
Unsecured US$ denominated loan to related party, which is the entity under common control with the
Group, interest rate 2.62% p.a.
Total non-current originated loans
Total originated loans

33

2013

2012

–
1,303,040
659,482
405,602
99,575
–
–
(2,005,728)
–
–
51,877
513,848

6,301,867
–
–
1,927,340
–
116,229
(117,512)
–
(6,301,867)
(1,920,005)
(6,052)
–

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

98,188
98,188

–
–

415,660
415,660
513,848

–
–
–
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17 Cash and cash equivalents, fixed-term deposits and restricted cash
Cash on hand and bank balances denominated in RR
Bank balances denominated in US$
Bank balances denominated in Euro
Bank balances denominated in other currencies
Term deposits denominated in RR
Term deposits denominated in US$
Term deposits denominated in Euro
Term deposits denominated in other currencies
Total cash and cash equivalents
Fixed-term deposits in RR
Fixed-term deposits in US$
Fixed-term deposits in Euro
Total fixed-term deposits
Current restricted cash
Non-current restricted cash
Total restricted cash

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

636,604
5,830,088
7,091,967
428,598
985,890
1,152,418
53,520
373,310
16,552,395

1,524,397
3,029,315
4,401,502
311,452
610,919
993,372
4,275,552
297,638
15,444,147

2,341,600
92,506
7,650
2,441,756
–
88,558
88,558

1,361,570
2,277,953
32,073
3,671,596
405,442
44,003
449,445

Term deposits at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 are held to meet short term cash needs and have various original maturities but can be withdrawn
on request without any restrictions.
Fixed-term deposits have various original maturities and can be withdrawn with early notification and/or with penalty accrued or interest income forfeited.
No bank balances, term and fixed-term deposits are past due or impaired. Analysis of the credit quality of bank balances, term and fixed-term deposits is
as follows:

A to AAA rated*
BB- to BBB+ rated*
B- to B+ rated*
C to CCC rated*
Unrated
Total

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

14,494,899
3,982,279
565,491
–
37,788
19,080,457

12,312,745
6,764,587
468,535
3,314
13,814
19,562,995

* Based on the credit ratings of independent rating agencies Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings as at 15 January 2014.

At 31 December 2013 there was no current restricted cash held at banks. At 31 December 2012 current restricted cash held at banks totalling
RR 405,442 thousand consisted of RR 382,757 thousand held in banks to meet the next principal and interest payments on bank borrowings and of
RR 22,685 thousand to comply with statutory regulations.
At 31 December 2013 RR 88,558 thousand of non-current restricted cash (31 December 2012: RR 44,003 thousand) was held in bank accounts as security
deposits for third parties.

18 Equity
Share capital. The nominal registered amount of the Company’s issued share capital at 31 December 2013 is RR 6.8 billion (31 December 2012: RR 6.8 billion).
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 68 million shares (31 December 2012: 68 million shares) with a par value of RR 100 per share. All authorised
shares have been issued and fully paid.

At 31 December 2012
At 31 December 2013
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Number
of ordinary
shares

Share capital,
RR thousand

Number
of treasury
shares

68,000,000
68,000,000

6,800,000
6,800,000

7,812,395
8,598,009

Treasury
shares at
acquisition cost,
RR thousand

(39,047,045)
(44,687,136)
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18 Equity
Treasury shares. During the year ended 31 December 2013 there were the following transactions with treasury shares:
• the title on 118,617 own shares representing 0.17% of the issued share capital was transferred to the Group, prepayment for which of RR 683,999 thousand
was made to EuroChem Group S.E., the parent company of the Group, in December 2012;
• the Group bought back from EuroChem Group S.E. 2,271,276 of its own shares which represented 3.34% of the issued share capital for
RR 13,359,153 thousand paid in cash;
• the Group sold to EuroChem Group S.E. 1,604,279 of its own shares which represented 2.36% of the issued share capital for RR 9,885,186 thousand
received in cash. The gain on this transaction of RR 1,482,125 thousand was recognised directly in equity.
Therefore, at 31 December 2013 EuroChem Capital Management Ltd, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, held 8,598,009 ordinary shares of the Company
(31 December 2012: 7,812,395 ordinary shares). These shares represent 12.64% (31 December 2012: 11.49%) of the Company’s share capital and carry
voting rights in the same proportion as other ordinary shares.
Capital contribution. During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group received the capital contribution from its shareholder of RR 1,589,459 thousand
(Note 33). This contribution was accounted for as a reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Profit distribution. In accordance with Russian legislation, the Company distributes profits as dividends or transfers them to reserves (fund accounts) on
the basis of financial statements prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Rules. The statutory accounting reports of the Company are the basis
for profit distribution and other appropriations. Russian legislation identifies the net statutory profit as the basis for distribution. For the year ended
31 December 2013, the net statutory profit of the Company as reported in the published annual statutory accounting report was RR 29,930,816 thousand
(2012: RR 20,591,476 thousand) and the closing balance of the accumulated profit including the net statutory profit totalled RR 120,447,120 thousand
(31 December 2012: RR 90,516,304 thousand). However, this legislation and other statutory laws and regulations are open to legal interpretation in relation to
the depletion of distributable reserves. Accordingly management believes that, at present, it would not be appropriate to disclose an amount for the distributable
reserves in these consolidated financial statements.
Dividends. During 2013 and 2012 the Group did not declare or pay dividends.
Other reserves. As at 31 December 2013 an accumulated net gain from currency translation differences of RR 6,663,503 thousand (31 December 2012:
RR 1,485,464 thousand) was recorded in other reserves in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. As at 31 December 2012 a negative reserve of
RR 130,121 thousand related to a decrease in the fair value of the investments in the shares of K+S Group below their historical cost was recorded in other
reserves in the consolidated statement of changes in equity (Note 12).

19 Bank borrowings
31 December
2013

Current bank borrowings
Short-term bank loans, denominated in US$
Short-term bank loans, denominated in Euro
Current portion of long-term bank loans in RR
Current portion of long-term bank loans in US$
Current portion of long-term bank loans in Euro
Less: short-term portion of transaction costs
Total current bank borrowings
Non-current bank borrowings
Long-term bank loans, denominated in RR
Long-term bank loans, denominated in US$
Long-term bank loans, denominated in Euro
Less: current portion of long-term bank loans in RR
Less: current portion of long-term bank loans in US$
Less: current portion of long-term bank loans in Euro
Less: long-term portion of transaction costs
Total non-current bank borrowings
Total bank borrowings

31 December
2012

981,876
–
2,500,000
4,862,646
161,515
(135,296)
8,370,741

–
603,429
–
6,350,925
72,242
(218,613)
6,807,983

20,000,000
52,962,611
1,534,391
(2,500,000)
(4,862,646)
(161,515)
(1,321,111)
65,651,730
74,022,471

20,000,000
45,669,328
1,444,860
–
(6,350,925)
(72,242)
(1,124,637)
59,566,384
66,374,367
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19 Bank borrowings continued
Movements in Group’s bank borrowings during 2013 and 2012 were as follows:
2013

Balance as at 1 January
Bank loans received, denominated in US$
Bank loans received, denominated in Euro
Bank loans received, denominated in Ukrainian Hryvna
Bank loans repaid, denominated in US$
Bank loans repaid, denominated in Euro
Bank loans repaid, denominated in Ukrainian Hryvna
Capitalisation and amortisation of transaction costs, net
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net
Balance as at 31 December

2012

66,374,367
77,341,467
–
616,318
(73,763,050)
(734,028)
(617,021)
600,123
4,204,295
74,022,471

77,395,339
12,377,927
125,113
–
(16,675,458)
(3,295,374)
–
267,135
(3,820,315)
66,374,367

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

8,370,741
19,971,014
44,454,880
1,225,836
74,022,471

6,807,983
16,973,081
41,024,285
1,569,018
66,374,367

The Group’s bank borrowings mature:

– within 1 year
– between 1 and 2 years
– between 2 and 5 years
– more than 5 years
Total bank borrowings

At 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 the fair value of current bank borrowings and borrowings bearing floating interest rates was not materially
different from their carrying amounts.
The fair value of borrowings bearing fixed interest rate is estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at an interest rate of 6.81% at 31 December 2013
exceeding their carrying amount by RR 557,643 thousand (31 December 2012: fair value estimated with interest rate of 6.5% exceeded the carrying amount by
RR 1,081,570 thousand).
The Group has not entered into any hedging arrangements in respect of its foreign currency obligations or interest rate exposures.
Under the terms of loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a number of covenants and restrictions, including the maintenance of certain financial
ratios and financial indebtedness and cross-default provisions.
Interest rates and outstanding amounts
In September 2013 the Group obtained a credit facility of US$ 1.3 billion bearing interest at 3-month Libor +1.8 % and maturing in September 2018. This new
facility replaced the 5-year club loan which was obtained in 2011 for US$ 1.3 billion with a floating interest rate of 1-month Libor +1.8% and repaid in
September 2013.
In 2011 the Group signed a RR 20 billion 5-year non-revolving fixed-interest rate loan facility with a leading Russian bank. As at 31 December 2013 the
outstanding amount was RR 20 billion (31 December 2012: RR 20 billion).
In 2010 the Group signed a 10-year export credit agency-backed loan facility with a floating interest rate based on 6-month Libor for financing the construction
of the cage shaft at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit. In 2012, due to the termination of a construction contract US$ 261 million of the initial credit limit was
reduced to US$ 109.5 million. At 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was US$ 94.9 million (31 December 2012: US$ 109.5 million).
In 2012 the Group signed a US$ 100 million framework agreement for a 2-year revolving facility bearing a floating interest rate based on Libor. During the year
ended 31 December 2013 the facility was utilised and at 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was US$ 30 million (31 December 2012: nil).
In March 2012 the Group signed a US$ 83.3 million credit line agreement with a European commercial bank, bearing a floating interest rate based on 1-month
Libor and maturity in August 2015. In November 2012 the credit limit was increased to US$ 94.1 million. The payments on this loan started in August 2013.
At 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was US$ 75.2 million (31 December 2012: US$ 94.1 million).
In 2010 the Group signed a Euro 36.7 million, 13-year export credit agency-backed loan facility with a floating interest rate based on 6-month Euribor for
financing the acquisition of permanent hoisting equipment for the cage and skip shafts of the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit development project from
a Czech engineering company. After the end of the availability period in February 2013 the credit limit was reduced to the utilised amount of Euro 35.9 million.
At 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was Euro 34.1 million (31 December 2012: Euro 35.9 million).
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19 Bank borrowings continued
In 2009 the Group signed a loan agreement for Euro 85 million at a floating interest rate based on 1-month Euribor, which was converted into a revolving
committed facility in 2010. In 2012 the credit limit was reduced to Euro 30 million. In March 2013 an amendment was signed which extended the maturity to
March 2014. In August 2013 this loan was repaid in full before its stated maturity.
In September 2012 the Group signed a US$ 120 million 1-year credit line agreement bearing a floating interest rate based on 3-month Libor. In December 2012
it was converted into a revolving facility. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the facility was fully utilised and repaid.
In 2012 the Group signed a US$ 75 million framework agreement for a 2-year revolving facility bearing a floating interest rate based on Libor. During the year
ended 31 December 2013 the facility was partially utilised and repaid (31 December 2012: nil).
In 2010 the Group signed a US$ 250 million 5-year credit line agreement bearing a floating interest rate based on 1-month Libor with a European commercial
bank. At 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was US$ 148 million (31 December 2012: nil).
In October 2013 the Group signed a 3-month fixed-interest rate loan facility for 90 million Ukrainian Hryvnas in order to finance activities at Ukrainian-based
subsidiary of the Group. The facility was utilised and fully repaid in December 2013.
In October 2013 the Group signed a US$ 100 million 3-month fixed interest rate credit agreement with a Russian bank. The facility was utilised and was fully
repaid in December 2013.
Undrawn loan facilities
In October 2013 the Group signed a US$ 250 million 2-year loan agreement bearing a floating interest rate. At 31 December 2013 the outstanding amount was
nil (31 December 2012: nil).
Collaterals and pledges
At 31 December 2013 the Group did not have assets pledged or held as collateral.
At 31 December 2012 the Group’s collaterals included:
• cash collateral of RR 382,757 thousand restricted by banks to secure the next principal and interest payments (Note 17);
• a bank loan of RR 39,484,510 thousand collateralised by future export proceeds of the Group under sales contracts with certain customers. The loan was
fully repaid;
• a bank loan of RR 603,429 thousand secured by K+S Group shares as collateral which was represented by 645,608 shares with a fair value of
RR 909,017 thousand at 31 December 2012. Fair value was determined by reference to the share price quoted on the Xetra trading system (Note 12).
The loan was fully repaid.

20 Bonds issued
31 December 2013
Fair value Carrying amount

5.125% 750 million US$-denominated bonds due December 2017
8.9% RR-denominated bonds due June 2018/callable by investors in July 2015
8.25% RR-denominated bonds due November 2018/callable by investors
in November 2015
Less: transaction costs
Total bonds issued

31 December 2012
Fair value
Carrying amount

24,757,758
5,040,000

24,546,900
5,000,000

23,434,436
5,013,500

22,779,525
5,000,000

5,013,000
–
34,810,758

5,000,000
(163,462)
34,383,438

4,950,000
–
33,397,936

5,000,000
(189,643)
32,589,882

The fair value of the outstanding US$-denominated bonds and RR-denominated bonds was determined with reference to their quotations on the Irish Stock
Exchange and the Moscow Stock Exchange, respectively.
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21 Derivative financial assets and liabilities
At 31 December 2013 the non-current derivative financial assets were represented by RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts accounted for at a fair value
of RR 1,063,749 thousand (31 December 2012: non-current derivative financial assets comprised RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts accounted for at
a fair value of RR 1,925,577 thousand and cross currency interest rate swap accounted for at a fair value of RR 22,844 thousand).
The current derivative financial assets were represented by RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts accounted for at a fair value of RR 326,983 thousand
and EUR/US$ deliverable forward contracts accounted for at a fair value of RR 4,560 thousand (31 December 2012: EUR/US$ deliverable forward contracts
accounted for at a fair value of RR 63 thousand).
At 31 December 2013 the non-current derivative financial liabilities were represented by a non-current portion of a cross currency interest rate swap accounted
for at a fair value of RR 142,385 thousand.
The current derivative financial liabilities were represented by a current portion of the cross currency interest rate swap and by call options on iron ore accounted
for at a fair value of RR 212,300 thousand and RR 12,963 thousand, respectively.
At 31 December 2012 the Group did not have any derivative financial liabilities.
At 31 December 2013 the derivative financial assets and liabilities were:
Assets
Non-current

RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts with a nominal amount of RR 19,000 million
RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts with a nominal amount of RR 6,600 million
EUR/US$ deliverable forward contracts with a nominal amount of US$ 3,575 thousand
Cross currency interest rate swap
Call options on iron ore
Total

1,063,749
–
–
–
–
1,063,749

Current

–
326,983
4,560
–
–
331,543

Liabilities
Non-current

–
–
–
142,385
–
142,385

Current

–
–
–
212,300
12,963
225,263

At 31 December 2012 the derivative financial assets and liabilities were:
Assets
Non-current

RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts with a nominal amount of RR 25,600 million
EUR/US$ deliverable forward contracts with a nominal amount of US$ 1,555 thousand
Cross currency interest rate swap
Total

1,925,577
–
22,844
1,948,421

Current

Liabilities
Non-current

–
63
–
63

Current

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group undertook the following transactions to reduce risks arising from iron-ore price volatility:
• entered into commodity swap contracts on iron ore for a total notional volume of 180 thousand tonnes. These swap contracts matured;
• sold Asian call options on iron ore with a total notional volume of 1,200 thousand tonnes for a total premium of RR 84,358 thousand. Call options with a
notional volume of 900 thousand tonnes expired out of the money, the remaining call options mature in January and February 2014.
Movements in the carrying amount of derivative financial assets/(liabilities) were:
1 January
2013

Operating activities
Swap contracts on iron ore
Call options on iron ore
Foreign exchange deliverable forward contracts, net
Investing activities
Foreign exchange non-deliverable forward contracts, net
Financing activities
Cross currency interest rate swap
Foreign exchange non-deliverable forward contracts, net
Total derivative financial assets and liabilities, net
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63
–
–
63
166,912
166,912
1,781,509
22,844
1,758,665
1,948,484

Changes in
the fair value,
gain/(loss), net

123,689
48,070
71,395
4,224
(78,972)
(78,972)
(620,656)
(164,783)
(455,873)
(575,939)

Cash (proceeds)/
payments on
derivatives, net

(132,428)
(48,070)
(84,358)
–
–
–
(212,746)
(212,746)
–
(345,174)

Currency
translation
difference

273
–
–
273
–
–
–
–
–
273

31 December
2013

(8,403)
–
(12,963)
4,560
87,940
87,940
948,107
(354,685)
1,302,792
1,027,644
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21 Derivative financial assets and liabilities continued
Changes in the fair value of derivatives related to the operating activities of the Group amounting to RR 123,689 thousand were recognised as a gain within
“Other operating income and expenses”.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives related to investing and financing activities totalling RR 699,628 thousand were recognised as a loss within
“Other financial gain/loss” (Note 30).

22 Other non-current liabilities and deferred credits
Note

Deferred payable related to business combination
Deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Provisions for age premium, retirement benefits, pensions and similar obligations
Provision for land restoration
Deferred income − Investment grant received
Total other non-current liabilities and deferred credits

23

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

2,977,984
599,415
1,015,778
380,178
128,527
5,101,882

3,940,287
694,608
927,833
495,825
135,458
6,194,011

In December 2013 the Group paid a portion of deferred compensation of RR 1,600,019 thousand related to the business combination occurred in 2012.

23 Provision for land restoration
In accordance with Russian legislation, the Group has an obligation to restore land disturbed as a result of mining operations after the expiration of the licences.
Movements in the amount of provision for land restoration were as follows:
Note

As at 1 January
Change in estimates
Unwinding of the present value discount
Total provision for land restoration as at 31 December

8
30

2013

495,825
(150,390)
34,743
380,178

2012

283,400
187,983
24,442
495,825

During the year ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 the Group reassessed the estimate of provision for land restoration due to changes in
inflation, discount rates and expected mines closure dates. Therefore, the amount of provision for land restoration was recalculated and the appropriate changes
were disclosed as a change in estimates.
The principal assumptions used for the estimation of land restoration provision were as follows:

Discount rates
Expected inflation rates in Russian Federation
Expected mine closure dates

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

6.3% - 8.2%
2.8% - 5.5%
2015-2073

6.9% - 7.2%
3.0% - 6.2%
2015-2073

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

114,838
4,175
37,175
223,990
380,178

107,614
–
26,593
361,618
495,825

The present value of expected costs to be incurred for the settlement of land restoration obligations was as follows:

Between 1 and 5 years
Between 6 and 10 years
Between 11 and 20 years
More than 20 years
Total provision for land restoration

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 111

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

24 Trade payables, other accounts payable and accrued expenses
31 December
2013

31 December
2012

2,603,069
652,789
5,052,882
230,302
8,539,042

2,110,120
940,460
5,191,035
144,929
8,386,544

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses
Advances received
Payroll and social tax
Accrued liabilities and other creditors
Subtotal non-financial liabilities
Interest payable
Short term part of deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Short term part of deferred payable related to business combination
Subtotal financial liabilities
Total other payables
Total trade payables, other accounts payable and accrued expenses

2,414,715
428,549
5,281,542
8,124,806
219,352
178,968
1,556,330
1,954,650
10,079,456
18,618,498

2,071,792
519,818
4,141,314
6,732,924
180,021
144,387
1,392,241
1,716,649
8,449,573
16,836,117

Including
Financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities

10,493,692
8,124,806

10,103,193
6,732,924

Trade payables
Trade payables denominated in RR
Trade payables denominated in US$
Trade payables denominated in Euro
Trade payables denominated in other currencies
Total trade payables – financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2013 trade payables included payables to suppliers of property, plant and equipment amounting to RR 1,389,397 thousand
(31 December 2012: RR 1,042,528 thousand).
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25 Sales
The components of external sales were:
Nitrogen
Nitrogen fertilizers
Complex fertilizers group
Organic synthesis products
Hydrocarbons
Phosphates
Other goods
Other services
Phosphates
Phosphates
Iron ore concentrate
Feed phosphates group
Apatite concentrate
Baddeleyite concentrate
Complex fertilizers group
Other goods
Other services
Distribution
Nitrogen fertilizers
Phosphates
Complex fertilizers group
Feed phosphates group
Organic synthesis products
Other goods
Other services
Other
Nitrogen fertilizers
Organic synthesis products
Complex fertilizers group
Phosphates
Logistic services
Other goods
Other services
Total sales

2013

2012

49,570,018
21,447,923
10,008,148
2,034,684
1,993,993
1,026,925
911,704
86,993,395

51,690,256
15,480,690
7,341,935
1,865,991
1,418,097
1,204,012
661,468
79,662,449

26,184,841
21,055,795
4,724,796
1,052,577
824,762
–
600,014
533,066
54,975,851

30,822,385
17,836,939
4,396,917
1,314,750
1,000,157
738
845,067
450,645
56,667,598

10,151,984
2,874,189
2,333,764
160,015
–
1,424,734
3,431
16,948,117

9,492,468
3,252,661
2,642,096
243,580
8,482
1,476,990
4,080
17,120,357

13,947,489
189,791
155,268
18,901
520,782
2,051,443
1,135,562
18,019,236
176,936,599

10,176,282
18,511
8,360
54,191
610,743
1,624,802
534,436
13,027,325
166,477,729
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26 Cost of sales
The components of cost of sales were:
2013

Materials and components used or resold
Energy
Utilities and fuel
Labour, including contributions to social funds
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs and maintenance
Production overheads
Property tax, rent payments for land and related taxes
Idle property, plant and equipment write-off
Provision/(reversal of provision) for obsolete and damaged inventories, net
Changes in work in progress and finished goods
Other costs
Total cost of sales

70,112,529
7,995,139
4,625,094
10,931,204
8,011,585
2,737,002
3,076,497
1,923,689
586,207
(1,432)
1,617,993
1,181,503
112,797,010

2012

64,551,618
6,983,158
4,406,660
9,841,730
6,467,269
2,336,272
2,338,121
1,676,390
109,650
70,885
(1,371,501)
357,474
97,767,726

27 Distribution costs
Distribution costs comprised:
2013

Transportation
Export duties, other fees and commissions
Labour, including contributions to social funds
Depreciation and amortisation
Repairs and maintenance
Provision/(reversal of provision) for impairment of receivables, net
Other costs
Total distribution costs

18,589,787
154,990
2,477,223
1,250,781
801,623
(1,839)
1,988,835
25,261,400

2012

18,114,224
183,560
1,819,790
1,102,189
671,539
36,963
1,362,540
23,290,805

28 General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses comprised:
Labour, including contributions to social funds
Depreciation and amortisation
Audit, consulting and legal services
Rent
Bank charges
Social expenditure
Repairs and maintenance
Provision/(reversal of provision) for impairment of receivables, net
Other expenses
Total general and administrative expenses

2013

2012

3,147,773
613,806
682,681
227,853
251,957
172,017
108,694
117,900
1,386,753
6,709,434

2,719,936
517,950
622,631
136,700
135,663
150,802
83,802
58,673
1,172,471
5,598,628

The total depreciation and amortisation expenses included in all captions of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to RR 9,876,172 thousand (2012: RR 8,087,408 thousand).
The total staff costs (including social expenses) included in all captions of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to RR 16,545,509 thousand (2012: RR 14,381,456 thousand).
The fees for the audit of the consolidated and statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to RR 114,347 thousand
(2012: RR 109,769 thousand). The auditors also provided the Group with consulting and training services amounting to RR 54,975 thousand
(2012: RR 49,055 thousand).
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29 Other operating income and expenses
The components of other operating (income) and expenses were:
2013

Sponsorship
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net
Write-off of idle property, plant and equipment
(Gain)/loss on sales and purchases of foreign currencies, net
Compensation for early termination of supply contract
Other operating (income)/expenses, net
Total other operating (income)/expenses, net

838,998
82,264
(392,927)
3,508
(51,591)
–
(54,873)
425,379

2012

515,567
48,129
262,572
36,125
(241,287)
(137,347)
(854,288)
(370,529)

30 Other financial gain and loss
The components of other financial (gain) and loss were:
Note

Changes in the fair value of foreign exchange non-deliverable forward contracts
Changes in the fair value of cross currency interest rate swap
Changes in the fair value of call options
Unwinding of discount on deferred payables
Unwinding of discount on land restoration obligation
Total other financial (gain)/loss, net

23

2013

2012

534,845
164,783
–
210,337
34,743
944,708

(2,073,641)
(562,296)
(6)
145,289
24,442
(2,466,212)

31 Income tax
2013

Income tax expense – current
Deferred income tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences
Prior periods adjustments recognised in the current period for income tax
Effect of assets transfer between subsidiaries with different tax rates
Reassessment of deferred tax assets/liabilities due to change in the tax rate
Income tax expense

6,979,660
(708,493)
307,482
–
115,165
6,693,814

2012

7,401,162
686,847
(174,947)
(183,932)
–
7,729,130

During the year ended 31 December 2013 the Group offset VAT receivable against income tax payables of RR 39,420 thousand (2012: RR 218,025 thousand)
and other taxes payables against income tax receivables of RR 14,408 thousand (2012: RR 11,650 thousand).
A reconciliation between income tax charge calculated at the statutory tax rate of 20% enacted in the Russian Federation, where the Company is incorporated,
and income tax expense calculated at effective tax rate of the Group on profit before taxation is as follows:
2013

Profit before taxation
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate of 20% (2012: 20%)
Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes:
– Non deductible expenses
– Foreign exchange (gain)/loss of the subsidiaries with tax reporting currency different from functional currency
– Effects of tax rates different to 20%
– Write-off of previously recognised tax loss carry forward
– Unrecognised tax loss carry forward for the year
– Reassessment of deferred tax assets/liabilities due to change in the tax rate
– Reassessment of deferred tax assets/liabilities
– Withholding tax refund on dividends paid in prior periods
– Effect from transfer of assets between subsidiaries with different income tax rates
Prior periods adjustments recognised in the current period for income tax
Income tax expense

2012

18,949,459
(3,789,892)

40,298,280
(8,059,656)

(203,578)
(295,253)
(1,608,719)
(69,062)
(246,619)
(115,165)
(70,688)
12,644
–
(307,482)
(6,693,814)

(328,082)
128,124
685,165
–
(257,883)
–
(255,677)
69,969
183,932
104,978
(7,729,130)
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31 Income tax continued
Most of the Group companies located in the Russian Federation were subject to a tax rate of 20% on taxable profits during the year ended 31 December 2013
(2012: 20%). Several subsidiaries applied reduced income tax rates within a range from 15.5% to 19.3% according to regional tax law and agreements with
regional authorities.
During the year ended 31 December 2013 as a result of proceedings with the tax authorities (Note 34) OJSC ‘NAK Azot’ recalculated income tax at a maximum
rate of 20% for periods in which a reduced income tax rate of 18.3% was applied and charged RR 382,794 thousand of additional income tax expenses as prior
period adjustments. The deferred tax liability was also reassessed at the respective tax rate.
For the subsidiaries located outside the Russian Federation tax rates on taxable profit range from 10% to 38.3%, including two major manufacturing entities
Lifosa AB, located in Lithuania, and EuroChem Antwerpen NV, located in Belgium, which apply tax rates of 15% and 33.99% on taxable profits, respectively
(2012: Lifosa AB and EuroChem Antwerpen NV were subject to a tax rate of 15% and 33.99% on taxable profit, respectively).
At 31 December 2013 the Group had RR 7,081,279 thousand (31 December 2012: RR 3,573,573 thousand) of accumulated tax losses carried forward.
Out of these, RR 6,130,730 thousand were recognised as deferred tax assets (31 December 2012: RR 2,869,643 thousand) as the realisation of the related
tax benefits is probable through future taxable profits. The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of RR 950,549 thousand (31 December 2012:
RR 703,930 thousand) because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilise such benefits.
The Group did not recognise a deferred tax liability in respect of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries of RR 61,778,747 thousand
(31 December 2012: RR 68,290,561 thousand). The Group controls the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and does not expect to reverse
them in the foreseeable future. The Group recognised a deferred tax liability in respect of temporary differences related to the investments in associates of
RR 34,141 thousand (2012: nil).
The movement in deferred tax (assets) and liabilities during 2013 and 2012 was as follows:

1 January
2013

Differences
recognition and
reversals

Write-off
of previously
recognised
tax loss
carry forward

Currency
translation
difference
(Note 2)

Effect of change
in the tax rate

31 December
2013

Tax effects of (deductible)/ taxable
temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Inventories
Other
Tax losses carried-forward
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liability

4,818,795
(263,485)
(218,210)
(261,525)
192,044
(3,573,573)
703,930
1,397,976

2,323,902
87,452
(97,168)
209,650
(164,595)
(3,399,844)
246,619
(793,984)

–
–
–
–
–
69,062
–
69,062

(85,880)
(7,739)
(11,441)
1,538
(1,621)
(176,879)
–
(282,022)

44,295
58
(45)
(1,324)
72,226
(45)
–
115,165

7,101,112
(183,714)
(326,864)
(51,661)
98,054
(7,081,279)
950,549
506,197

Recognised deferred tax assets
Recognised deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

(4,898,621)
6,296,597
1,397,976

(807,405)
13,421
(793,984)

69,062
–
69,062

(332,629)
50,607
(282,022)

8
115,157
115,165

(5,969,585)
6,475,782
506,197
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31 Income tax continued
Business
combinations

Currency
translation
difference
(Note 2)

1,720,847
(131,697)
26,723
178,850
335,747
(1,701,506)
257,883
686,847

(1,859,275)
13,249
(17,947)
31,443
(56,866)
–
–
(1,889,396)

(105,744)
6,671
5,913
(1,411)
4,096
(299)
–
(90,774)

(183,932)
–
–
–
–
–
–
(183,932)

4,818,795
(263,485)
(218,210)
(261,525)
192,044
(3,573,573)
703,930
1,397,976

(234,596)
921,443
686,847

(2,796,054)
906,658
(1,889,396)

(61,597)
(29,177)
(90,774)

–
(183,932)
(183,932)

(4,898,621)
6,296,597
1,397,976

1 January
2012

Differences
recognition and
reversals

Tax effects of (deductible)/taxable
temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment and
Intangible assets
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Inventories
Other
Tax losses carried-forward
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liability

5,246,899
(151,708)
(232,899)
(470,407)
(90,933)
(1,871,768)
446,047
2,875,231

Recognised deferred tax assets
Recognised deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liability

(1,806,374)
4,681,605
2,875,231

Transfer of assets
between regions
with different
income tax rates

31 December
2012

The amounts shown in the consolidated statement of financial position include the following:

Deferred tax assets expected to be recovered after more than 12 months
Deferred tax liabilities expected to be settled after more than 12 months

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

(4,871,040)
6,161,112

(4,285,009)
6,067,344

The total amount of the deferred tax charge is recognised in profit and loss except RR 16,429 thousand which is recognised in other comprehensive income
(2012: total amount of the deferred tax charge was recognised in profit and loss).

32 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the period, excluding treasury shares (Note 18). The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares, therefore, the diluted earnings per
share equals the basic earnings per share.
Net profit for the period attributable to owners of the parent
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (expressed in thousands)
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in RR per share)

2013

2012

12,261,945
58,655
209.05

32,575,818
61,581
528.99

33 Balances and transactions with related parties
Parties are considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence or joint control over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is
directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. The relationships with those related parties with whom the Group entered into significant
transactions or had significant balances outstanding are detailed below:

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 117

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

33 Balances and transactions with related parties continued
Financial statements caption

Nature of relationship

Statement of financial position caption
Non-current originated loans (Note 16)
Trade receivables
Trade receivables
Less: impairment provision on trade receivables
Prepayments for treasury shares
Property, plant and equipment:
Advances given to construction companies and suppliers
of property, plant and equipment
Prepayments, other receivables and other current assets:
Interest receivable
Other receivables
Capital contribution (Note 18)
Bonds issued
Trade payables
Trade payables

Other related parties*
Associates
Other related parties
Other related parties
Parent company

Other related parties
Other related parties
Other related parties
Other related parties**
Other related parties
Associates
Other related parties

Financial statements caption

Nature of relationship

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income caption
Sales
Sales
Sales
Cost of sales
Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Other operating income/ (expense), net
Interest income
Interest income

Parent company
Associates
Other related parties
Associates
Other related parties
Associates
Other related parties
Other related parties
Associates
Parent company
Other related parties

Financial statements caption

Statement of cash flows caption
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables
Increase in trade payables
Increase in trade payables
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and other
intangible assets
Acquisition of available-for-sale investment
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments
Originated loans
Originated loans
Repayment of originated loans
Repayment of originated loans
Interest received
Interest received
Repayment of bonds
Purchase of treasury shares
Prepayments for treasury shares
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares
Capital contribution
* Related parties represented by the companies under common control with the Group.
** Related party represented by the companies ultimately controlled by the shareholder.
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Nature of relationship

31 December
2012

415,660
70
4,474
–
–

–
–
16,689
(16,439)
683,999

–

2,471

6,310
33,926
1,589,459
81,823
20,780
75,643

–
863
–
60,745
–
2,840

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

780
59
123,134
(1,850)
(2,513)
(243,434)
(222,286)
(56,016)
(5,473)
16,226
5,806
Note

Other related parties
Other related parties
Associates
Other related parties
Other related parties
Other related parties
Parent company
Parent company
Other related parties*
Parent company
Other related parties*
Parent company
Other related parties
Other related parties
Parent company
Parent company
Parent company
Other related parties**

31 December
2013

12
12
16
16
16
16

18
18
18
18

2013

–
–
78,275
–
(818)
–
(24,285)
–
–
–
11,902
2012

(4,224)
(39,373)
20,780
72,702

829
61,385
–
278

(18,047)
–
101,489
(659,482)
(405,602)
2,005,728
–
13,848
–
–
(13,359,153)
–
9,885,186
1,589,459

(19,840)
(59,607)
20,415,641
–
(1,927,340)
–
1,920,005
–
12,247
(22,018)
(9,367,618)
(683,999)
–
–
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33 Balances and transactions with related parties continued
In the first quarter of 2012 the Group exchanged US$ 246,920 thousand for Euro 185,000 thousand with a related party at the Euro/US$ exchange rate
prevailing in the market at the date of the transaction.
The total key management personnel compensation included in the profit and loss was RR 352,721 thousand and RR 333,361 thousand for the year ended
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, respectively. This compensation is paid to seven individuals (2012: six individuals) who are members of the
Management Board, for their services in full time positions. Compensation is made up of an annual fixed remuneration plus a performance bonus accrual.

34 Contingencies, commitments and operating risks
i Capital expenditure commitments
As at 31 December 2013 the Group had contractual commitments for capital expenditures of RR 24,200,405 thousand (31 December 2012:
RR 14,949,923 thousand), including amounts denominated in Euro and US$ (RR 7,871,637 thousand and RR 584,619 thousand, respectively).
Management estimates that, out of these, approximately RR 19.0 billion will represent cash outflows in 2014.
RR 3,982,268 thousand and RR 9,723,369 thousand out of the total amount relate to the development of potassium salt deposits and the construction
of mining facilities at the Gremyachinskoe and Verkhnekamskoe potash licence areas, respectively (31 December 2012: RR 4,737,712 thousand and
RR 5,014,667 thousand, respectively).
ii Tax legislation
Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations. The Russian tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their
interpretation of the legislation and assessments than the Management of the Group, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been
challenged in the past may be challenged. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the
year of review with possible extension of this period under certain circumstances.
Given the scale and international nature of the Group’s business, intra-group transfer pricing is an inherent tax risk as it is for other international businesses.
The amended Russian transfer pricing legislation (which has been effective since 1 January 2012) is, to a certain extent, better aligned with the international
transfer pricing principles developed by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. Management has prepared transfer pricing documentation
to comply with the new legislation and believes that the pricing policies and implemented procedures are sufficient to be in compliance with the legislation.
Changes in tax laws or their application with respect to matters such as transfer pricing in the countries where the Group has subsidiaries could significantly
increase the Group’s effective tax rate.
As at 31 December 2013 management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is generally appropriate and the Group’s tax, currency and
customs positions will be sustained. Where management believes that it is probable that certain tax positions taken by the Group may not be sustained if
challenged by the tax authorities, the Group recognises provisions for related taxes, interest and penalties. There were no such provisions recorded by the Group
at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.
The Group’s subsidiary OJSC “NAK Azot” was engaged in litigation with the tax authorities relating to the application of a reduced property tax rate. Starting from
1 January 2011 OJSC “NAK Azot” took advantage of the reduced regional property tax and profit tax rates specified in the Tula Region’s regional law.
Throughout 2012, the local tax authorities performed tax audits of property tax returns and challenged the company’s application of the reduced property tax
rate claiming additional property tax, penalties and late payment interest of RR 205 million. The results of these proceedings additionally influenced the reduced
income tax rate and the Group would have had obligations to pay additional income tax and penalties. OJSC “NAK Azot” challenged this in court and submitted
an appeal to the Supreme Court; however it lost its appeal. As a result of the proceedings, OJSC “NAK Azot” used other property tax relief under the Tula
Region’s regional law which compensated property tax claims of RR 205 million from local tax authorities. Also OJSC “NAK Azot” recalculated income tax at a
maximum rate of 20% for periods 2011, 2012 and year ended 31 December 2013 (Note 31).
iii Insurance policies
The Group obtains risk insurance cover as mandated by statutory requirements. The Group also holds voluntary insurance policies covering directors’ and
officers’ liability (D&O insurance), general liability, physical property and business interruption insurance at nitrogen and phosphate production plants, as well as
insurance policies related to trade operations, including export shipments and credit insurance of some trade debtors relating to the distribution of fertilizers.
The Group also carries voluntary life and accident insurance for employees.
Additionally, as part of the potash project the Group has voluntarily insured construction risks for the cage and skip mine shafts at the Gremyachinskoe deposit.
The insurance covers the risks of destruction and damage related to the part of two shafts put into operation with the net book value of RR 494,743 thousand for
the period from June 2013 to June 2014.

EuroChem Annual Report and Accounts 2013 119

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(all amounts are presented in thousands of Russian Roubles, unless otherwise stated)

34 Contingencies, commitments and operating risks continued
iv Environmental matters
Environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The
Group periodically evaluates its obligations under environmental regulations and an immediate response is formulated as required. Potential liabilities, which
might arise as a result of changes in existing regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be material. In the current enforcement
climate under existing legislation, management believes that there are no significant liabilities for environmental damage.
v Legal proceedings
During the reporting period, the Group was involved in a number of court proceedings (both as a plaintiff and a defendant) arising in the ordinary course of
business. In the opinion of management, there are no current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding which could have a material effect on the results of
operations or the financial position of the Group.
In October 2012 the Group filed a claim against SHAFT SINKERS (PTY) LTD and ROSSAL 126 (PTY) LIMITED (formerly known as SHAFT SINKERS (PTY) LTD.),
(“Shaft Sinkers”), the contractor involved in the construction of the mining shafts at the Gremyachinskoe potash deposit, seeking US$ 800 million compensation
for the direct costs and substantial lost profits arising from the delay in commencing potash production, due to the inability of that construction company to fulfil
its contractual obligations. Based upon the damages report provided by an independent expert the amount of the claim was increased up to the US$ 1.06 billion
which includes net wasted costs to the amount of US$ 248 million and lost profits in the amount of US$ 812 million. In December 2012 Shaft Sinkers filed a
counterclaim against the Group, seeking US$ 44 million without Russian VAT of 18% or US$ 52 million with VAT under the construction contract. In its
counterclaim Shaft Sinkers admits that it will give credit, in respect of any sums awarded to it, for a deduction of US$ 30.6 million in respect of advance
payments made by the Group with the result that the maximum net claim from Shaft Sinkers is US$ 14 million. Management believes that this counterclaim is
without merit. The above disputes are subject to arbitration as specified in the contract.
In March 2013 the Group filed a claim against International Mineral Resources B.V. (“IMR”) which, the Group believes, held a controlling interest in Shaft Sinkers,
claiming IMR is responsible for its subsidiary’s actions. In July 2013, the Dutch Court granted EuroChem definitive leave for levying the requested prejudgment
attachments against IMR’s Dutch assets, while fixing the amount for which the leave is granted, including interest and cost at Euro 886 million. The court held an
in-depth hearing on 21 January 2014 where it considered the arguments and witnesses of both sides. Following that hearing, the court rejected IMR’s request to
suspend the case and stated that IMR would not be permitted to submit any additional evidence. The court said it will issue the judgment on 16 April 2014. The
Group expects that this will be final.
In 2013 the Group was involved in legal proceedings against “Reverta AS”. In March 2013 as part of the proceeding, the court imposed injunctive relief restricting
the ability of LLC “Severneft-Urengoy”, a subsidiary of the Group, to dispose of certain property. The Group contested the restriction and in June 2013 the
injunction was dismissed. The case had no bearing on the Group’s ongoing activity.
vi Operating environment of the Group
The Group operates in the fertilizers industry primarily in the Russian Federation and European countries. The highly competitive nature of the market makes
prices of the key Group products relatively volatile.
Possible deteriorating economic conditions may have an impact on management’s cash flow forecasts and assessment of the impairment of financial and
non-financial assets.
Debtors of the Group may also become adversely affected by the financial and economic environment, which could in turn impact their ability to repay the
amounts owed or fulfil the obligations undertaken.
Management is unable to predict all developments which could have an impact on the industry and the wider economy and consequently what effect, if any, they
could have on the future financial position of the Group. Management believes all necessary measures are being taken to support the sustainability and growth of
the Group’s business in the current circumstances.

35 Financial and capital risk management
35.1 Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk
The Group’s revenues, expenses, capital expenditure, investments and borrowings are denominated in foreign currencies as well as in Russian Roubles. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk to the extent that its future cash inflows and outflows over a certain period of time are denominated in different currencies.
The objective of the Group’s foreign exchange risk management is to minimise the volatility of the Group’s cash flows arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. Management focuses on assessing the Group’s future cash flows in foreign currencies and managing the gaps arising between inflows and outflows.
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
Translation gains and losses arising from the revaluation of its monetary assets and liabilities are therefore not viewed as an indicator of the total impact of foreign
exchange fluctuations on its future cash flows since such gains or losses do not capture the impact on cash flows of foreign exchange-denominated revenues,
costs, future capital expenditure, investment and financing activities.
The table below summarises the Group’s financial assets and liabilities which are subject to foreign currency risk at the reporting date:
US$

Euro

Other foreign
currencies

23,489
415,660
1,063,749
1,502,898

2,411
–
–
2,411

6,940
–
–
6,940

Current financial assets:
Trade receivables
Interest receivable
Other receivables
Originated loans
RR/US$ non-deliverable forward contracts
Euro/US$ deliverable forwards
Fixed-term deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current financial assets
Total financial assets

3,925,100
6,312
28,873
98,188
326,983
4,560
92,506
6,669,430
11,151,952
12,654,850

189,068
–
11,167
–
–
–
7,650
443,404
651,289
653,700

2,252
–
–
–
–
–
–
40,494
42,746
49,686

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Bonds issued
RR/US$ cross currency swap (gross amount)
Deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Total non-current financial liabilities

48,099,965
24,546,900
5,206,682
470,898
78,324,445

1,372,876
–
–
–
1,372,876

–
–
–
–
–

Current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Trade payables
Interest payable
Deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Total current financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

5,844,522
646,184
142,853
155,130
6,788,689
85,113,134

161,515
2,630,921
12,026
–
2,804,462
4,177,338

–
40,951
–
–
40,951
40,951

31 December 2013

ASSETS
Non-current financial assets:
Restricted cash
Originated loans
RR/US$ non-deliverable forwards
Total non-current financial assets
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
US$

Euro

Other foreign
currencies

19,563
1,925,577
1,945,140

1,642
–
1,642

8,638
–
8,638

Current financial assets:
Trade receivables
Interest receivable
Other receivables
Euro/US$ deliverable forwards
Restricted cash
Fixed-term deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current financial assets
Total financial assets

3,006,975
2,340
67,741
63
382,758
2,277,953
3,669,041
9,406,871
11,352,011

125,725
–
–
–
–
32,073
1,729,736
1,887,534
1,889,176

332
–
–
–
–
–
34,026
34,358
42,996

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Bonds issued
RR/US$ cross currency swap (gross amount)
Deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Total non-current financial liabilities

39,318,403
22,779,525
4,831,801
557,639
67,487,368

1,372,618
–
–
–
1,372,618

–
–
–
–
–

Current liabilities:
Bank borrowings
Trade payables
Interest payable
Deferred payable related to mineral rights acquisition
Total current financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

6,350,925
893,805
109,325
144,387
7,498,442
74,985,810

675,671
451,090
7,473
–
1,134,234
2,506,852

–
40,951
–
–
40,951
40,951

31 December 2012

ASSETS
Non-current financial assets:
Restricted cash
RR/US$ non-deliverable forwards
Total non-current financial assets

At 31 December 2013, if the RR exchange rate against the US$ had been higher/lower by 1%, all other things being equal, after tax profit for the year
would have been RR 468,627 thousand (2012: RR 509,070 thousand) lower/higher, purely as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of US$-denominated assets and liabilities and with no regard to the impact of this appreciation/depreciation on sales.
The Group is disclosing the impact of such a 1% shift in the manner set out above to ease the calculation for the users of these consolidated financial statements
of the impact on the after tax profit resulting from subsequent future exchange rate changes.
During 2012 – 2013 the Group entered into foreign exchange non-deliverable forward contracts to partially offset the volatility of its cash flows from any potential
appreciation of the RR against the US$ (Note 21).
The Group’s sales for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 are presented in the table below:

2013
2012

US$

Euro

RR

Other foreign
currencies

Total

93,689,634
53%
91,090,291
55%

37,265,468
21%
29,225,652
17%

34,172,794
19%
36,204,486
22%

11,808,703
7%
9,957,300
6%

176,936,599
100%
166,477,729
100%

The Group believes that it has significant positive foreign exchange exposure towards the RR/US$ exchange rate given that the expected US$ denominated
revenues exceed the planned outflows in US$, mostly related to servicing of debt and capital expenditure.
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s principal interest rate risk arises
from long-term and short-term borrowings.
The Group is exposed to risk from floating interest rates due to the fact that it has RR 53,944,487 thousand of US$ denominated loans outstanding at
31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: RR 45,669,328 thousand) bearing floating interest rates varying from 1-month Libor +2.5% to 1-month Libor +3.2%,
3-month Libor +2.3% and 6-month Libor +2.5% (2012: from 1-month Libor +1.8% to 1-month Libor +3.5% and 6-month Libor +2.5%) and
RR 1,534,391 thousand of Euro denominated loans outstanding at 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: RR 2,048,289 thousand) bearing a floating
interest rate of 6-month Euribor +1.95% (31 December 2012: 1-month Euribor +1.75% and 6-month Euribor +1.95%). The Group’s profit after tax for the year
ended 31 December 2013 would have been RR 44,244 thousand, or 0.36% lower/higher (2012: RR 45,695 thousand, or 0.14% lower/higher) if the US$ Libor
interest rate was 10 bps higher/lower than its actual level during the year. The Group’s profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2013 would have been
RR 1,195 thousand, or 0.01% lower/higher (2012: RR 2,187 thousand or 0.01% lower/higher) if the Euribor interest rate was 10 bps higher/lower than its actual
level during the year. During 2013 and 2012 the Group did not hedge this exposure using financial instruments.
The Group does not have a formal policy of determining how much exposure the Group should have to fixed or variable rates for as long as the impact of changes
in interest rates on the Group’s cash flows remains immaterial. However, the Group performs a periodic analysis of the current interest rate environment and
depending on this analysis at the time of raising new debt management makes decisions on whether obtaining finance on a fixed-rate or a variable-rate basis
would be more beneficial to the Group over the expected period until maturity.
(iii) Financial investments risk
The Group can be exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments that can be held by the Group. As at 31 December 2013 the Group was not
exposed to equity securities price risk. At 31 December 2012 the Group held 2,005,434 shares, or 1.048% of the issued share capital of K+S Group with a fair
value of RR 2,823,653 thousand (Note 12) that were classified on the consolidated statement of financial position as available-for-sale. The fair value of the
shares was determined based on the closing price of Euro 35.00 as at the reporting date in the Xetra trading system. The Group’s other comprehensive income/
loss for 2012 would have been RR 80,676 thousand if the share price were one Euro higher/lower than its actual level as at the reporting date. During 2012 and
2013 the Group did not hedge this exposure using financial instruments.
In 2012 and 2013 the Group was principally exposed to market price risks in relation to the investment in the shares of K+S Group. Management reviewed
reports on the performance of K+S Group on a quarterly basis and provided recommendations to the Board of Directors on the advisability of further
divestments. In 2013 the Group sold all available-for-sale investments which were comprised solely of the shares of K+S Group (Note 12).
The Group does not enter into any transactions with financial instruments whose value is exposed to the value of any commodities traded on a public market.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties to transactions may default on their obligations, causing financial losses for the Group. Financial assets,
which potentially subject Group entities to credit risk, consist principally of trade receivables, cash and bank deposits. The objective of managing credit risk is to
prevent losses of liquid funds deposited with or invested in financial institutions or the loss in value of receivables.
The maximum exposure to credit risk resulting from financial assets is equal to the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets, which at 31 December 2013
amounted to RR 31,737,104 thousand (31 December 2012: RR 30,661,344 thousand). The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Cash and cash equivalents and fixed-term deposits. Cash and short-term deposits are mainly placed in major multinational and Russian banks with independent
credit ratings. No bank balances and term deposits are past due or impaired. See the analysis by credit quality of bank balances, term and fixed-term deposits in
Note 17.
Trade receivables. Trade receivables are subject to a policy of active credit risk management which focuses on an assessment of ongoing credit evaluation and
account monitoring procedures. The objective of the management of trade receivables is to sustain the growth and profitability of the Group by optimising asset
utilisation whilst maintaining risk at an acceptable level. The Group’s trade receivables risk increased significantly upon the acquisition of EuroChem Agro.
The Group holds voluntary credit insurance policies of some trade debtors relating to the distribution of fertilizers.
Trade receivables are to a large extent secured against a default risk by means of appropriate insurance coverage. Receivables management is geared towards
collecting all outstanding accounts punctually and in full and to avoid the loss of receivables.
The monitoring and controlling of credit risk is performed by the corporate treasury function of the Group. The credit policy requires the performance of credit
evaluations and ratings of customers. The credit quality of each new customer is analysed before the Group provides it with the standard terms of delivery and
payment. The Group gives preference to customers with an independent credit rating. New customers without an independent credit rating are evaluated on a
sample basis by an appointed rating agency or the score and credit limits for new customers are set by the appointed insurance company. The credit quality of
other customers is assessed taking into account their financial position, past experience and other factors.
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
Customers that do not meet the credit quality requirements are supplied on a prepayment basis only.
Although the collection of receivables could be influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no significant risk of loss to the Group beyond
the provision already recorded (Note 15).
The major part of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relates to wholesale distributors and steel producers for which the credit exposures and
related ratings are presented below:

Group of customers

Rating agency

Credit rating/other

Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
and steel producers
Wholesale customers

–
–
–

Credit Insurance
Letter of credit
Bank guarantee
2013: BB+
2012: BB+ to BBB
Good
2013: Minimum risk of failure
2012: Strong
2013:Low than average risk
2012: Good

Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Wholesale customers
Total

Standard & Poor’s
Credit Reform*
Dun & Bradstreet
Credibility Corp.*
Dun & Bradstreet
Credibility Corp.*
Dun & Bradstreet
Credibility Corp.*
LINCE – cerved group
ICAP
CreditInfo
AK&M

Average risk of failure
B 1.1-B 1.2
5 stars
A-very good
A

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

5,122,073
2,331,862
582,551

5,060,468
717,991
709,964

899,968
98,512

935,487
678,577

448,711

506,841

448,793

31,044

205,620
8,500
12,523
41,926
43,705
10,244,744

–
–
–
–
–
8,640,372

* Independent credit agencies used by the Group for evaluation of customers’ credit quality.

The rest of trade receivables is analysed by management who believes that the balance of the receivables is of good quality due to strong business relationships
with these customers. The credit risk of every individual customer is monitored.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk results from the Group’s potential inability to meet its financial liabilities, such as settlements of financial debt and payments to suppliers.
The Group’s approach to liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements at any point
in time.
In order to take advantage of financing opportunities in the international capital markets the Group maintains credit ratings from Fitch and Standard & Poor’s.
As at 31 December 2013 these institutions had affirmed the Group’s rating at BB with stable outlook (31 December 2012: BB with stable outlook).
Cash flow forecasting is performed throughout the Group. Group finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient
cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note 19) at all times so that the Group does
not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets.
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into the relevant maturity groupings based on the time remaining from the reporting date to the
contractual maturity date.

As at 31 December 2013
Trade payables
Gross-settled swap:**
– inflows
– outflows
Derivative financial liabilities
Bank borrowings*
Bonds issued*
Other non-current liabilities
As at 31 December 2012
Trade payables
Gross-settled swap:**
– inflows
– outflows
Bank borrowings*
Bonds issued*
Other non-current liabilities

Less than
1 year

Between
1 and 2 years

Between
2 and 5 years

More than
5 years

Total

8,539,042

–

–

–

8,539,042

(411,370)
202,685
12,963
11,739,153
2,009,743
1,787,094

(5,411,370)
5,409,366
–
22,627,936
11,904,529
1,716,694

–
–
–
47,940,098
27,062,957
1,788,161

–
–
–
1,548,574
681,084

(5,822,740)
5,612,051
12,963
83,855,761
40,977,229
5,973,033

8,386,544

–

–

–

8,386,544

(205,685)
94,046
9,940,551
2,367,458
1,582,857

(411,370)
188,091
19,819,970
2,022,651
1,605,907

(5,411,370)
5,019,892
43,705,432
36,915,177
3,098,959

–
–
2,024,864
–
684,378

(6,028,425)
5,302,029
75,490,817
41,305,286
6,972,101

* The table above shows undiscounted cash outflows for financial liabilities (including interest together with the borrowings) based on conditions existing as at 31 December 2013
and 31 December 2012, respectively.
** Payments in respect of the gross settled swap will be accompanied by related cash inflows.

The Group controls the minimum required level of cash balances available for short-term payments in accordance with the financial policy of the Group adopted
in alignment with economic realities on 29 April 2009 by the Board of Directors. Such cash balances are represented by current cash balances on bank
accounts, bank deposits, short-term investments, cash and other financial instruments, which may be classified as cash equivalents in accordance with IFRS.
The Group assesses liquidity on a weekly basis using a twelve-month cash flow rolling forecast.
35.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, to have available the necessary financial resources for investing activities and to maintain an optimal capital structure in order to reduce the
cost of capital. The Group considers total capital under management to be equity as shown in the IFRS consolidated statement of financial position. This is
considered more appropriate than alternatives, such as the value of equity shown in the Company’s statutory financial (accounting) reports.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. Additionally, the Group monitors the adequacy of its debt levels using the net debt to EBITDA ratio.
Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio is determined as net debt to net debt plus shareholders’ equity.
The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 is shown in the table below:

Total debt
Less: cash and cash equivalents and fixed-terms deposits
Net debt
Equity attributable to the holders of the Company
Net debt and shareholders’ equity
Gearing ratio, %

31 December
2013

31 December
2012

108,405,909
18,994,151
89,411,758
121,643,650
211,055,408
42%

98,964,249
19,521,185
79,443,064
106,608,934
186,051,998
43%
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35 Financial and capital risk management continued
Net Debt/EBITDA
The Group has established a policy that the ratio of the Group’s net debt to its 12 months’ rolling EBITDA should not exceed two and a half times in normal
market conditions. For this purpose net debt is determined as the sum of short-term borrowings, long-term borrowings and bonds balance outstanding, less cash
and cash equivalents.
The ratio of net debt to EBITDA as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 is shown in the table below:
EBITDA
EBITDA generated by fertilizer assets in Antwerp from 1 January 2012 to the date of acquisition
EBITDA of EuroChem Agro from 1 January 2012 to the date of acquisition
Share of net profit from OJSC Murmansk Commercial Seaport from 1 January 2013
to the date of acquisition
EBITDA including EBITDA of Eurochem Antwerpen NV, EuroChem Agro
and share of net profit in associates before acquisition
Net debt
Net debt/EBITDA

Note

2013

2012

7

42,960,681
–
–

49,167,533
677,091
1,934,777

189,653

–

43,150,334
89,411,758
2.07

51,779,401
79,443,064
1.53

For the purpose of this calculation EBITDA includes EBITDA of acquired subsidiaries and share of net profit in acquired associates for the period from 1 January
to the date of acquisition.
Since EBITDA is not a standard IFRS measure, EuroChem Group’s definition of EBITDA may differ from that of other companies.

36 Fair value of financial instruments
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or
liquidation, and is best evidenced by an active quoted market price.
The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by the Group using available market information, where it exists, and appropriate
valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. Management has used all
available market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments.
Financial instruments carried at fair value. Available-for-sale investments are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value.
Fair values of available-for-sale investments were determined based on quoted market prices and were included in level 1. Fair values of derivatives financial
assets and liabilities were determined based on derived quoted market prices and were included in level 2.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost which approximates their current fair value.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost. The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. The estimated fair value of fixed interest
rate instruments is based on estimated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk
and remaining maturity. The discount rates used depend on the credit risk of the counterparty. The carrying amounts of trade receivables and originated loans
approximate their fair values. Their fair values are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Liabilities carried at amortised cost. The fair value is based on quoted market prices, if available. The estimated fair values of fixed interest rate instruments with
a stated maturity, for which quoted market prices were not available, were estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at current interest rates for new
instruments with similar credit risks and remaining maturities. The fair value of liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period (“demandable liabilities”)
is estimated as the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. The fair value of borrowings and
issued bonds at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 are disclosed in Notes 19 and 20. The fair value of borrowings and issued bonds were included
in level 2 and 1, respectively.

37 Subsequent events
The Group signed a joint agreement with H.K. Migao Industry Limited in November 2013 to set up a company which will own the plant manufacturing
potassium nitrate and fertilizers in China. This company, which is in the process of legal incorporation, will be named “EuroChem – Migao Limited” and located
in Hong Kong.
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MAIN PRODUCTION SUBSIDIARIES

Name

Address

Kovdorskiy Mining-and-Processing
Integrated Works, OJSC
(Kovdorskiy GOK, OJSC)

5 Sukhachyova St.
Kovdor
Murmansk Region
Russia 184140
1 Nizyaeva St
Nevinnomyssk-7
Stavropolsky Krai
Russia 357107
10 Svyazi St.
Novomoskovsk
Tula Region
Russia 301660
Bleorechensk
Krasnodar Krai
Russia 352636
Phosphorit Industrial Zone
Kingisepp District
Leningrad Region
Russia 188452
50 Yuodkishke St.
Kadainiai
Lithuania LT-5030
7 Lenina St.
Kotelnikovo
Volgograd Region
Russia 404350
138, Svobody St.
Usolye
Usolskiy district
Perm Region
Russia 618460
Scheldelaan 600 B-2040
Antwerpen 4
Belgium

Nevinnomysskiy Azot, OJSC

Novomoskovskiy Azot, OJSC

EuroChem – Belorechenskiy Minudobrenia, LLC
(EuroChem-BMU, LLC)
Phosphorit Industrial Group, LLC

Lifosa AB

EuroChem-VolgaKaliy, LLC

EuroChem-Usolskiy potash complex

EuroChem Antwerpen NV

A list of principal subsidiaries and associates as at 31 December 2013 is available on page 94.
A detailed legal structure can be found at www.eurochem.ru/who-we-are/quick-read/ownership
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(RUB m)

Q4 2103

Q3 2013

Q2 2013

Q1 2013

Q4 2012

Q3 2012

Revenues
Nitrogen (including sales to other segments)
Phosphates (including sales to other segments)
Other (including sales to other segments)
Reconciliation

43,864
26,205
14,064
14,664
(11,068)

41,043
21,828
14,579
14,857
(10,221)

45,378
25,617
14,457
15,234
(9,929)

46,651
26,415
15,180
14,202
(9,145)

41,699
26,363
11,609
14,128
(10,401)

47,102
25,428
14,917
17,825
(11,068)

Cost of sales
Including gas and energy
Including other materials and components
Including labour costs
Including changes in work in progress and finished goods

(28,778)
(6,580)
(10,755)
(2,790)
(1,779)

(26,222)
(5,921)
(14,586)
(2,575)
2,242

(28,414)
(5,020)
(14,690)
(2,825)
(776)

(29,383)
(5,780)
(14,776)
(2,741)
(1,306)

(25,948)
(5,916)
(14,904)
(2,729)
2,841

(29,558)
(5,607)
(16,922)
(2,290)
(166)

Gross profit
Gross profit margin, %

15,086
34%

14,821
36%

16,964
37%

17,268
37%

15,750
38%

17,544
37%

Distribution costs
G&A expenses
Other operating income/expense, net
Operating profit
Operating profit margin, %
Write-off of portion of assets at the Gremyachinskoe
potash deposit
Financial foreign exchange gains/(losses)
Financial income and expense, net
Pre-tax profit
Taxation
Net profit after tax
Net profit margin, %

(6,919)
(1,931)
(138)
6,098
14%

(6,349)
(1,686)
(833)
5,953
15%

(6,088)
(1,626)
600
9,850
22%

(5,905)
(1,466)
(55)
9,842
21%

(6,204)
(1,755)
(8)
7,784
19%

(6,237)
(1,317)
(184)
9,806
21%

(1,135)
(1,226)
3,737
(1,123)
2,613
6%

891
(2,015)
4,830
(1,839)
2,990
7%

(3,972)
(2,178)
3,701
(1,868)
1,833
4%

(1,676)
(1,484)
6,682
(1,863)
4,819
10%

(75)
1,215
411
9,334
(1,359)
7,976
19%

(3,116)
3,449
463
10,107
(2,200)
7,906
17%

Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation
EBITDA
EBITDA margin, %

8,664
9,248
21%

8,342
8,661
21%

12,318
12,699
28%

12,296
12,352
26%

10,210
10,288
25%

12,050
11,663
25%

Dividends declared in the period
Total equity
Capital expenditure on PP&E and intangible assets
Net debt (borrowings less cash)
Non-current assets
Net Working capital
Annualised after-tax cash return on capital employed
Finished goods, days
Trade accounts receivable, days
Accounts payable, days

121,813
32,433
89,412
199,614
23,126
15%
33
25
28

107,933
8,300
96,881
192,072
24,202
13%
41
23
28

107,062
7,230
93,481
186,263
25,906
20%
33
27
27

103,252
7,354
87,942
178,739
24,877
21%
37
26
24

106,797
9,216
79,443
174,166
23,880
18%
46
23
31

108,156
6,585
67,966
162,921
21,114
21%
60
27
72

Gross cash flow
Other cash from operations
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Free cash flow
Cash flows from financing activities
Effect of exchange rates
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents

8,260
1,760
10,021
(10,553)
(532)
2,155
236
1,860

7,495
269
7,763
(9,219)
(1,455)
(1,081)
24
(2,513)

10,152
(576)
9,576
(7,803)
1,773
(1,309)
742
1,205

9,717
(915)
8,803
(4,616)
4,186
(3,716)
86
556

8,995
(3,801)
5,194
(8,137)
(2,943)
(436)
(39)
(3,418)

10,004
1,591
11,595
(11,536)
60
1,224
(815)
468

66
489
483
324
363
57
302
75
142
7

52
434
373
223
304
11
199
59
132
4

29
588
427
268
362
26
203
70
77
7

14
443
435
271
396
31
238
102
124
7

75
563
468
238
295
45
254

66
466
486
205
368
30
221

106

105

451

423

445

523

313

464

13
89
31

36
75
31

22
61
23

45
82
54

13
69
41

64
66
43

Sales volumes, including sales to other segments
(thousand tonnes)
Nitrogen
Ammonia
Urea
AN
UAN
Complex fertilizers
NP
CAN
ANF
Organic synthesis products
Melamine
Phosphates
MAP, DAP
Complex fertilizers
NP
Feed phosphates
Apatite
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Q2 2012

Q1 2012

Q4 2011

Q3 2011

Q2 2011

Q1 2011

2013

2012

2011

41,896
23,609
16,483
9,937
(8,133)

35,781
17,068
17,758
8,269
(7,313)

33,028
16,972
14,871
8,765
(7,580)

36,185
16,602
18,039
8,170
(6,626)

30,866
14,343
15,678
7,520
(6,675)

31,219
15,191
15,336
7,881
(7,189)

176,937
100,064
58,280
58,956
(40,364)

166,478
92,468
60,766
50,158
(36,915)

131,298
63,108
63,925
32,336
(28,071)

(22,741)
(5,037)
(10,990)
(2,474)
95

(19,521)
(5,085)
(7,074)
(2,348)
(1,398)

(16,096)
(5,211)
(7,873)
(2,283)
2,171

(16,854)
(4,643)
(7,475)
(1,807)
(86)

(15,335)
(5,000)
(6,224)
(2,023)
534

(15,356)
(5,459)
(5,409)
(1,950)
230

(112,797)
(23,300)
(54,807)
(10,931)
(1,618)

(97,768)
(21,646)
(49,889)
(9,842)
1,372

(63,641)
(20,313)
(26,982)
(8,064)
2,850

19,155
46%

16,261
45%

16,932
51%

19,331
53%

15,531
50%

15,863
51%

64,140
36%

68,710
41%

67,657
52%

(5,575)
(1,341)
1,443
13,682
33%

(5,274)
(1,186)
(882)
8,919
25%

(5,161)
(1,202)
264
10,833
33%

(5,924)
(1,245)
276
12,437
34%

(4,240)
(1,034)
(135)
10,122
33%

(3,627)
(1,172)
(596)
10,468
34%

(25,261)
(6,709)
(425)
31,743
18%

(23,291)
(5,599)
371
40,191
24%

(18,952)
(4,653)
(191)
43,860
33%

53
(5,779)
(2,797)
5,107
(2,157)
2,950
7%

(549)
5,430
1,401
15,750
(2,013)
13,737
38%

(421)
(505)
9,907
(2,148)
7,758
23%

(5,970)
(1,589)
4,878
(1,488)
3,390
9%

407
1,044
11,573
(2,038)
9,535
31%

2,180
1,094
13,742
(2,394)
11,348
36%

(5,892)
(6,902)
18,949
(6,694)
12,256
7%

(3,686)
4,315
(522)
40,298
(7,729)
32,569
20%

(3,804)
44
40,100
(8,069)
32,031
24%

15,646
15,890
38%

10,373
11,326
32%

12,051
12,590
38%

13,553
13,640
38%

11,217
11,871
38%

11,522
11,555
37%

41,620
42,961
24%

48,279
49,168
30%

48,344
49,656
38%

101,685
6,399
69,088
157,698
24,067
30%
32
28
23

96,902
5,956
65,081
152,362
20,448
22%
27
12
18

90,371
7,336
67,242
140,504
17,044
27%
37
10
19

80,686
6,616
54,899
123,462
12,882
36%
27
10
20

101,176
6,000
33,950
123,955
14,596
28%
29
15
16

103,251
3,854
25,773
120,227
11,436
28%
27
12
17

121,813
32,433
89,412
199,614
23,126
16%
33
25
28

106,797
28,157
79,443
174,166
23,880
21%
46
23
31

90,371
23,805
67,242
140,504
17,044
26%
37
10
19

13,290
(2,204)
11,086
(11,306)
(221)
2,286
885
2,951

8,819
2,182
11,001
13,285
24,286
(16,948)
(402)
6,936

9,836
(1,688)
8,148
(38,516)
(30,368)
26,949
199
(3,221)

12,115
238
12,353
(9,619)
2,734
(174)
628
3,188

9,455
(3,613)
5,842
(2,656)
3,185
(6,885)
(13)
(3,713)

10,362
(674)
9,688
(2,912)
6,777
(3,049)
(371)
3,356

35,624
538
36,163
(32,191)
3,972
(3,952)
1,088
1,108

41,108
(2,232)
38,876
(17,695)
21,182
(13,874)
(371)
6,937

41,768
(5,737)
36,031
(53,703)
(17,672)
16,840
442
(390)

40
542
508
159
282
9
205

25
534
477
164
129

44
462
473
163
76

67
423
421
177
110

70
517
380
196
119

61
518
458
183
96

29

33

50

78

205
2,105
1,939
766
1,074
85
759

242
1,920
1,732
719
401

79

117

118

128

112

87

115

161
1,955
1,717
1,086
1,425
125
943
307
475
25

446

442

460

591

368

518

442

539

1,842

1,829

1,866

67
80
35

25
75
48

38
42
41

26
58
43

28
84
31

24
56
51

117
307
140

170
290
167

115
240
166

191
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KEY FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL DATA CONTINUED

Sales volumes, including sales to other segments
(thousand tonnes)
Mineral raw materials
Iron ore
Baddeleyite
Natural gas (mcm), including sales to own Nitrogen plants
Gas condensate
Revenue by region, including sales to other segments
(RUBm)
Nitrogen
Russia
CIS (ex Russia)
Asia
Europe
Latin America
North America
Africa
Australasia
Total sales

Q4 2103

Q3 2013

Q2 2013

Q1 2013

Q4 2012

Q3 2012

1,586
2

1,570
2

1,482
2

1,213
2

1,368
2

1,132
2

222
39

219
35

201
36

188
31

174
30

158
27

7,594
72
4,192
8,605
1,373
3,542
640
186
26,205

4,281
1,347
2,679
6,545
3,164
2,680
564
569
21,828

4,524
2,326
4,003
6,424
3,875
2,783
1,022
660
25,617

6,326
1,748
2,644
9,737
1,445
3,630
738
147
26,415

4,718
1,958
2,587
8,625
2,386
4,912
343
833
26,363

4,035
820
3,178
7,732
4,127
4,706
711
118
25,428

Phosphates
Russia
CIS (ex. Russia)
Asia
Europe
Latin America
North America
Africa
Australasia
Total sales

2,204
416
4,479
4,820
1,138
884
123

3,162
1,345
5,266
2,636
1,128
579
463

2,401
1,116
4,278
3,914
1,723
477
546

2,742
1,200
3,174
5,536
872
1,491
167

3,181
684
3,312
3,584
522
275
51

4,560
1,422
2,871
3,169
2,017
452
426

14,064

14,579

14,457

15,180

11,609

14,917

Revenue by product, including sales to other segments
(RUBm)
Nitrogen
Urea
Ammonium Nitrate
UAN
Complex
Ammonia
CAN
ANF
NP
Melamine
Others
Acetic Acid
Methanol
Hydrocarbons
Total sales

4,940
4,154
2,514
5,169
818
2,544
704
863
315
1,505
531
1,514
633
26,205

4,645
3,249
1,856
4,765
717
1,854
620
196
212
1,433
460
1,309
511
21,828

6,865
3,969
2,410
5,707
436
1,988
745
434
340
1,250
303
698
468
25,617

5,562
4,187
2,671
6,146
235
2,388
1,143
501
312
1,290
576
984
422
26,415

7,292
4,210
2,363
4,798
1,275
2,583

6,573
4,464
1,939
5,897
1,058
2,238

790
58
1,189
417
863
524
26,363

515
1,136
276
931
401
25,428

Phosphates
MAP, DAP
Iron ore
Feed phosphates group
Apatite
Baddeleyite
NP
Complex fertilizers
Others
Total sales

5,747
5,890
1,388
227
208
145

6,626
5,552
1,257
227
203
434

7,044
5,355
973
182
201
258

8,115
4,259
1,246
427
213
521

5,292
3,970
1,133
339
249
164

8,391
3,543
1,057
358
205
895

459
14,064

281
14,579

445
14,457

399
15,180

463
11,609

467
14,917

Permanent employees
Production
Service
Logistics
Sales, admin and other

22,310
9,930
8,208
1,868
2,303

22,296
9,944
8,215
1,850
2,287

22,232
9,867
8,252
1,841
2,272

22,182
10,010
8,259
1,694
2,219

22,073
10,090
8,299
1,575
2,109

22,041
10,115
8,275
1,580
2,071

33
33

33
32

32
33

30
31

31
30

32
31

Average RUB/US$ exchange rate for the period
End of period RUB/US$ exchange rate
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GOVERNANCE

Q2 2012

Q1 2012

Q4 2011

Q3 2011

Q2 2011

Q1 2011

2013

2012

2011

1,398
3

1,388
2

1,270
3

1,449
4

1,434
4

1,315
2

5,851
7

5,287
8

5,468
12

166
28

156
26

830
141

654
112

4,955
1,435
2,112
4,695
6,178
2,688
732
815
23,609

6,293
1,620
594
3,152
1,501
3,179
467
263
17,068

4,294
1,257
5,510
2,119
658
2,104
515
515
16,972

2,911
686
1,990
1,980
6,406
2,146
361
123
16,602

3,887
1,058
1,718
1,780
3,731
1,205
685
280
14,343

4,983
1,916
360
2,815
3,181
1,519
291
125
15,191

22,725
5,494
13,518
31,310
9,856
12,635
2,965
1,562
100,064

20,001
5,834
8,470
24,204
14,192
15,485
2,253
2,029
92,468

16,075
4,918
9,578
8,694
13,975
6,974
1,852
1,043
63,108

3,425
1,326
5,555
3,557
2,048
355
217

3,290
767
4,812
5,270
2,499
818
301

3,704
2,423
7,143
3,729
383
526
132

4,111
1,891
5,040
2,187
1,581
721
146

3,195
2,515
2,405
3,645
1,421
1,708
448

10,509
4,077
17,197
16,906
4,860
3,431
1,298

14,456
4,199
16,550
15,580
7,086
1,900
995

16,483

17,758

3,181
1,493
5,723
1,844
569
728
1,330
5
14,871

18,039

15,678

15,336

58,280

60,766

14,191
8,322
20,310
11,406
3,953
3,683
2,057
5
63,925

8,258
4,558
1,436
3,788
509
1,670

6,604
3,670
1,320
1,578
308
621

6,809
3,859
1,668
1,014
715
257

5,895
3,879
1,766
1,369
878
257

5,196
2,955
1,594
1,309
835
397

5,817
3,261
1,490
993
652
622

28,726
16,903
7,058
16,060
3,151
7,113

23,718
13,953
6,518
4,685
3,079
1,533

1,418
58
4,938
1,595
3,582
1,866
92,468

4,430
1,993
3,199
63,108
32,831
21,953
3,994
1,141
1,027
1,423
3
1,553
63,925

1,231
426
994

1,175
587
796

1,002
426
630

1,022
555
779

16,972

16,602

14,343

15,191

22,012
15,559
9,452
21,787
2,207
8,774
3,212
1,994
1,180
5,479
1,870
4,505
2,035
100,064

9,228
6,497
982
311
329
296
1
395
18,039

7,418
5,778
1,280
211
315
317

9,054
4,310
804
303
146
252

27,532
21,056
4,864
1,062
825
1,358

531
17,758

7,130
5,368
927
317
237
559
2
331
14,871

358
15,678

468
15,336

1,583
58,280

31,753
17,837
4,627
1,326
1,000
2,315
1
1,908
60,766

21,872
10,108
8,286
1,473
2,005

21,596
10,011
8,226
1,379
1,980

20,801
9,670
7,926
1,300
1,905

20,653
9,626
7,736
1,272
2,019

20,487
9,624
7,613
1,256
1,994

20,349
9,606
7,536
1,239
1,968

22,310
9,930
8,208
1,868
2,303

22,073
10,090
8,299
1,575
2,109

20,801
9,670
7,926
1,300
1,905

31
33

30
29

31
32

29
32

28
28

29
28

32
33

31
30

29
32

114
1,415
529
860
472
23,609

1,197
373
927
469
17,068

7,933
5,282
1,262
274
342
942
1
447
16,483

10,137
5,041
1,175
356
204
313
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Forward-looking statements
This annual report has been prepared by EuroChem MCC. OJSC (“EuroChem” or the
“Company”) for informational purposes, and may include forward-looking statements
or projections. These forward-looking statements or projections include matters that are
not historical facts or statements and reflect the Company’s intentions, beliefs or current
expectations concerning, among other things, the Company’s results of operations, financial
condition, liquidity, performance, prospects, growth, strategies, and the industry in which
the Company operates. By their nature, forwarding-looking statements and projections
involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances
that may or may not occur in the future. The Company cautions you that forward-looking
statements and projections are not guarantees of future performance and that the actual
results of operations, financial condition and liquidity of the Company and the development
of the industry in which the Company operates may differ materially from those made in
or suggested by the forward-looking statements or projections contained in this publication.
Factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those contained in
forward-looking statements or projections in this publication may include, among other things,
general economic conditions in the markets in which the Company operates, the competitive
environment in, and risks associated with operating in, such markets, market change in the
fertilizer and related industries, as well as many other risks affecting the Company and its
operations. In addition, even if the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and
liquidity and the development of the industry in which the Company operates are consistent
with the forward-looking statements or projections contained in this publication, those results
or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in future periods. The
Company does not undertake any obligation to review or confirm expectations or estimates
or to update any forward-looking statements or projections to reflect events that occur or
circumstances that arise after the date of this publication.
Statements regarding competitive position
Statements referring to EuroChem’s competitive position are based on the Company’s
belief and, in some cases, rely on a range of sources, including investment analysts’
reports, independent market studies and EuroChem’s internal assessments of market
share based on publicly available information about the financial results and performance
of market participants.

If you have finished reading this Report and no longer wish to retain it, please pass it on to other interested
readers, return it to EuroChem or dispose of it in your recycled paper waste. Thank you.
The Annual Report is available on www.eurochem.ru
Designed and produced by Instinctif Partners www.instinctif.com
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